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DNO participates in  
17 licenses in Yemen 
(five), the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq (three), 
Oman (four), Ras Al 
Khaimah (three) and 
Tunisia (two).

This is DNO: Following the merger with RAK Petroleum’s MENA subsidiaries, we have become a new and larger company. 

649 OslO 17
DNO is present in 
eight countries on 
three continents 
and has a total 
staff of 649 people 
with 16 different 
nationalities.

DNO has its corporate head
quarters in Oslo, Norway, and has 
international offices in london, 
sana’a (Yemen), Dubai (UAE), 
Erbil (Kurdistan region of  Iraq), 
Muscat (Oman), Ras Al Khaimah 
(UAE) and Tunis (Tunisia).
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DNO is a Norwegian publicly-listed company whose primary business is oil and 
gas exploration and production (E&P) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) 
region. The company holds licenses in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, Yemen, 
Oman, Ras Al Khaimah (UAE) and Tunisia.

Starting with North Sea operations in 1971, DNO today has the strength of 40 
years experience of petroleum operations. 

DNO entered the MENA region commencing with Yemen in 1998 and by 2011 op-
erated 50 producing wells in that country, achieving an average working interest 
production of approximately 5,000 barrels of oil per day (bopd). Actively involved 
in exploration and production activities in Kurdistan since 2004, DNO recorded its 
highest working interest production of 51,315 bopd in 2011. Significant volumes 
extracted from the Tawke oilfield make Kurdistan DNO’s primary E&P asset.

DNO gained access to two new countries and substantially enlarged its MENA 
portfolio through merging with RAK Petroleum’s MENA operating subsidiaries in 
January 2012. Among the acquired E&P assets are three blocks in Ras Al Khaimah 
four in Oman. In addition, the Tunisia Hammamet offshore license was added 
to the portfolio, complementing DNO’s Fkirine license which is located onshore 
Tunisia.

Highlights, history and key figures
DNO in short

DNO in short
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NOK million 2011 2010
  
Key financials
EBITdA 1 418.6 473.7
netback 1 321.6 379.6
Acquisition and development cost 421.6 151.6
Exploration cost expensed 103.1 56.2
  
Reserves and production
Gross production (mboe) 64 185 28 994
Working interest production per day (bopd) 39 966 17 381
Working interest reserves and resources (mboe) 393.5 211.2
  
Key performance indicators
Lifting cost (USd/bbl) 5.01 8.05
dd&A (USd/bbl) 34.69 12.96
netback (USd/bbl) 16.35 10.13

 
NOK million 2011 2010

statement of comprehensive income
Sales 2 070.2 1 251.8
Gross profit 904.5 633.1
Profit/-loss from operating activities 657.7 156.8
net profit/-loss 653.2 -282.9

statement of financial position
non-current assets 3 000.7 3 503.5
Current assets 2 035.8 1 889.2
Total assets 5 036.5 5 392.7
Equity 2 157.7 2 109.1
non-current liabilities 1 634.9 2 024.2
Current liabilities 1 243.9 1 259.4
Equity and liabilities 5 036.5 5 392.7

Cash flow
net cash from operating activities 879.2 524.9
net cash from/-used in operating activities 134.2 -178.3
net cash from/-used in financing activities 776.3 714.3
Net increase/decrease in cash 237.1 1 061.1
Cash at beginning of the period 1 384.7 303.4
Exchange gain/-losses on cash 23.0 20.2
Cash at end of the period 1 644.8 1 384.7

Key figuresCondensed tables



January: The Kurdistan Region-
al Government (KRG) and Iraqi 
federal authorities agree to start 
crude oil exports from Kurdistan. 
The announcement came from 
Kurdistan’s Prime Minister Barham 
Salih via Twitter: “Productive 
meeting w PM Maliki in Baghdad. 
Agreed to resume oil exports from 
Kurdistan by Feb 1st, resolve out-
standing issues on oil budget.”

February: Export produc-
tion from Kurdistan’s Tawke field 
started with test  volumes of 

10,000 bopd. Technical prepa-
rations for further increase to 
50 000 bopd progressed. RAK 
Petroleum PCL’s Chairman and 
CEo, Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, 
was elected member of the board 
of directors in an extraordinary 
general meeting.

March: dno boosted its finan-
cial platform through a USd 240 
million senior unsecured bond 
issue. Expats in Sana’a, Yemen, 
relocated to dubai as civil unrest 
caused safety concerns. Block 47 

in Yemen declared Commercial 
discovery for the Yaalen field. 

April: dno released its 2010 
annual report, which later in Sep-
tember won gold in the category 
‘Best Idea and design’ when the 
Farmandspris for best annual 
report was awarded. 

May: KRG confirmed first oil ex-
port payment to contractors. dno 
achieved a record high working 
interest production of 51,315 bopd. 
Gross production at the dno 

operated facilities in Kurdistan and 
Yemen reached 85,000 bopd.

June: dno confirmed the first 
payment of USd 103.7 million 
for February and March crude 
oil exports from Kurdistan. Bijan 
Mossavar-Rahmani was elected 
new chairman of the board at the 
annual general meeting. oslo Stock 
Exchange (oSE) readmitted dno 
share in the oBX index (the 25 
most traded shares on the oSE).

July: dno and RAK Petroleum 

DNO highlights 2011

Highlights and history
DNO in short
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1971 1974 1984dno was the first 
private norwegian oil 

company to be established. Petroleum 
exploration and production com-
menced with activities focused in 
the British and dutch sectors of the 
north Sea.

dno’s first rev-
enue generated 

from the UK Heather field. Mini 
refineries were built in the US 
and drilling activities expanded 
in collaboration with odfjell 
Group.

dno’s fast track and low cost 
development business model is 

shifts to the norwegian Continental Shelf (nCS). 
Smart exploration approach consolidated as oil 
prices skyrocket from USd 12 to over USd 30. 
dno is one of four companies to be awarded 
licenses on the nCS.

6 // dno 2011



announced a proposed merger of 
RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating 
subsidiaries into dno. Based on in-
depth evaluations and assessment 
of new reservoir data, Tawke field 
ultimate P50 recoverable reserves 
were upgraded from 306 to 636 
million barrels.

August: dno sold shares in the 
norwegian oil company, det norske 
oljeselskap for noK 521 million, posting 
an accounting gain of noK 255 million. 
dno presented strong Q2 opera-
tional results to the financial market.

september: The merger of dno 
and RAK Petroleum’s MEnA assets 
was approved by both companies 
boards of directors. RAK Petro-
leum’s MEnA assets were valued at 
USd 250 million and dno consid-
eration shares were priced at  
noK 9.50 per share. 

October: dno launched an 
open Market Partial tender offer 
and repurchased 42,500,000 of its 
own shares at noK 7.50 per share. 

November: 76.5 percent of dno 

shareholders voted in favor of the 
merger of dno and RAK Petroleum’s 
MEnA assets. Two days later, RAK 
Petroleum shareholders voted mas-
sively in favor of the alliance.

December: Several high impact 
wells ongoing or under preparations 
in Kurdistan. dno was preparing 
for integration between the dno 
and RAK Petroleum organizations 
and operations. new corporate 
management position of HR director 
introduced to increase focus on 
organizational development. 

1995 1998new owners acquire a 30 
percent share in dno and 

establishes a new path for the company. 
new management and board are appointed 
and future strategy focused on development 
of small fields and tail-end production.

onshore operations com-
mence in Yemen. dno 

acquires full ownership and operation 
of Heather field in the UK. The company 
strenghtens its in-house core competence 
in subsurface, field development and drilling 
technology.
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Strategies and market
DNO in short

DNO’s overriding objective is 
to deliver superior shareholder re-
turns while balancing the interests 
of all our stakeholders.

over a 40-year history as an oil 
and gas player, we have estab-
lished a track record of value 
creation through smart explora-
tion, fast track development of 
discoveries and low cost produc-
tion. Today, the investment focus 
geographically is the Middle East 
and north Africa where dno has 
established a large, diversified and 
growing portfolio of assets, both 
onshore and offshore. 

The company’s growth comes 
through a mix of high risk, high 
impact frontier exploration cou-
pled with development of low risk, 
cash generating assets in areas 
with established production and 
infrastructure. We actively seek 

strategic mergers and acquisitions 
and we restructure and high grade 
our assets when appropriate.

We accept that we are in a risk 
business – geological, operational 
and political – and we spend 
each day trying to manage and 
mitigate the attendant challenges. 
Implementing best industry 
practice across our activities is 
key. We prefer to take the lead in 
any joint venture and operate 14 
of our 17 licenses in five countries. 
We pay great attention to safety 
of people, security of facilities 
and sanctity of the environment. 
We believe in good corporate gov-
ernance and conduct ourselves 
with transparency and integrity. 
Fiscal responsibility and a sound 
financial footing enable us to meet 
our operational commitments and 
maintain our forward momentum.   

We recognize that the company’s 
stakeholders include, in addition 
to nearly 15,000 shareholders, our 
host governments, local communi-
ties, employees, industry partners, 
suppliers, customers and stock 
exchange regulators. We strive to 
treat all fairly and with respect, and 
we expect the same in return.   

dno maintains a no-blame 
culture but believes in delegating 
authority and holding employees  
accountable for both individual 
and corporate performance. We 
are a flat organization: lean, entre-
preneurial and highly motivated. 

We were born a norwegian 
company and are proud of our 
roots, which remain strong. But we 
are equally proud of our evolution 
into a very international company 
in terms of people, outlook, oil and 
gas assets and investor base.

strategies
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2006 2007Growth in the Middle East was assured 
with a significant oil discovery in the 

Kurdistan region of Iraq’s Tawke field, and a reputation 
for challenging frontier development was well estab-
lished. An office was opened in dubai to manage re-
gional operations. discovery at the Goliat field in norway 
added significantly to the company’s resource base.

Integration agreement with 
Pertra ASA led to creation 

of a new oil company, det norske oljeselskap 
ASA. dno changed name to dno International 
ASA and drilled a first well as operator on the 
nCS. Test production commenced from the 
Tawke field.

8 // dno 2011

2003 dno divested its assets in 
the UK and certain norwe-

gian properties through a sale and purchase 
agreement with Lundin Petroleum. In 2005, 
production from Yemen’s nabrajah field starts. 
dno makes two dividend cash payments in 
cash and treasury shares.



Market/Competitors
DNO has its main activities in the Middle East and currently holds oil and gas assets in Yemen and the Kurdistan  
region of iraq, in addition to Oman, UAE and Tunisia. For 2011, DNO’s finding and development costs were 0.5 UsD/bbl,  
and the reserve replacement ratio was 1,200 percent.

2010 2011dno delivered Tawke crude oil to the local 
market awaiting agreement on export 

deliveries. operating revenues increased by 44 percent. 
Cash position increased through tight capital discipline, 
solid operational performance and divestment of treasury 
shares. The first phase of the field development plan was 
approved for the Yaalen discovery in Yemen.

The year featured a step change in financial 
performance and major asset inroads were made 

into the MEnA region. WI production reached 39,966 bopd, 
P50 recoverable reserves at the Tawke field doubled and financial 
performance reached a record high. The merger with RAK 
Petroleum’s MEnA assets was fully approved and the company 
positioned itself for London listing.

Source: IHS Herold, 2010 Global Upstream Performance Review, Middle East and Africa
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IRAQ

ERBIL
ERBILCEYHAN

OMAN

YEMEN

TUNISI
A

RAS AL KHAIMAH
DUBAI

MUSCAT

SANA’A

TUNIS

NORWAY

UK
LONDON

OSLO
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Production and exploration
DNO in short

Norway
In the headquarters in oslo you find the 
 corporate functions, the subsurface teams 
and the administration. dno has no opera-
tions in norway, but the company is listed on 
the oslo Stock Exchange. 

Kurdistan region of iraq
In June of 2004, dno entered into produc-
tion sharing contracts (PSCs) with the KRG. 
As one of the first international oil companies 
to enter this highly prospective region, dno 
holds a pioneering position in developing 
the local oil industry. dno is operator of 
three PSCs: Tawke, dohuk and Erbil. dno has 
completed a fast-track field development of 
the Tawke field. The capacity at Tawke is 70 
000 bopd and the company is working to 
increase capacity to 100 000 bopd in 2012. 
dno’s operations in Kurdistan are managed 
from its office in Erbil.

Key figures:
Sale of oil 2011 noK 1 432.5 million
netback 2011 noK 1 227 million
Production 2011 (WI) 34 966 bopd
Lifting cost 2011  USd/bbl 2.11

Yemen
DNO entered Yemen in 1998 and was approved 
as operator later that year. The company 
quickly expanded activities through successful 
exploration and fast-track developments. dno 
has further expanded its operations in Yemen 
and is currently holding interests in five assets, 
all located in the prolific Sayun-Masila Basin. 
dno has an office in Sana’a to run operations.

Key figures: 
Sale of oil 2011 noK 637.7 million
netback 2011 noK 287 million
Production 2011 (WI)  4 999 bopd
Lifting cost 2011  USd/bbl 24.95

Oman
DNO holds licenses and is the operator of the 
offshore Block 8 and the onshore blocks 30, 
31 and 47. on Block 8 dno is producing oil 
and gas from two platforms. The other three 
blocks are onshore oman with exploration 
and field development plans under evaluation. 
dno staffs an office in the capital, Muscat.

Ras Al Khaimah
DNO holds the offshore RAK B and RAK 
Saleh and one onshore license. The offshore 

licenses are being prepared for redevelop-
ment and after encouraging results from 
seismic acquisition in 2011, the company is 
now setting the stage for further exploration 
onshore Ras Al Khaimah. An office is main-
tained in the Emirate.

Tunisia
DNO at present holds a 30 percent share of 
the Hammamet offshore license and has also 
signed a prospecting permit for the Fkirine 
license, covering an onshore area of more 
than 2,000 square kilometres.

Dubai
The office in Dubai is dno’s hub in the 
Middle East, hosting corporate technical 
functions and the Coo’s administrative team. 
The Tunis office is responsible for operations 
in Tunisia.

United Kingdom
DNO is present in the UK with its London of-
fice located at St James Square. The company 
is aiming at listing at the London Stock Ex-
change in 2012 and will consequently increase 
its presence in London with additional staff.

THE DNO AssETs
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Questions 
for helge Eide
DNO’s Managing Director looks back at an eventful 
year and ahead at great changes for the company.

1  A brief summary of the 2011 
milestones, Helge Eide?

2011 was an eventful and exciting 
year for dno. It was also a trans-
formational year with the decision 
to merge RAK Petroleum’s MEnA 
portfolio of operating assets into 
dno as the largest event. The 
company has now refocused its 
strategy, established a presence in 
five countries with participation in 
17 licenses, the majority of which 
we operate, and is moving fast 
forward to realize our ambition 
to become a significant oil and 
gas player in the MEnA region. It 
is safe to say that dno today is a 
new company.

Another major step was when 
we in January were given the for-
mal go-ahead to resume oil export 
from the Kurdistan region of Iraq. 
True, we have not yet received 
payment in full, but we believe 
that the developments in Iraq will 
progress towards a stable and 
predictable political and commer-
cial framework for international oil 
and gas companies.

Last but not least we have initi-
ated the process towards a listing 
on the London Stock Exchange 
during 2012. This will be a decisive 
step for the company and provide 
us with a larger and deeper inves-
tor base.

2  How is the company’s  
financial situation? 

We achieved record operational 
and financial results for 2011 and 
unveiled the most extensive drill-
ing programme in the company’s 
40-year history. Record high 
production also resulted in record 
high operating revenues, and net 
profits for the full year figure hit 
noK 653 million, which was well 
above market expectations. The 
company ended the year with a 
cash position of noK 1 645 million. 

The Tawke field has proven more 
prospective than anticipated and 
is decidedly the jewel in the dno 
crown. our financial position gives 
the company the necessary finan-
cial security. This is a good platform 
for further growth and investments, 
thus creating shareholder values. 

3  What are the distinctive 
marks of DNO as a company?

dno incorporates an exploration 
driven strategy in low cost, high 
potential areas. We focus on 
transforming resources to reserves 
at low cost minimizing the time 
from discovery to first production. 
We also have a flat organizational 
structure, with minimal overhead 
and as a result, we can decide 
quickly, execute nimbly and man-
age risk in real time. our activities 

in Kurdistan are perhaps the best 
examples of the risk willingness 
and pioneer spirit prevailing in 
dno. We entered the area before 
anyone else, and built a full scale 
operation in record time. 

We also strive to be an entre-
preneurial company, with a highly 
dedicated and skilled staff on all 
levels. We have a strong and healthy 
company culture and I am very proud 
to be working alongside these people. 

4  What are the keys to success 
for “the new DNO”?

An oil company must find oil and 
smart exploration is all about 
solving the puzzle faster and 
more efficiently than our com-
petitors. dno has a very skilled 
and extremely capable staff of 
subsurface specialists. I believe it 
is safe to say that this is a widely 
recognized fact. We will also 
continue to emphasize short-term 
cost efficiency in development, 
combined with the long-term goal 
of optimizing production. In short, 
the key to success is to do more of 
the same. our focus in the years 
to come is to continue delivering 
competitive value creation for 
our shareholders and maintaining 
dno’s capacity to grow through 
inspired employees and positive 
relations to our stakeholders.

Helge Eide
DNO’s Managing Director
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DNO has a very skilled and extremely capable staff of subsurface specialists. 
I believe it is safe to say that this is a widely recognized fact.



in just two weeks after merg-
ing with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA 
operating assets, dno launched 
a new management structure 
designed to drive the enlarged 
company and its ambitious 
growth strategy: to become a first 
rank independent Middle East and 
north Africa (MEnA) upstream 
operator with significant exposure 
to a diversified portfolio of MEnA 
oil and gas assets. 

dno implemented this new cor-
porate structure, which joins func-
tional and geographical structures 
with asset-based management, in 
the countries where we operate. 
our future growth is backed by an 
energetic executive team and staff, 
hands on expertise and capabili-
ties, and a unique presence in the 
MEnA region.

Board of directors
The board of directors has been as-
sembled based on distinct individual 
industry skills and expertise, giv-
ing dno the collective insight and 
authority to be a key player in the 
very competitive global oil industry. 

Following the annual general 
meeting in June, the board of di-
rectors was changed. dno’s new 
board of directors welcomed Bijan 
Mossavar-Rahmani as the Execu-
tive Chairman. Appointed board 
members are deputy Chairman, 
Gunnar Hirsti, and three board 
members: Shelly Watson, Karen 
Sund and Marit Instanes.

The board of directors’ key 
purpose is to set the overall goals 
and strategy and allocate sufficient 
resources to meet dno’s objectives. 

The board deals with challenges 
and issues relating to corporate 
governance, corporate social 
responsibility and corporate ethics. 
The board of directors handle share-
holder matters and appoints the 
company’s managing director.

Board’ responsibility and 
accountability are governed 
by  norwegian law. Each board 
member has a personal respon-
sibility for such compliance. The 
board represents all shareholders 
and manages dno to achieve the 
highest possible return on invest-
ed capital for the shareholders.

dno’s growth comes through 
smart exploration, cost effective 
and fast track development, ef-
ficient operating techniques and 
strategic acquisitions. The board 
of directors take responsibility for 
conditions and policies attached 
to new licenses, exploration and 
development and exploitation of 
discoveries. 

Corporate management
dno’s corporate management 
has extensive experience in all 
aspects of the oil and gas industry. 
The eight-member corporate 
management team is responsible 
for monitoring and managing 
dno’s business activities. The E&P 
operations are organized into five 
units, each headed by a general 
manager resident in the country of 
operation, who reports to the chief 
operating officer. In addition, dno 
has three department leaders for 
the core technical disciplines.

Helge Eide has served as dno’s 
Managing director since 2000. 

He is joined by Magne normann, 
Chief operating officer; Haakon 
Sandborg, Chief Financial officer; 
Trond Myrseth, director Group 
operations; Anita Aarnæs, director 
Human Resources; Tore Lilloe-
olsen, director Group Exploration 
and Subsurface; Tom Bratlie, direc-
tor Corporate Communications and 
Public Affairs, and Bjørn dale, Gen-
eral Counsel and Board Secretary. 

General managers
The five operating units are 
supported by technical and 
administrative staff from dno’s 
headquarters and international 
management hubs. 

Each operating unit is given 
significant autonomy, with broad 
operational and financial responsibil-
ities and performance accountability. 

dno operations are headed 
by general managers: nicholas 
Atencio, Kurdistan; Colin Kramer, 
Yemen; david Thorpe, Ras Al 
Khaimah; david Grassick, oman, 
and Michel Pick, Tunisia.

Core technical managers
dno’s technical teams are orga-
nized in a matrix based structure 
and provide technical oversight, 
competence and resources for 
exploration, field development and 
business development. 

The core technical management 
team are: Jon Petter Sargeant, 
drilling and Production Manager; 
Kenneth Myhrvold, Petroleum 
Technology department Manager 
and Chief Petroleum Engineer; and 
Ståle Monstad, Geoscience depart-
ment Manager and Chief Geologist. 

Restructuring to  
drive growth strategy 

The new DNO
Management presentation

A big company with even bigger plans needs a solid management structure.
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Our future growth is backed 
by an energetic executive 
team and staff, hands on 
expertise and capabilities, 
and a unique presence in  
the MENA region.
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The new DNO
Management presentation

DNO MANAgEMENT TEAM

Helge Eide
Managing Director

Bjørn Dale
General Counsel & Board 
Secretary

Jon Petter sargeant
Drilling & Production 
Manager

ståle Monstad
Geoscience Department  
Manager & Chief  
Geologist

David Thorpe
General Manager  
Ras Al Khaimah

Nicholas Atencio
General Manager 
Kurdistan

Tore lilloeOlsen
Director Group  
Exploration & Subsurface

Trond Myrseth
Director Group  
Operations

Haakon sandborg
Chief Financial Officer

Magne Harold Normann
Chief Operating Officer

Kenneth Myhrvold
Petroleum Technology 
Department Manager 
& Chief Petroleum 
Engineer

Colin Kramer
General Manager Yemen

David grassick
General Manager Oman

Michel Pick
General Manager Tunisia

Tom Bratlie
Director Corporate  
Communications & 
Public Affairs

Anita Hjerkinn Aarnæs
Director Human  
Resources

A people organisation
dno is dedicated to developing a 
highly skilled organisation within key 
subsurface, operational, administrative 
and business development disciplines. 
We will attract and retain talented 
people by providing dynamic career 
opportunities in an international and 
fast moving work environment. We are 
matrix working, powered by collabo-
ration across distance, cultures, time 
zones and organisational boundaries. 

Efficient information exchange
dno prioritizes efficient exchange 
of information. Expanding into a full-
fledged oil major, our operational units 
and technical teams will work closely 
together and communicate to drive posi-
tive development and share best practice. 

Excellent mix of strengths
The enlarged dno following the merger 
with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA subsidiar-
ies is well positioned for the future with 
a good mix of exploration assets, new 
oil discoveries and producing fields in 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq, Yemen, 
oman, Ras Al Khaimah and Tunisia.

dno’s strong presence in the MEnA 
region, its experience and competence, 
strong regional roots and regional 
relationships give the company a spe-
cial identity, unlike most independent 
exploration and production operators 
active in the MEnA region.

The combined entity will have ap-
proximately 650 staff and offices in 
oslo, London, Erbil, Sana’a, dubai, Ras 
Al Khaimah, Muscat and Tunis. dno’s 
geographical and cultural spread 
ensures that it is flexible, farsighted, 
innovative and efficient, meeting the 
challenges of complex field operations 
and political environments. 

DNO’s geographical 
and cultural spread  
ensures that it is  
flexible, farsighted,  
innovative and  
efficient. 
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 ThE NEW DNO 

OUR FOCUs
  First class exploration and produc-
tion  operations to sustain and create 
 shareholder value.

  Leading independent Middle East and 
north Africa upstream operator
  Significant exposure to a diversified 
 portfolio of regiona oil and gas assets
  Engaging technical talent and quality 
control

OUR GOAls
  Increased focus on human resources  
and company development
  Streamlined economies of scale/staff 
utilization
  Company wide technical quality assurance
  Geographical asset performance 
 accountability 
  Professionalism/entrepreneurialism
  Attraction/retention of skilled staff, techni-
cal personnel and executive management
  Professional development and career 
progression. 

Helge Eide
Managing Director

Magne Normann
Chief Operating Officer

David grassick
General Manager

Oman

David Thorpe
General Manager
Ras Al Khaimah

Michel Pick
General Manager

Tunisia

Nicholas Atencio
General Manager

Kurdistan

Colin Kramer
General Manager

Yemen

Haakon sandborg
Chief Financial Officer

Bjørn Dale
General Counsel &  
Board Secretary

Tom Bratlie
Director Corporate  

Communications & Public Affairs

Tore lilloeOlsen
Director Group  

Exploration & Subsurface

ståle Monstad
Geoscience Departement  

Manager & Chief Geologist gEOsCIENCE  
DEPARTMENT

Anita Hjerkinn Aarnæs
Director Human Resources

Jon Petter sargeant
Drilling & Production Manager

Trond Myrseth
Director Group Operations

Kenneth Myhrvold
Petroleum Technology Departement 

Manager & Chief Petroleum Engineer
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Board of Directors
Board presentation

The Board of Directors
The Board represents all shareholders and manages  
DNO with the aim of achieving the highest  
possible return on invested capital.



Bijan MossavarRahmani
Executive Chairman of the Board 
Mr Mossavar-Rahmani is also Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive officer of 
RAK Petroleum PCL, dno’s single largest shareholder. Mr Mossavar-Rahmani is an 
experienced industry executive and a graduate of Princeton (AB) and Harvard Universi-
ties (MPA). In addition to his industry positions, Mr Mossavar-Rahmani is active in public 
and international affairs. He is a director of the Persepolis Foundation and serves as a 
member of Harvard University’s John F. Kennedy School of Government Visiting Com-
mittee and on the Board of Trustees of the new York Metropolitan Museum of Art. He 
has published more than ten books and dozens of articles on global energy markets.

gunnar Hirsti
Deputy Chairman
Gunnar Hirsti has many 
years of experience in the 
oil industry and currently 
holds various managerial 
and board positions. Mr 
Hirsti was elected to the 
Board of directors at the 
Extraordinary Shareholders 
Meeting on 8 november, 
2007. He holds a degree in 
drilling engineering.

Marit Instanes
Director
Marit Instanes has many 
years of experience in man-
agement and is currently 
responsible for remunera-
tion and human resourses 
in opticonsult AS. She 
holds a degree in general 
management. Ms Instanes 
was elected to the Board 
of directors in 2007 and 
is a member of the Audit 
Committee. 

shelley Watson
Director
Shelley Watson is General 
Manager, RAK Petroleum 
PCL. Ms Watson holds a First 
Class Honours degree in 
Chemical Engineering and a 
Bachelor of Commerce from 
the University of Melbourne. 
She has served on dno’s 
Board of directors since 
2010 and is a member of 
the Audit Committee.

Karen sund
Director
Karen Sund is an advisor to 
the International Gas Union 
and a guest lecturer at the 
Executive Master of Energy 
Management programme 
at the norwegian School of 
Management/IPE. Ms Sund 
has a masters’ degree in 
international management 
and petroleum economics 
from the norwegian School 
of Management. 

BOARD Of DIRECTORs
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The Kurdistan region of Iraq
Business review
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The jewel in the crown
Kurdistan was virgin oil territory when DNO commenced exploration. 

Today the Tawke field is recognized as a global giant.
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The Kurdistan region of Iraq
Business review
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DNO, the first international oil 
company to start exploration in 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq when 
it started operations in June 2004, 
has successfully discovered, devel-
oped and produced oil in the area. 

Kurdistan was virgin territory 
from an oil and gas perspective 
in 2004. But by the end of 2011 
Tawke had been recognized as a 
giant oil field by any international 
standard with proven gross recov-
erable reserves estimated at 615 
million barrels.

The Tawke field was discovered 
in the spring of 2006 by drilling 
and testing the Tawke-1 well. 
The test results confirmed the 
presence of commercial quanti-
ties of oil and a fast-track field 
development programme was 
initiated. The process facilities, 
including a 43 km export pipeline, 
were completed by June 2007 
but the final connections to the 
pipelines pumping oil from Kirkuk 
to the export terminal at Ceyhan 
in Turkey were not completed as 
federal agreement was pending. 
The Tawke pipeline was finally 
connected in the first quarter of 
2009, and first export of Tawke oil 
commenced on 1 June 2009. 

Lack of payments from the fed-
eral government led to the decision 
to halt exports in September 2009 
and oil sales to the local market 
resumed. oil exports from Tawke 
restarted on 2 February 2011. dno 
has received two partial payments 
of USd 164 million for crude oil ex-
ported in 2011. The petroleum sec-

tor in Kurdistan is awaiting eventual 
ratification of the federal Petroleum 
and Revenue Sharing Laws. 

Tawke PsC
dno, which holds a 55 percent 
working interest in the Tawke 
license, has been lifting and selling 
crude oil from the Tawke field 
to satisfy both export and local 
market demand since June 2007. 
When exports resumed in 2011, 
volumes rapidly rose to an 50,000 
bopd, and even hit 75,000 bopd, 
which is the maximum throughput 
capacity of the existing facilities. 
on 1 April 2012, the KRG instructed 
dno to halt delivery of the portion 
of production from the Tawke oil 
field which was to be sent to the 
Iraqi national pipeline system for 
eventual export through Turkey.  

The company’s strategy is  
to increase field capacity to 
100,000 bopd by the end of 2012. 
A further expansion to 200,000 
bopd by 2015 is being considered. 
This would be accomplished by 
drilling additional development 
wells, constructing a second  
100,000 bopd processing facility 
and installing a new export pipeline 
at a capacity of 200,000 bopd.

The small village of Tawke with 
its 30 families, has become very 
important in the energy sector of 
Kurdistan in recent years!

The Tawke-16 well was spudded 
in late december 2011 and was 
designed to probe and appraise 
the undrilled northern flank of 
the Tawke field. The well reached 

total depth of 2,369 metres and 
encountered over 350 metres of 
gross continuous oil column in the 
Cretaceous interval. Testing of the 
well was completed in March 2012, 
and flowed at a cumulative rate 
in excess of 25,000 barrels per 
day of 26-27 degree API gravity 
oil from multiple, independently 
tested zones. dno expects to 
connect this well to the existing 
pipeline and processing facilities 
by mid-April, boosting the Tawke 
field’s deliverability.

The reserves at the Tawke field 
have been significantly increased 
following an assessment in 2011 by 
third party experts deGolyer and 
Macnaughton. The gross recover-
able reserves are estimated at 615 
million barrels at year-end 2011, 
compared to 306 million barrels 
the previous year. Following this 
assessment, the Tawke field is 
confirmed to be a world class, 
giant oil field. The Tawke field’s 
recent performance has proven 
exceptional reservoir quality.

The exploration well Peshkabir-1 
was spudded in September 2011. 
The well was designed to probe a 
large undrilled prospect west of 
the Tawke field. oil shows were 
observed while drilling through 
the top interval of the Cretaceous. 
The well, which reached a total 
depth of 4,092 metres, making it 
the deepest well drilled so far by 
dno in Iraq, is currently test-
ing in April/May 2012, with flow 
tests in the Triassic, Jurassic and 
 Cretaceous intervals.

At the end of 2011 Tawke is recognized as a giant oil field by 
any international standard with gross recoverable reserves 
estimated at 615 million barrels.
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The Kurdistan region of Iraq
Business review
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Annual  
production  
WI (bopd)

34,966
Remaining reserves 
and resources (mboe) 
at 31 december 2011

381.5
number of  
licenses

3
Total workforce  
at year-end

255

KURDisTAN  
FAST FACTS 2011

A Tawke deep exploration well will 
be drilled in 2012 to test the Juras-
sic and the Triassic intervals.

Erbil PsC
In addition to Tawke, dno has a 
40 percent working interest in the 
Erbil license. The first exploration 
well was drilled on the Benenan 
prospect and oil was discovered. 
A further appraisal well has been 
drilled on the prospect and 3d seis-
mic data has been acquired across 
all of the license areas of interest. 

A second discovery, Bastora, has 
been confirmed within this license. 
The exploration well Bastora-1 was 
drilled in 2010. The well was tested 
for oil at different intervals and 
was sidetracked with a 660 metres 
horizontal well bore section in one 
of the productive intervals. Test 
production from the Bastora-1A 
horizontal section led to a four-fold 
increase in rates compared with 
results of the vertical well bore.

Field development plans for 
the discoveries in Benenan and 
Bastora were approved by the 
authorities in February 2012. 

Both Benenan and Bastora will 
be subject to a staged develop-

ment. Permanent oil process-
ing facilities are expected to be 
completed early 2014. There are 
plans for two additional horizontal 
wells to be drilled in 2012; one in 
Benenan and one in Bastora.

Dohuk PsC
The third area in which dno holds 
an interest is the dohuk license 
where the company has a 40 per-
cent working interest. A discovery 
well, Summail-1, was drilled in 2011. 
natural gas was discovered at the 
top part of the Cretaceous with en-
couraging results, and heavy crude 
oil was confirmed in the Jurassic. The 
well tested natural gas at 11 million 
standard cubic feet per day (scf/d). 

The discovery is being appraised 
by 3d seismic which will be com-
pleted by the summer of 2012. 

There are three dual-fuelled 
power plants already in place in 
Kurdistan; one is close to the city 
of dohuk with a 600 megawatt 
capacity. The supply of electrical 
power to the households in Kurd-
istan has increased significantly 
since dno entered the region. The 
Summail gas discovery could be 
used to fuel the dohuk plant. 

field development plans for the Benenan and Bastora discoveries 
have been approved by the authorities in february 2012. 
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Yemen
Business review

Yemenisation pays off
DNO has operated successfully in Yemen since 1998, and has created 
significant value through fast-track, low-cost field development.

DNO participates in five 
licenses in Yemen, three of them 
as operator.

Unrest in Yemen has affected 
the country’s business environ-
ment, including the oil industry. In 
April 2011, as a precaution, dno 
moved expatriate staff from the 
Sana’a office to its dubai office. 
However, as a significant number 
of dno’s employees are Yemenis, 
operations were continued with 
only minor delays. Uptime on 
production facilities was main-
tained at 95 percent, which made 
it possible for annual production 
volumes to be close to forecasted 
levels. While dno’s production in 
Yemen has decreased slightly in 
recent years, continued appraisal 
and development of the latest 
discoveries are expected to result 
in an increase in future levels.

Block 32
This block has been in production 
since november 2000, averaging 3 
300 bopd in 2011. oil is produced 
both from the Tasour and Godah 
structures. Actual production was 
less than predicted for 2011 as the 
gas influx is still dominant in one 

of the latest wells drilled at Godah. 
The gas is, however, utilized as fuel 
for the operations, and cash flow is 
less affected. 

Block 47
A notice of commerciality for the 
Yaalen discovery, which takes the 
block into a development phase, 
was submitted to the authorities 
in March 2011. When dno’s drilling 
contractor withdrew personnel 
from the country, the company 
experienced some delays in the 
development plans for the Yaalen 
field. despite this, first oil is still 
expected in mid 2013.

In the exploration well Alsaiq-1, 
oil shows were encountered and 
tested, but hydrocarbons did not 
flow to the surface. Following 
the drilling of this well, the Block 
47 development area of close 
to 1,000 square kilometres was 
agreed with the Ministry.

Block 43
dno has announced proven and 
probable recoverable reserves in the 
Qishn reservoir of approximately 
six million barrels of oil. oil was also 
found in the Suqhra Basement res-

A notice of 
com merciality 
for the Yaalen 
discovery was 

submitted to the 
authorities in 

March 2011.
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ervoirs and the two reservoirs have 
now produced 12 million barrels. 

drilling at the infill well, nabra-
jah-21, which was due to start in 
mid September 2011, has been de-
layed until mid 2012. The delay has 
resulted in deferred production 
from this field. Costs for diesel 
increased in 2011. This raised oper-
ating cost for Block 43, which uses 
diesel engines and does not have 
its own topping plant for diesel 
production. A project to replace 
these units with gas engines was 
initiated in 2010, but due to late 
deliveries, the commissioning of 
the new equipment was delayed. 
The nabrajah field has been in 
production since 2005.

Block 53
dno is a partner in this block, 
which has two producing fields, 
Sharyoof and Bayoot. Production 
from Sharyoof started in decem-
ber 2001, with a total production 
to date of 43 million barrels. oil 
production from the Bayoot field 
began in September 2006 and 
the field has so far produced five 
million barrels.

The drilling programme for 

Block 53 has also been delayed 
as a result of the unrest in Yemen. 
This caused production levels 
lower than expected from the 
fields in Block 53.

Block 72
After drilling two dry exploration 
wells, the Gabdain-1 well uncov-
ered a gas/condensate discovery 
in the Kohlan formation. The 
Gabdain discovery is undergoing 
further evaluation to define pos-
sible additional appraisal drilling 
targets. The French company Total 
farmed into the block in 2010, 
with a 36 percent working interest 
and has taken over as operator 
from october 2011.

The Gabdain-2 well targeted a 
Qishn reservoir prospect close to the 
Gabdain-1 location, but was found 
to be dry. Block 72 was awarded to 
dno and partners in July 2005. 

With some slowdown in both 
exploration and development 
activities, there has been more op-
portunity to evaluate and interpret 
results from reservoir analysis, 
and this knowledge will be used 
to good effect as drilling restarts 
hopefully in 2012.

Annual  
production  
WI (bopd)

4,999
Remaining reserves 
and resources (mboe) 
at 31 december 2011

10.4
number of  
blocks

5
Total workforce  
at year-end

261

YEMEN  
FAST FACTS 2011
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Oman
Business review

DNO’s holdings in Oman represent 
significant opportunities, both in 
the short as well as the longterm. 
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DNO’s entry into Oman fol-
lows the recent merger with RAK 
Petroleum’s operating subsidiar-
ies. This country is rich in oil, with 
reserves estimated at 5.5 billion 
barrels and it also has almost one 
trillion cubic metres of natural 
gas reserves. The merger means 
that oman is now an essential 
part of dno’s Middle East and 
north Africa strategy. dno’s 
holdings are concentrated on four 
blocks - three exploration and one 
production.

Block 8
Block 8 consists of the produc-
ing Bukha and West Bukha fields 
located offshore oman’s Musan-
dam Peninsula. online since 1994, 
Bukha is a gas-condensate field 
with two producing wells from an 
unmanned platform, while the West 
Bukha volatile oil field came online 
in 2009 via a 6-slot unmanned 
platform with two producers. 

during 2011, these two fields 
produced about 10 million barrels 
of oil equivalent and there are plans 
to increase capacity in 2012. This 
increase will come from drilling two 
additional wells on West Bukha, 
namely West Bukha–5 and -4, 
which will begin production in late 
May and the end of August, respec-
tively, and an additional well on 
Bukha, which is planned to begin 
production in late december 2012.

As a result of successful op-
erations for the Block 8 offshore 
wells, platform availability was an 

impressive 99.5 percent during 
2011. The wells can be reached in 
between 40 minutes and one hour 
by fast boat; maintenance and data 
gathering visits are made each day 
to at least one platform.

Production off take is based on 
long-term reservoir management 
rather than short-term gain. dno 
does not want to draw down the 
reservoirs too quickly in order 
to avoid pulling water into the 
wellbore. 

Block 30
Located in central oman, Block 
30 contains four gas discoveries. 
An appraisal well, Hamrat duru-4, 
was drilled in early 2010, with 
tests confirming gas in the natih 
A, C and d formations, as well as 
in the Shuaiba formation. dno is 
continuing discussions to develop 
an optimal development plan, 
which may result in a joint devel-
opment with other nearby fields. 

Block 31
Block 31 is sited in Western oman, 
a large area covering 3,526 square 
kilometres, which includes the 
Al Jariya prospect straddling the 
border between oman and Abu 
dhabi. A well was drilled on Al 
Jariya in 2007, but suffered a 
water kick at 5,131 metres, about 
100 metres above the natih target, 
resulting in the abandonment of 
the well. Following this, the natih 
and Shuaiba reservoirs remained 
untested, though dno has plans 

to drill a second well during 2013.
dno has identified a gas-con-

densate play to the south of Block 
31. during the third quarter of 2011 
the Wadi Jiffra A1 well was drilled, 
though it has been suspended pend-
ing further review of its potential.

Block 47
Covering an area of 7 450 square 
kilometres, Block 47 is located in 
northern central oman, and is a 
joint venture between dno and 
Repsol.

The partners drilled an explorato-
ry well on the Zad prospect in early 
2011; this has proven the existence 
of the Amin sandstone reservoir 
north of any other existing well. 

A further four prospects; 
Ma’mourah, Hawamel, dham and 
Khabsat, have also been identified 
on the block. dno and Repsol 
are now undertaking a compre-
hensive study of the reservoir to 
determine the optimal drilling 
location for the next exploration 
well. As there are major gas and 
oil pipelines running through the 
block to the capital, Muscat, this 
provides further impetus to the 
eventual commercialisation of any 
future discoveries.

The merger means that oman 
is a truly exciting asset for dno 
in the short and long term. The 
combination of producing and 
development blocks added to the 
corporate portfolio, will allow the 
company carefully to advance this 
portfolio at a manageable rate.

Exciting new asset
Oman is now an essential part of DNO’s Middle East and North Africa strategy. 
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United Arab Emirates
Business review

The United Arab Emirates 
(UAE) is a federation with oil re-
serves of nearly 100 billion barrels 
and gas reserves of 6 trillion cubic 
metres representing more than 7 
percent of the world’s total.

This makes it a key oil nation in 
the region, and dno, through its 
recent merger with RAK Petro-
leum, recognises the opportunities 
that the UAE holds for both on- 
and offshore production. 

RAK saleh
The Saleh field is located 45 kilo-
metres offshore Ras Al Khaimah; 
dno holds a 70 percent operated 
stake. Production began in 1984 
and the field peaked at 70 million 
cubic feet per day of gas and 13 
000 barrels per day of condensate 
in 1986; production has since de-
clined due to pressure depletion 
and water breakthrough. There 
are currently five wells and seven 
small platforms in the field – some 
of the wells have been flowed on 
an intermittent basis since 1996. 
Products are delivered to the on-
shore RAK Gas processing facility 
via an existing 18” pipeline.

Following a detailed subsurface 
study, dno believes the horizon 
below the existing depleted 
reservoir has unrealized poten-
tial. Although operations on the 
Saleh-5 well to appraise the lower 

reservoir were suspended due to 
difficult drilling conditions, the 
company learned much about 
the drilling of depleted reservoirs, 
which will stand it in good stead 
as field development progresses. 

once the drilling campaign on 
the West Bukha / Bukha is com-
pleted towards the end of 2012 
there are plans to re-commence 
the Saleh re-development. The 
number of wells required will be 
based on a new review currently 
undertaken by the dno subsur-
face and drilling team.

RAK B
The RAK B field is 28 kilometres 
south west of Saleh. It includes the 
well RAK B-1, which was originally 
drilled in 1976. oil was discovered 
with good reservoir characteristics 
at the Ilam level. In addition, con-
densate rich gas was found at the 
Thamama level. Three additional 
appraisal wells were drilled in order 
to delineate the structure.

While the field is still in the 
study phase, it is probable that 
dno will drill an appraisal well in 
early 2014, followed by a single 
unmanned platform development 
tied back to the Saleh field.

RAK Onshore
In november 2008, RAK Petro-
leum  Al Khaleej Ltd signed a 

petroleum concession agreement 
with the Government of Ras Al 
Khaimah, covering an area of ap-
proximately 850 square kilometres 
on the onshore coastal plain and 
near shore transition zone. 

A 250-kilometre 2d seismic ac-
quisition campaign was undertak-
en and completed in the second 
quarter of 2001. Analysis of the 
data from the acquisition has en-
abled dno to identify reservoirs in 
deep foreland basin structures, as 
well as Palaeozoic reservoirs in the 
northern part of the concession 
area. However, further exploration 
is required and it is not antici-
pated that drilling will start before 
the end of 2013 at the earliest.

dno is also carrying out study 
into the potential for shale gas 
deposits in Ras Al Khaimah; this 
is being undertaken in a phased 
approach, which will initially 
be based on data from existing 
wells. It is presently too early to 
announce any results from this 
activity.

Through the merger, dno has 
secured licenses within well-
defined petroleum systems in 
the UAE. With prospects onshore, 
offshore and even, potentially, in 
shale deposits, the UAE repre-
sents a highly diversified portfolio 
that offers excellent long-term 
prospects.

A diversified portfolio
The United Arab Emirates represent excellent long-term prospects.
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Through the merger with RAK  
Petroleum operating subsidiaries, 
DNO has secured licenses within  
welldefined petroleum systems in  
the United Arab Emirates. 
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Tunisia
Business review

Tunisia’s upstream oil industry 
is modest at present with proved 
oil reserves of 425 million barrels. 
However, the prognosis is positive 
as exploration activities increases. 
The country has trade agreements 
with the European Union and free-
trade zone agreements with Libya 
and Morocco, providing a strong 
and stable environment for growth.

dno’s assets in Tunisia are lo-
cated both onshore and offshore. 
The company has a 30 per cent in-
terest in the Hammamet offshore 
license and a 50 percent  interest 
in the Fkirine onshore prospecting 
permit.

Fkirine
In october 2011, dno signed the 
prospecting permit for the Fkirine 
license, located onshore in central 
Tunisia. The permit was signed 
with the Tunisian authorities, 
(ETAP), and dno has a 50 percent 
share and will carry ETAP in the 
exploration phase. dno has com-
mitted to invest USd 2.5 million 
in the license covering a two-year 
work programme. 

There are several onshore 

discoveries, and the Fkirine 
Permit is located close to exist-
ing infrastructure. dno sees a 
considerable undrilled potential 
on the block, and the explora-
tion team has moved into an 
exploration phase, which includes 
the acquisition of minimum 200 
kilometres of 2d seismic as well 
as re-processing of a minimum of 
300 kilometres of existing seismic 
data. ETAP has the option to par-
ticipate within a 50 percent limit 
in the event of a discovery.

hammamet 
As a result of the merger with 
RAK Petroleum’s operating 
subsidiaries, dno owns a 30 
percent interest in the Hammamet 
offshore license, operated by 
Chinook Energy of Canada.

Commercial oil was proven on 
the block in the Shell-operated 
Tazerka field. This field was shut 
down in 1998 due to a decline in 
production and low oil prices. The 
current partnership started explo-
ration in 2010 with the drilling of 
the Fushia-1 well, the first test of 
several undrilled structures on the 

permit. The drilling resulted in the 
discovery of a 16-metre hydrocar-
bon column. The Fushia prospect 
is located in about 85 metres of 
water in the west-central part of 
the Gulf of Hammamet, approxi-
mately 70 kilometres northeast of 
the port of Sousse. The commer-
cial potential of this first well is 
currently being reviewed.

In 2011, 3d seismic was acquired 
over the Tazerka and Kasserine 
areas of the Hammamet block. 
This new seismic data is currently 
beeing reviewed. 

Following the elections in octo-
ber 2011, the oil industry in Tunisia 
entered into a consolidation phase 
in which several larger oil compa-
nies re-entered the country. dno 
opened an office in Tunis in Sep-
tember 2011, and is well positioned 
to play a role in the revitalisation of 
the Tunisian oil industry. In line with 
this ambition, dno is currently 
pursuing other opportunities in 
Tunisia. With fields and prospec-
tivity both onshore and offshore, 
Tunisia offers an exciting opportu-
nity for dno to further increase its 
presence in the region. 

Exploring Tunisia
DNO is pursuing opportunities in Northern Africa.
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With fields and prospectivity both onshore and off
shore, Tunisia offers an exciting opportunity for DNO 
to futher increase its presence in the MENA region.
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Shareholder value
The DNO share
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shareholder value
The DNO share price finished 2011 on a positive note, reflecting strong 
business development driven by higher production, increased reserves 
and the merger with RAK Petroleum’s MENA operating subsidiaries. 
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Key figures

The DNO share price continued its strong recovery from 2010 levels at the 
start of 2011 and recorded a high for the year of NOK 10.50 on 7 february.

share capital
Shares in dno are listed on the 
oslo Stock Exchange (oSE) with 
the ticker code dno. The com-
pany’s share capital at the start 
of 2011 was noK 237.5 million 
divided into 949,856,912 shares 
of noK 0.25 par value. during 
the year no new shares were 
issued, but dno acquired 80 mil-
lion treasury shares, which were 
subsequently transferred to RAK 
Petroleum PCL in January 2012 as 
part of the merger consideration. 
At the end of 2011 the company’s 
market capitalization was noK 7.1 
billion.

shareholders
As of April 2012, dno had just 
under 15,000 private and institu-
tional shareholders. The largest 
shareholder is RAK Petroleum, 
now an oil and gas investment 
company based in the United 
Arab Emirates, with a holding 
of 42.8 percent. A further 20.7 
percent of the shares are held by 
other international investors, with 
the remainder being norwegian 
owned. 

For more information on dno’s 
largest shareholders, see note 15 
in the consolidated accounts.

Trading volume
The company’s shares were 
readmitted to the oBX list of 
the 25 most liquid shares on the 
oslo Stock Exchange in June, 
and in total 1.3 billion shares in 
dno were traded in 2011, which 
was the same level as in 2010. 
The trading volume in monetary 
terms totalled noK 9.3 billion in 
2011, a decrease from noK 10.1 
billion in 2010. In relation to the 
average total number of shares 
outstanding, the turnover ratio 
for shares in dno was 137 per-
cent in 2011. 

The company benefits from 
broad analyst coverage and is 
currently followed by 14 securities 
firms in oslo and London.

Dividend policy
In its annual dividend proposal 
the board of dno takes into 
account, in addition to the 
company’s financial results, its 
investment plans and commit-
ments in its portfolio. Against this 
background no ordinary dividend 
is proposed for 2011 as the board 
currently prioritizes continued 
investment in the company’s 
exploration and development 
programme.

share price  
development in 2011
The dno share price continued 
its strong recovery from 2010 at 
the start of 2011 and recorded a 
high for the year of noK 10.50 on 
7 February. over the remaining 
months macro factors outweighed 
continued improvements in the 
company’s performance, such that 
at the stock market close on 30 
december, the share price stood 
at noK 7.48, a decline for the year 
of some 17 percent. In comparison, 
the benchmark oBX index fell 
over the year by 11.5 percent from 
404.0 to 357.6 at year-end. 

The uncertainty created by the 
European sovereign debt crisis was 
most marked during the summer 
months when the oBX index fell 
from 393 to 317 between 26 July and 
8 August. on the latter date dno 
recorded its low for the year of noK 
4.13 per share. Since then the share 
price has risen steadily to reach noK 
10.50 once again on 27 February 2012.

Key share price drivers
As an oil exploration and produc-
tion company the most significant 
external factor influencing the 
company’s share price is the price 
of oil. over 2011 the spot price for 

Brent crude rose from USd 94.30 
to USd 107.10 and since year-end 
has climbed further to USd 125.79 
as at 1 March 2012. 

Given that the oil and offshore 
services sectors represent a sig-
nificant proportion of the market 
capitalization of the oslo Stock 
Exchange, the price of oil is also 
an important influence on the 
market’s overall performance. 

In 2011, however, two other exter-
nal factors had a significant bearing 
on equity markets and dno’s share 
price. Firstly the sovereign debt 
crisis in Europe and the prospects 
of debt default by Greece (and 
possibly other countries) and the 
consequential impact on the bank-
ing sector and economic growth 
depressed Western equity markets. 

At the same time the repercus-
sions of the “Arab Spring” and 
democratic movements in a num-
ber of Middle East countries had an 
unsettling effect, and in the case 
of dno, with its investments and 
production in Yemen, a negative 
impact on its share price as overall 
production in this country declined 
and new drilling was postponed.

Against this backdrop, dno 
made firm progress in the Kurdis-
tan region of Iraq. It recommenced 

The DNO share
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Key figures per share/ share price development

 2011 2010
Share price at 31 december  7.48 9.07
Lowest closing share price   4.13 4.97
Highest closing share price  10.50 9.78
Total trades on oSE (noK 1 000) 351 689 251 932
Marked cap at 31 december (noK billion) 7.10 8.62
number of shareholders at 31 december 14 673 14 387

share price development 2011
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exports from the Tawke field and 
increased the total WI production 
for the full year to 39,966 bopd, up 
from 17,381 bopd in 2010. 

The gross reserves estimates 
for the Tawke field were further 
upgraded to 615 million barrels at 
year-end 2011, up from 306 million 
barrels in 2010, with the result that 
dno’s WI reserves increased to 372 
million barrels at year-end 2011, up 
from 194 million barrels in 2010. 

during the year dno received 
payments of USd 164 million for ex-
port deliveries from the Tawke field, 
contributing significantly to the 
record operating revenues of noK 2 
070 million and the strong improve-
ment in financial results in 2011. 

Resolution of a regulatory 
framework for future payments for 
exports from Kurdistan is still of 
major challenge for dno and other 
operators, but the oil industry‘s 
commitment to and success in the 
region provide cause for optimism.

In addition to its own operation-
al successes, dno’s merger with 
RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating 
subsidiaries has had a positive im-
pact on the company’s share price, 
as the shares traded up after ap-
proval of the transaction by dno’s 
shareholders on 1 november 2011. 

The RAK Petroleum merger has 
provided provides dno with a di-
versified MEnA portfolio including 
exploration, development and pro-
duction assets as well as regional 
networks and an experienced 
international management team. 

2012
Since the start of 2012, in addition 
to the oil price rise, there are signs 
(with the exception of Syria) of a 
lessening of political tensions in 
the MEnA region. dno has contin-
ued to make progress in Kurdistan, 
announcing significant oil flows 
from the Tawke-16 well on 21 March, 
while in Yemen operations have 
somewhat normalized. The merger 
with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA 
operating subsidiaries was finalized 
on 10 January and a new manage-
ment structure quickly established, 
with general managers named to 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq, oman, 
UAE, Tunisia and Yemen.

Looking ahead, dno has an-
nounced its intention to seek a 
listing for its shares on the London 
Stock Exchange. A listing in London 
would target extended analyst cov-
erage of the company’s shares and 
increased interest from a broader 
range of MEnA focused investors.  



2011

Corporate governance

DNO’s value platform and the principles for 
its code of conduct serve as a foundation 
for good corporate governance.
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Corporate governance statement
Corporate governance stipulates how the own-
ers, the board of directors and the manage-
ment of a company should interact. Good 
corporate governance enables the maximisa-
tion of shareholder value and reduction in busi-
ness risk, while ensuring that the company’s 
resources are utilised in an optimal way. 

dno aspires to comply with the 15 main 
points of the norwegian Code of Practice 
(nUES) regarding corporate governance. The 
board performs an annual review of these 
points, and the section below describes in 
detail how dno complies with the nUES 
principles of corporate governance. The review 
is based on the latest version of the code, 
which was issued in october 2010. Some minor 
changes and adjustments were made to the 
code in 2011. 

01  Implementation and reporting on  
Corporate governance

dno has drawn up a policy for corporate 
governance, and the board works to comply 
with the norwegian Code of Practice. As dno 
shares are listed on the oslo Stock Exchange, 
the company is subject to norwegian securities 
legislation and stock exchange regulations. The 
company aims to comply with all requirements 
related to the stock listing and, in addition, 
dno’s goal is to meet the expectations of the 
international capital markets.

dno’s value platform and the principles for its 
code of conduct serve as a foundation for good 
corporate governance. These principles outline 
the corporate standard of ethics and other core 
values. The dno code of conduct is a guideline  
to all employees on how to represent the 
 company in a prudent and ethical manner.

The company’s attitude towards corporate 
responsibility is defined in detail in its corporate 
responsibility policy, and is grounded in our ethi-

cal guidelines. dno is committed to promoting 
sustainable social development by operating  in 
compliance with responsible business principles, 
carrying out systematic improvement work 
relating to the environment, climate and energy 
and by investing in profitable business projects 
that can generate positive effects for society. 
dno seeks to align to international standards 

– such as the Un Global Compact – in its ap-
proach towards corporate responsibility.

02 Business
dno International ASA is an inde-

pendent international upstream oil and gas 
company. The articles of association and the 
norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act form the legal corporate framework for 
dno’s business operations. The articles of as-
sociation (which can be found at www.dno.no) 
describe the objectives of the company’s activi-
ties, along with provisions for the annual general 
meeting (AGM) and the board of directors. The 
company’s goals and vision are outlined in a 
strategy document, which is frequently updated. 
dno regularly reports the status of its business 
activities through quarterly presentations and 
other market presentations.

03 Equity and dividends
shareholders’ equity

one of dno’s objectives is to maintain a strong 
credit rating and to ensure healthy capital ratios. 
dno monitors capital on the basis of its book eq-
uity ratio, and has a policy that this ratio should 
be 30 percent or higher. As of 31 december 2011, 
this ratio was 42.8 percent. The board of directors 
finds this figure to be satisfactory given the com-
pany’s business, strategies and risk profile. 

Dividend policy
An annual review assesses whether dividend 
payments should be proposed. The review takes 

into consideration both planned capital expendi-
tures and cash flows for future periods. 

Purchase of own shares
At the AGM, authorisation was given to the 
board of directors to buy treasury shares within 
the framework of the Public Limited Companies 
Act. Purchases and sales of treasury shares are 
made when the board of directors regards the 
transaction as favourable for the shareholders.

The repurchase of treasury shares is made 
through the oslo Stock Exchange.

As of 31 december 2011, dno held 80 million 
treasury shares.

04 Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates

dno has one class of shares and each share 
gives one vote at the AGM. The articles of as-
sociation contain no restrictions regarding the 
right to vote.

Transactions with close associates
Close associates are defined as being all par-
ties that have the ability, whether directly or 
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions. Par-
ties are also close associates if they are subject 
to common control or common significant 
influence. All transactions between close as-
sociates are based on the principle of ‘arms 
length’, which are estimated market prices. 

For more information about close associates, 
please refer to note 22 in the consolidated 
financial statements for 2011.

05 freely negotiable shares
dno’s shares are listed on the oslo 

Stock Exchange and are freely negotiable. 
The articles of association do not contain any 
restrictions on the negotiability.

15 main points
Corporate governance
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06  general Meetings
The AGM is the company’s high-

est authority. dno’s articles of association 
and the norwegian Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act stipulate the role and mandate 
of the AGM.

The AGM is to be held by the end of June 
each year. The minutes of general meetings are 
available on the company’s website.

The AGM shall be convened by written 
notification to all shareholders with a known 
address. The notice shall be sent no later than 
21 days before the meeting is to be held. The 
right to attend and vote at the general meet-
ing may only be exercised if the acquisition 
has been entered in the register of sharehold-
ers on the fifth working day before the AGM 
(the registration date). When documents re-
lating to issues on the AGM agenda have been 
made available to the shareholders via the 
company’s website, the law does not require 
the documents to be sent to the shareholders. 
This also applies to documents that, accord-
ing to the law, are to be included in the notice 
inviting the shareholders to the meeting. A 
shareholder may nonetheless request printed 
general meeting documents. 

In accordance with norwegian law, an 
auditor or a shareholder representing at least 
5 percent of the share capital may request 
an extraordinary general meeting (EGM) 
to discuss a particular matter. The board 
must ensure that the meeting is held within 
one month of the request being submitted. 
Beyond this, only the board of directors has a 
mandate to call an EGM.

07 Nomination committee
The company continuously evaluates 

whether a nomination committee should be 
 established. Currently, such committee is under 
consideration.

08 Corporate assembly and Board of  
Direc tors; composition and independence

According to current norwegian legislation, 
dno is not required to elect a corporate as-
sembly. As stated in the company’s articles of 
association, the board of directors shall com-
prise three to five members. All members of 
the board, including the chairman, are elected 
at the annual general meeting. As of 31 decem-
ber 2011 the board consisted of five members 
who have broad experience in the oil industry 
and finance in general. Three of the five board 
members are female. 

09   The work of the Board of Directors 
Board members are elected for two 

years. The role of the board of directors is to 
supervise the management and the company’s 
strategic development, and to ensure that the 
long-term interests of all the shareholders and 
other stakeholders are being served.

The board has approved rules of procedures, 
including its responsibilities and which matters 
are to be discussed at board level. The board 
prepares an annual plan for its work, and per-
forms an annual review of this work. The board 
has also established work instructions for the 
managing director. 

The board of directors normally meets every 
month. Additional meetings are held when 
required. The meetings may be undertaken by 
telephone or by video conference. 

The board has nominated an audit committee 
consisting of two non-executive directors with 
financial expertise. There is a mandate for the 
audit committee, which describes its responsi-
bilities for the quality control of the company’s 
financial reporting. The committee will also 
monitor the internal control arrangements and 
the risk evaluation systems. 

dno’s compensation committee is nomi-
nated by the board and consists of two board 

members. The committee considers questions 
relating to the compensation of the managing 
director and key management and prepares 
and presents this to the board. The work of the 
committee is described in a mandate approved 
by the board. 

10 Risk management and internal control 
Risk management in dno is based 

on the principle that risk management is an 
integral part of all business activities and is a 
continuous process. Every senior manager at 
dno is responsible for monitoring and manag-
ing risk within their business area, and an 
evaluation of business risk shall be carried out 
prior to any major decision in the company. 

The company has formalised its risk man-
agement policy with the identification and 
assessment of risks, including risk rating and 
mitigation, corrective measures and the estab-
lishment of barriers. There is a centralised func-
tion at dno with responsibility for analysing 
and evaluating the Group’s total risk exposure. 
This function is also responsible for facilitating 
and streamlining the processes across business 
units, in order to have a unified and stan-
dardised approach to risk management. 

Reports and reviews are regularly under-
taken and presented to corporate management 
and the board. In addition, the audit commit-
tee plays an important role in reviewing and 
following up risk areas. The main risk factors 
identified in the risk reviews become the focus 
of the coming year’s audit plan. 

For internal control purposes the Group 
has established policies and procedures in 
an integrated business management system. 
The aim of these policies and procedures is to 
increase quality in all processes and strengthen 
the control systems across the company. The 
company also has an internal audit function 
with annual audits of the main business units. 
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The audit committee oversees internal control 
activities and has a specific mandate in fol-
lowing up and monitoring internal control over 
financial reporting. 

Please also refer to the section on risk man-
agement and internal control, following this 
statement, for a more comprehensive descrip-
tion of risk and risk management at dno. 

11  Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The remuneration of the board of direc-

tors is decided at the AGM and is not linked to 
the company’s performance. no share options 
have been granted to members of the board. 
In 2011, the following fees were distributed to 
board members based on their service be-
tween the AGM in 2010 and the AGM in 2011:

Chairman of the Board, Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani  NOK 0 
Board member, Shelley Watson NOK 152 750
Board member, Gunnar Hirsti NOK 289 500
Board member, Marit Instanes NOK 306 000
Board member, Karen Sund NOK 0
Former chairman of the Board, Berge G. Larsen  NOK 307 000
Former board member, Trygve Bruvik  NOK 129 250
Former board member, Elin Karfjell  NOK 140 250

12  Remuneration of executive personnel
Remuneration of dno’s executive person-

nel including the managing director is evalu-
ated and recommended by the remuneration 
committee as described in its mandate. The 
remuneration for the managing director is evalu-
ated annually and approved by the board. The 
managing director is entitled to an annual bonus 
based on an evaluation by the board and the 
bonus is determined at the board’s discretion.

The board of directors also approves, on a 
general basis, the remuneration and terms of 
employment for senior executives reporting to 
the managing director. Some of these employ-
ees have bonus arrangements that are deter-
mined at the discretion of the board of directors.

The remuneration of key management is pre-
sented in the notes to the annual accounts.
The board members’ shareholdings are also 
specified in notes to the accounts. 

13  Information and communication
dno is committed to treating all of its 

investors equally and ensuring that it provides 
timely information so that a value assessment 
of the company can be performed on the best 
possible basis.

dno’s financial accounts are transparent 
and in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and industry 
standards relevant to the oil and gas sector. 
Interim reports and other relevant information 
are published on dno’s website and through 
the oslo Stock Exchange.

Furthermore, dno publishes an annual 
financial calendar showing important dates 
and events such as quarterly presentations. All 
information relevant to shareholders is sent 
by mail as well as published on the company’s 
website.

dno’s investor relations policy encourages 
open communication with the capital markets 
and shareholders. dno regularly holds presen-
tations for investors and analysts, as well as 
scheduled quarterly presentations. 

14   Takeover
The board has not established any 

specific guiding principles for how it will act in 
the event of a takeover bid situation. 

However, in the event of a bid situation, the 
board has a responsibility to ensure that all 
shareholders are treated equally and that 
business activities are not disrupted unneces-
sarily. The board has a particular responsi-
bility to ensure that shareholders are given 
sufficient information and time to judge the 
bid. The board will in this situation evaluate 
the bid and make a statement and recommen-

dation as to whether the shareholders should 
accept or not. The statement should clearly 
state whether the evaluation from the board 
is unanimous.

15  Auditor
dno’s external auditor is elected at the 

AGM, which also approves the auditor’s fees for 
the parent company. 

The auditor annually presents an audit plan 
to the audit committee. According to the man-
date for the audit committee, the auditor has at 
least one meeting with the audit committee per 
year where the administration is not present, 
and participates in audit committee meetings 
to review the company’s internal control and 
risk management system.

The auditor participates in board meetings 
when the financial statements are discussed 
and other meetings where it is considered 
appropriate.

Information about the auditor’s fees, includ-
ing a split between audit and other services, is 
included in the notes to the financial state-
ments and is according to the norwegian 
Accounting Act.

Currently, dno’s external auditor is Ernst & 
Young AS.

Risk management  
and internal control
Risk profile and risk areas 
For dno, gaining access to oil reserves and 
developing discoveries to production at the 
lowest possible cost is the most important 
value-creating factor. due to this fact and the 
nature of the international oil and gas industry, 
dno is faced with sometimes challenging con-
ditions in frontier and under-developed areas 
of the world. 

The main areas of risk are briefly summarized on 
the following page:

15 main points
Corporate governance
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  Political and contractual risk: Risks related 
to the political situation and contractual/
legal changes in contracts in the countries 
where dno operates. The company carries 
out political risk assessment of the coun-
tries and areas in question, and in addition 
makes use of governmental bodies and 
contacts in order to monitor and mitigate 
these risks. 

  Operating risk: Risks relating to drilling 
activities, development projects and opera-
tional incidents. Increased focus on profes-
sional project management and monitoring 
of high-risk operations are carried out to 
mitigate and control these risks.

  strategic risk: Risks related to few core ar-
eas/low diversification and access to explo-
ration acreage. The company is continuously 
evaluating new business opportunities where 
we can utilize our knowledge and compe-
tence in order to mitigate this risk. 

  Market risk: Risk mainly related to fluctuat-
ing oil prices. derivative financial instruments 
are from time to time used to hedge this 
exposure. 

  financial risk: Risks related to refinancing 
and liquidity, fluctuating interest rates and 
currency. Financial risk management is car-
ried out by a central treasury function and 
seeks to minimize the adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. derivative 
financial instruments are from time to time 
used to hedge the exposure. 

  Reputational risk: Risk related to loss of 
reputation, negative media articles etc. Cor-
rective communication strategy measures 
have been taken to reduce the risk of loss of 
shareholder value in this connection.

Some of the identified risks are outside of 
dno’s control. At the time of reporting, this is 
mainly related to political and contractual is-
sues in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, and to the 
security situation in Yemen. However, measures 
are being taken to reduce the impact of pos-
sible negative effects for dno. 

Risk measurement
dno has established an integrated system for risk 
management throughout the group of companies 
and which is described in a risk management 
policy approved by the board of directors. The 
principles for risk management is based on the 
framework in CoSo (Committee of Sponsoring 
organisations of the Treadway Commission) and 
recognized international industry standards within 
the area of internal control and risk management. 

The purpose of dno’s risk management pro-
cess is to identify, assess, control and mitigate 
risks related to the achievement of the com-
pany’s strategic goals and annual objectives. 
As defined in the company’s procedures the 
components for providing an effective internal 
control system consist of:  

 A control environment with established 
company procedures, ethical guidelines (dno’s 
code of conduct) as well as management 
expectations and “tone at the top”.

 An annual risk assessment within each busi-
ness area and at corporate level, with risk iden-
tification and ranking of the main risks based on 
the company’s strategic goals and objectives, 
as well as descriptions of control systems and 
mitigation and compensating measures. This 
results in a risk matrix with classification of risks 
and description of barriers. The risk assessment 
process is facilitated by a team at corporate 
level with special focus on internal control and 
risk management, enabling a standard format 
and approach for the whole company. 

 Control activities include audit plans for the 
follow-up of the main critical risk factors. At 
the business level, the risk matrix with systems 
for barriers is followed up and reported in 
quarterly review meetings with the corporate 
management. Another fundament for control is 
the company’s Business Management System 
with a hierarchical and complete system of 
procedures, guidelines, responsibilities and 
delegation of duties as well as work descrip-
tions for all business areas within the company. 
The company has established an internal audit 
function which performs an annual audit of 
the main business units. The internal audit 
concludes in a report with findings within the 
financial reporting and compliance area, and is 
communicated to the corporate management 
and to the audit committee. 

 Information and communication include re-
porting on a quarterly basis from the business 
units and to corporate management, as well 
as reporting of the main issues to the board of 
directors.. All employees are informed about 
and have access to the Business Management 
System via the company’s intranet. 

 Monitoring and review is taken care of by 
the corporate management and the board 
of directors in follow up of the business units 
as well as feedback for improvement of the 
process. At the board level, the audit commit-
tee has a specific responsibility for follow up 
and monitoring of risk and internal control as 
described in the mandate. 

The risk management and internal control 
system is a continuous process and it is the 
company’s opinion that an effective risk man-
agement and internal control system contribute 
to safeguarding the company’s assets and the 
shareholders’ interests.
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Keeping our nose clean
Corporate responsibility is about continuous improvement 

and open dialogue with all stakeholders.
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DNO’s Corporate Responsibility  
(CR) principles are based on the 
idea of Creating Shared Value (CSV). 
We believe that in order to create 
long-term value for shareholders it 
is also necessary to create value for 
the society. CR is a strategic busi-
ness response directly tied to the 
development of the local societies 
in which we operate.

DNO’s CR-approach
We operate under intense scrutiny 
in some of the most challenging ar-
eas of the world and acknowledge 
that responsible policies must be of 
a high standard.

For dno, supporting sustainable 
development means managing the 
balance between production of oil 
and gas and environmental and 
social consequences. The board of 
directors and our employees have 
a duty to drive the CR performance 
forward; an integral part of our 
approach is therefore to develop a 
corporate culture that enables us to 
implement and meet sustainability 
expectations on an operational level. 

In addition, and as a natural 
consequence of a CSV-approach, 
CR issues are naturally integrated 
in our risk management systems. 
We recognize a clear connection 
between efficient operations and 
the identification and manage-
ment of CR-challenges. 

CRprinciples:
  Improve and develop Quality, 
Health, Safety and Environment 
(QHSE) issues
  Support and respect the 
protection of human rights and 
worker’s rights in all operations
  Have zero-tolerance against 
corruption

  Establish compliance with our 
Code of Conduct throughout 
the value chain 

  Identify social projects that are 
relevant and yields a high return 
for both the local community 
and the company

QhsE
It is the company’s policy to es-
tablish and maintain annual QHSE 
plans to ensure and document 
continuous improvement. We are 
monitoring our HSE performance 
based on industry recognized Key 
Performance Indicators (KPI) and 
taking necessary steps to improve. 

Excelling in QHSE is an integral 
part of risk management. There-
fore, we focus on identifying QHSE 
risks that may prevent us from 
achieving our goals. our Business 
Management System (BMS) is the 
document system that provides 
the company with a standard plat-
form so we can operate within the 
framework of a prudent operator.

We have an iterative risk process 
and methodology that starts at 
the corporate level and is imple-
mented throughout the various 
business units and their projects. 
The outcome of the evaluations 
are documented and communi-
cated to those involved, including 
the audit committee and board of 
directors.

The goals of our QHSE processes 
are to create a safe, stimulating 
work environment and to foster and 
promote a culture that is built on:

  Trust
  Respect
  Teamwork
 Positive communication
  non-discriminatory environment

2011 hiGhliGhTs

The merger
The merger in 2011 between dno 
and RAK Petroleum’s MEnA 
operating subsidiaries provided an 

opportunity for dno to analyze 
our existing programmes with a 
view to developing a best practice 
approach to QHSE and CR in all 
markets. 

Consequently, we will be updat-
ing our QHSE and CR policies and 
procedures in 2012. 

Training and quality
We monitor key activities and 
our performance developments 
of our operations. We undertake 
HSE training programmes among 
employees to constantly improve 
our on-site HSE measures and to 
ensure we are doing all we can to 
protect the safety of our staff.

Following the appointment of a 
new human resources (HR) direc-
tor to the company’s manage-
ment team, HR programmes will 
be further strengthened across 
the company. This appointment 
will ensure that HR activities will 
be globally aligned, providing 
coordinated and high quality key 
HR processes.

Anti-corruption
In 2011, the UK Bribery Act was 
introduced. This has a near-
universal jurisdiction, allowing for 
the prosecution of an individual or 
company with links to the United 
Kingdom, regardless of where the 
crime occurred. 

For dno, operating under the 
norwegian Anti-Corruption act 
of 2003, the UK Bribery Act is a 
welcome step in leveling the play-
ing field and further strengthening 
the fight against corruption.

To meet the expectations of 
establishing proportional proce-
dures which is created by the UK 
act, dno has developed a module 
within its training programme to 
create awareness and explain how 
it influences our operations. 

2011
Corporate responsibility

DNO is constantly 
working with local 

authorities and 
agencies to ana

lyse risks and then 
take appropriate 

measure that safe
guard employee 

safety.
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The Environment
drilling for, producing and consum-
ing oil cannot be accomplished with-
out affecting the environment. our 
goal is to reduce the environmental 
impact as much as possible, focusing 
on energy efficiency and reducing 
spills and waste to a minimum. 

2011 saw dno’s best reporting 
score in the Carbon disclosure 
Project so far. A score of 69 points 
compared to 42 in 2010, settles the 
company in the higher end of its 
sector. 2011 was also the first year 
we started to report on our carbon 
footprint within the scope 2 and 3 
segment of the Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol (GHG). 

dno is currently working to miti-
gate our greenhouse gas emissions 
by containing and reducing fossil 
fuel consumption in our opera-
tions. dno has met environmental 
challenges in the past linked to 
spills and unwanted emissions by 
improving planning to overcome 
and control such risks in the future. 
This enables us to increase produc-
tion efficiency, reduce costs and 
limit our environmental impact.

our annual emission results 
were 240,125 metric tonnes of 
Co2-equivalents within scope 
1, and 30 tonnes within scope 2 
(GHG protocol standard). 

CR and security 
dno operates in countries and 
regions that at times are unstable. 
It is our duty to take every pos-
sible measure to provide all our 
personnel with the safest working 
and social environment. dno is 
constantly working with local au-
thorities and agencies to analyse 
risks and then take appropriate 
measures to safeguard employees.

Three territories were of 
 particular concern to DNO in  
2011 and into 2012:

  The security situation in Yemen 
is considered to remain tense, 
fragile and unpredictable with 
widespread unrest, violence 
and turmoil. However, it is not 
considered to be a direct risk 
to dno although it cannot be 
ruled out that our operations 
may be affected.

  The security situation in the 
Kurdistan region of Iraq is 
considered relatively stable 
and safe. There is a risk that 
the Turkey-Kurdistan Workers 
Party’s (PKK) conflict and the 
Iraqi Government-Kurdistan 
Regional Government (KRG) 
disputes may influence dno 
operations in Kurdistan. 

  The security situation in Tunisia 
remains unpredictable and there 
is a risk of further civil unrest; 
a State of Emergency is still in 
place across the country. 

CR in action
Community initiatives in Kurdistan 
As part of our extensive CR 
programme in Kurdistan, dno has 
made a USd 250,000 contribution 
to set up a technology center in 
Talku. This will be a huge boost for 
the learning prospects of the local 
community and greatly increase 
employment opportunities. As 
part of the curriculum, students 
attending the centre undertake 
laboratory work to build their 
knowledge of hydrocarbon 
geophysics, which can make them 
much more employable. 

In 2011, we delivered USd  
250,000 in support for local 
health, education and sports ini-

tiatives – work we are undertaking 
and managing ourselves. We have 
decided to provide direct support 
in an effort to combat possible 
corruption and channel the funds 
directly to the communities that 
they are intended for. 

These initiatives are a direct way 
of investing in the communities in 
which we operate, whilst manag-
ing the process in line with our 
‘creating shared value’ ambitions.

Yemenisation 
Whenever we deem it appropriate 
and in the interests of all of our 
stakeholders, we try to promote 
the use of local employees. We 
are continuing to deliver this 
policy in Yemen in co-operation 
with the Yemeni Government. This 
approach provides increasing em-
ployment to the local population; 
develops local skills and education 
in an increasingly important busi-
ness sector; and often reduces our 
employee costs by enabling us to 
repatriate expatriate employees. 

In the last five years there has 
been a reduction of 27 posts held 
by expatriates. This has been, in 
part, a consequence of the suc-
cesses of our training and develop-
ment programmes. These were 
established developed to provide 
learning opportunities and to 
facilitate knowledge transfer, whilst 
developing the professional and 
technical expertise of our national 
personnel.

dno has, in the past five years, 
maintained a stable Yemeni man-
power complement averaging 250 
members of staff. our Yemenisa-
tion percentage has increased 
from around 75 percent to 95 
percent in this period.

We operate under intense scrutiny in some of the most challeng
ing areas of the world and acknowledge that ethical, sustainable 
and responsible operating policies must be of a high standard.
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Questions for 
Executive Chairman  
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani
The new chairman elaborates on the company’s strategic focus.

1  You have on several occasions 
talked about reshaping and 

refocusing DNO. What does that 
mean? 
There is a growing divide separat-
ing the old dno from the new one. 

First, we have shifted our 
strategic focus to the Middle East 
and north Africa. This is a region 
that comprises some of the best 
oil and gas real estate in the 
world and one where we have a 
comparative advantage in assets, 
local knowledge and relationships.  
Since our last annual report was 
published, we have restructured 
and high graded our portfolio and 
also broadened it by acquiring 
RAK Petroleum’s exploration and 
producing properties. My goal is 
for dno to become a significant 
Middle East and north Africa 
player with a reputation for smart 
exploration, safe and efficient 
operations, responsible corporate 
citizenship – and, of course, value 
creation for its shareholders.  

Second, we have reshaped the 
organisation to better position us 
for the future: lean, flat, entrepre-
neurial and highly motivated. With 
the addition of the RAK Petroleum 
team to the existing dno one, we 

now have even more breadth and 
depth of expertise and experience 
inside the Company. We have 
taken steps to improve our gover-
nance, enhance our transparency 
and sharpen our focus on the core 
business. We also have worked 
hard to improve the company’s 
standing and relationship with our 
stakeholders, whether investors or 
host governments or partners or 
stock exchange regulators. We will 
work hard to treat all stakeholders 
fairly and with respect but we also 
expect similar treatment in return. 

Third, we have moved quickly 
to strengthen the Company’s 
balance sheet and improve our 
operating performance and 
financial results. 2011 was a turn-
around year for dno in which we 
recorded new highs in production 
and profitability as shown in this 
report.

2  You became Executive  
Chairman in June. What is 

your impression of DNO?
I have spent considerable time 
in norway over the past 30 
years but never inside a private 
enterprise. It has been interesting 
to watch the strong norwegian 

business culture that prevails in 
dno. I am struck by the proactive 
attitude and professionalism of 
our people. The pace is fast and 
there is a sense that anything is 
possible. And while we main-
tain a no-blame culture, I am a 
strong believer in finding the best 
people, giving them the authority 
and the resources to accomplish 
their tasks but then holding them 
accountable for both individual 
and corporate performance. dno 
was born a norwegian company 
and is justifiably proud of its 
roots which remain strong. But 
I sense that everyone is also 
proud of our evolution into a very 
international company in terms of 
people, assets, investor base and 
outlook. 

3  How do you hope to sum up 
2012?

We are in a risk business: geologic, 
operational and political. We 
spend each day trying to manage 
and mitigate these risks. I believe 
we are getting better at it and we 
are already off to a good start in 
2012. our goal now is to maintain 
the forward momentum. I am con-
fident that we will do just that.
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introduction
dno International ASA is an oslo Stock 
Exchange-listed, Middle East and north Africa 
(MEnA) focused oil and gas company holding 
stakes in 17 licenses in various stages of explora-
tion, development and production both onshore 
and offshore in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, the 
Republic of Yemen, the Sultanate of oman, the 
United Arab Emirates and the Tunisian Republic. 
dno has its head office in oslo, norway.

Objectives
dno’s main operational objective is to deliver 
sustainable growth and create value for our 
shareholders through selective targeted 
exploration, fast track developments and cost 
effective operations through the full cycle of 
the company’s exploration and production 
(E&P) activities. 

selected exploration. We pursue an explora-
tion-driven strategy in areas with high hydro-
carbons potential. With successful exploration, 
we will focus on transforming resources to 
reserves at low cost, minimizing the time from 
discovery to first production.

Entrepreneurial. We are an entrepreneurial 
company with a flat organizational structure. 
As a result, we can decide quickly, execute 
nimbly and manage risk in real time.

Operator. We seek control of operations. We 
operate more than 80 percent of our assets 
and as an operator, we can deploy our exten-
sive skills to optimize performance and deliver 
enhanced results.

Mergers and acquisitions. In addition to organic 
growth ambitions, dno will actively engage in 
mergers, acquisitions and consolidation of the 
E&P business throughout the MEnA region. 

highlights 2011
2011 was a transformational year for dno.

Exports from the Tawke field in the Kurdis-
tan region of Iraq restarted in February 2011, 

leading to a substantial increase in production 
from this field. dno’s production from Tawke 
reached a record level in 2011, which gave dno 
a total working interest (WI) production for the 
full year of 39,966 barrels of oil per day (bopd) 
against 17,381 bopd in 2010. The increased pro-
duction combined with improved understand-
ing of the geology and reservoir properties has 
lead to a significant increase in the estimated 
reserves for the Tawke field.

operating revenues reached a record level of 
noK 2,070 million for 2011, an increase of 65 
percent over the previous year, with a net profit 
for the full year of noK 653 million. Increased 
production and revenues from the Tawke 
field are the main reasons for the increase in 
revenues and net profit.

The merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MEnA 
operating subsidiaries was approved by share-
holders on 1 november 2011. The merger was 
completed and registered on 10 January 2012. 
Following the merger, dno now also holds 
licenses in oman, the United Arab Emirates 
and Tunisia.

The company disposed of its 11.7 percent 
ownership interest in det norske oljeselskap 
ASA in August 2011 for noK 521 million, regis-
tering a gain of noK 255 million.

The company’s shares were readmitted to 
the list of the 25 most liquid shares on the oslo 
Stock Exchange in June 2011.

Operational review
Exploration
KURDIsTAN REgION Of IRAq
Dohuk. The Summail-1 commitment well in the 
dohuk license was spudded on 19 April 2011. 
Results from the testing operations undertaken 
in this well confirmed the presence of heavy 
crude oil in the Jurassic interval and natural 
gas in the Cretaceous interval. The gas-bearing 
interval in the Cretaceous flowed at a maximum 
rate of 11 million standard cubic feet per day 
(scf/d). Sustainable rates were not achieved dur-
ing the tests of the oil bearing Jurassic intervals 
and the results were therefore inconclusive. dno 
and its partners will evaluate the significance of 

the discoveries in the Summail-1 well through 
alternative methods for re-testing these zones at 
a later stage. A 3d seismic acquisition across the 
entire Summail structure will be undertaken as 
part of the 2012 work programme. 

Tawke. drilling of the Peshkhabir-1 exploration 
well in the Tawke license started on 4 Septem-
ber 2011. The objective of the well was to test 
the hydrocarbon potential in the Cretaceous, 
Jurassic and Triassic formations. oil shows have 
been observed while drilling through the top 
interval of Cretaceous section and an open-
hole drill Stem Test (dST) confirmed movable 
oil. drilling subsequently proceeded through 
the remaining part of the Cretaceous and into 
the Jurassic and Triassic intervals and this has 
continued into 2012.

YEMEN
In Block 47, the Alsaiq-1 exploration well was 
spudded on 17 March 2011 and drilled to a total of 
2,960 metres. oil shows were encountered and 
tested, but hydrocarbons did not flow to the sur-
face. The well has been plugged and abandoned.

In Block 72, the drilling of Gabdain-2 com-
menced on 11 February 2011, targeting a Qishn 
reservoir prospect penetrated down-dip at the 
Gabdain-1 location. The well did not encounter 
hydrocarbon flows and has been plugged and 
abandoned. 

TUNIsIA
on 20 october 2011, dno signed a prospecting 
concession with the Tunisian authorities (ETAP) 
for the Fkirine exploration license. Located in 
central Tunisia, the permit covers an area of  
2,064 square kilometres. dno will fund the 
exploration phase and ETAP has the option to 
participate at a 50 percent working interest in 
any discovery on this permit. dno will acquire 
200 kilometres of 2d seismic in 2012 as part of 
the work programme on the Fkirine license. 

From 2012, the Hammamet offshore license 
(non-operated) is also part of dno’s portfolio 
following the merger with RAK Petroleum’s 
MEnA assets. dno has a 30 percent working 
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interest in this license, where the commercial 
potential of the Fushia discovery is being 
reviewed. 

dno is also pursuing other opportunities 
within Tunisia and has opened an office in Tunis. 

OTHER AREAs
Mozambique. In Mozambique, the Inhaminga 
High-1 exploration well was drilled in February 
2011 and was tested in a possible hydrocarbon 
bearing interval. However, no flow was achieved 
during the test. The well has been plugged and 
abandoned. The Inhaminga license expired in 
June 2011, and dno has subsequently discontin-
ued its activities in Mozambique. 

UK. The P1067 license was relinquished at 
the end of September 2011 as planned. The 
relinquishment report has been submitted to 
the authorities. dno has no activity on the UK 
Continental Shelf following the relinquishment 
of P1067.

Equatorial guinea. dno has a 5 percent 
interest in the offshore Block P. As this asset 
is considered non-core business for dno, a 
process for selling the asset has been ongoing 
through 2011. A sale and purchase agreement is 
now signed with Crown Energy.

Appraisal and field development
KURDIsTAN REgION Of IRAq 
Tawke. Flowlines to connect the two of the 
previous drilled development wells (Tawke-3 
and Tawke-12) to the Central Production Facil-
ity (CPF) were completed in March 2011, and 
facilities were installed at the Fishkabour tie-in 
area to handle third party exports (i.e., oil 
exports from other fields in Kurdistan). drilling 
of the Tawke-13 development well started on 
25 June 2011 and was completed during the 
third quarter.

The Tawke-16 appraisal well designed to 
probe and appraise the undrilled northern  
flank of the Tawke field, was spudded in late 
december 2011. It reached a total depth of  
2,369 metres and encountered over 350 

metres of gross continuous oil column in the 
Cretaceous interval, recording a cumulative 
flow rate of 25,000 bopd from five tested in-
tervals. The well will be connected to existing 
pipeline and processing facilities, increasing 
the Tawke field’s deliverability. Tawke-16 is the 
first of four wells targeting the Cretaceous 
interval that are planned for 2012, while a 
fifth well, Tawke deep, will also penetrate the 
deeper Jurassic and Triassic intervals in the 
field this year.

Erbil. In the Erbil license the company was 
able to demonstrate the commercial viability 
of the Benenan and Bastora fields. As part of 
the appraisal work, the discovery well Bastora-1 
was side-tracked and a horizontal section of 
660 metres was drilled. This is reportedly the 
first horizontal well ever drilled in Iraq. The well 
proved significant increases in the test output 
compared with the vertical wellbore; this was 
essential information as we designed further 
the field development. 

A declaration of commerciality for the com-
bined Benenan and Bastora discoveries was 
filed on 25 June 2011. A field development plan 
was submitted in december 2011 and subse-
quently approved by the Kurdistan Regional 
Government (KRG) in February 2012. 

YEMEN
Block 47. notice of commerciality for the first 
phase of the development of the Yaalen field 
in Block 47 was submitted to the Yemen oil 
Ministry on 20 March 2011. The local processing 
capacity in the first phase of the development 
is planned at 5,000 bopd with trucking to the 
facilities at the neighboring nabrajah field in 
Block 43 for subsequent export through the 
existing export pipeline. In phase 2, the plan is 
to increase capacity to 10,000 bopd through 
pipeline tie-in to nabrajah. due to the political 
situation in Yemen, delays in the project ap-
proval process have affected the start up of the 
bidding process for the field development, and 
first oil is now expected in the second quarter 
of 2013.

Production. The average WI production to 
dno in 2011 was approximately 40,000 bopd, 
an all time high. The monthly production levels 
during the year were affected by the variable 
deliveries from the Tawke field. A maximum 
monthly WI production of 51,000 bopd was 
achieved in May when the Tawke field was 
producing approximately 70,000 bopd, its 
current capacity level. The annual average WI 
production from Yemen was approximately 
5,000 bopd, showing an expected decline.

Reserves. dno’s total working interest remain-
ing oil reserves (P50) are estimated at 371.9 
million barrels of oil equivalent (mboe) at the 
end of 2011, compared to 194.2 mboe at year-
end 2010. Including contingent resources, the 
volumes are 393.5 mboe versus 211.2 mboe at 
the end of 2010. The reason for the increase is 
higher estimated reserves in the Tawke field. 
The recovery factor at Tawke has increased 
primarily based on updated geological and 
reservoir technical evaluations incorporating 
recent production performance and pressure 
data. This has resulted in an estimate of the 
gross ultimate recoverable P50 reserves at 
Tawke of 615 mboe at year-end 2011. 

dno’s net entitlement proven and probable 
reserves at the end of 2011 are estimated at 
102.1 mboe versus 63.7 mboe at year-end 2010.

Financial performance 2011
Revenues, profits and cash flow. dno 
achieved record operating revenues of noK  
2,070 million in 2011 (noK 1,252 million in 
2010). Export payments related to Tawke oil of 
USd 104 million received in June 2011 and USd 
60 million received in September 2011 were 
significant contributors. The operating profit 
for the year increased to noK 658 million (noK 
157 million in 2010) and the net profit was noK 
653 (noK -283 million in 2010). The net finance 
items in 2011 were noK 70 million (noK -363 
million in 2010) and included noK 255 million 
in profit from the divestment of the company’s 
11.7 percent interest in det norske oljeselskap 
ASA. The cash position was noK 1,645 million 
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at year-end, up from noK 1,385 million a year 
earlier, mainly due to strong operating cash 
flow and divestments. 

Cost of goods sold and lifting costs. In 2011, 
the total cost of goods sold was noK 1,166 mil-
lion compared with noK 619 million for 2010. 
All cost of goods sold related to the opera-
tions of the Tawke field have been charged to 
expense. Lifting costs were noK 405 million 
(noK 302 million in 2010). The lifting cost per 
barrel was further reduced to USd 2 for the 
Kurdistan operations, reducing the company’s 
lifting costs per barrel to USd 5. Lifting costs 
per barrel in Yemen increased in 2011 primarily 
due to lower production volumes. 

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation 
(DD&A). Total dd&A costs were noK 761 mil-
lion compared with noK 317 million for 2010. 
The dd&A costs include noK 126 million in 
previously capitalized production costs related 
to the Tawke export production in 2009. All 
depreciation charges related to the Tawke field 
have been expensed in 2011. 

Exploration cost expensed. Total expensed 
exploration for the full year was noK 103 
million compared to noK 56 million in 2010. 
The increase is mainly due to dry well costs in 
Mozambique (Inhaminga High-1) and in Yemen 
(Alsaiq-1 in Block 47). 

Acquisition and development costs. Total 
capital expenditure for 2011 was noK 422 mil-
lion compared with noK 152 million in 2010. 
The main costs are related to development of 
the Benenan and Bastora discoveries in the 
Erbil license, infill drilling and other projects 
at the Tawke field and drilling of the Sum-
mail well in the dohuk license, all located in 
Kurdistan. 

Impairment charges. no impairment charges 
were considered necessary for the producing 
blocks in Yemen or Kurdistan for 2011. However, 
an assessment of the value of dno’s license 

interest in Equatorial Guinea resulted in an 
impairment charge of noK 29 million. noK 
19 million of the previous impairment charge 
on Block 43 in Yemen was reversed in 2011. 
due to a positive change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the impairment loss was initially 
recognized.

Assets, liabilities and equity. Total assets  
at year-end were noK 5,036 million (noK  
5,393 million at year-end 2010). The shares 
in det norske oljeselskap ASA were sold 
in 2011 reducing current assets. Inventories 
were lower at year-end, mainly due to the 
previously capitalized 2009 production costs 
related to Tawke exports. The net increase in 
cash of noK 260 million (including foreign 
exchange gain on cash) was mainly due to the 
sale of shares together with strong operating 
cash flow for the year. The equity ratio was 
42.8 percent and the ratio between current 
assets and current liabilities was 131 percent. 
net interest bearing debt was positive at year-
end with noK 109 million (-noK 428 million at 
year-end 2010). 

In April 2011, new five-year bond issues of 
USd 140 million and noK 560 million were 
completed at a floating interest rate of LIBoR/
nIBoR + 7.50 percent. In connection with the 
issue dno purchased the aggregate of USd 
170.3 million and noK 307.5 million of its out-
standing bonds. 

during 2011, dno completed a share buyback 
programme and its treasury share holding was 
80,000,000 shares at year-end. These shares 
were used as partial consideration for the 
acquisition of the RAK Petroleum MEnA assets, 
completed in January 2012.

going concern. The Board finds that the as-
sumptions for future and continued operations 
have not been changed as the basis for ap-
proving the 2011 accounts, and as a conse-
quence these annual accounts are based on the 
going concern assumption, in accordance with 
§ 3-3a of the norwegian Accounting Act.

Corporate Governance
Corporate governance covers the interaction 
between the owners, the Board of directors 
and the management of a company. Good cor-
porate governance enables shareholder value 
to be maximized while reducing business risk, 
and ensuring that the company’s resources are 
utilized in an optimal manner. Good corporate 
governance is an important factor in dno’s 
strategy for obtaining its goals. 

dno seeks to ensure compliance with the 
norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance (nUES) and international recom-
mendations and codes. The Board of directors 
performs an annual review of the nUES and a 
description of dno’s compliance is set out in 
the Corporate Governance statement included 
in this annual report.

Work of the Board. The Board of directors held 
20 meetings in 2011. Key strategic and opera-
tional issues that were covered included:

  Close monitoring of the operational and 
financial performance of the group, including 
Quality, Health, Security and Environment 
(QHSE).
  The merger with the MEnA subsidiaries of 
RAK Petroleum.

  Strategic rebalancing of dno’s portfolio with 
focus on the Middle East and north Africa 
region. 

  Assessment of development investments 
and exploration expenditures in dno’s key 
projects. 

   Measures to strengthen the company’s finan-
cial flexibility, including completion of the 
five year bond issues and divestment of the 
share holding in det norske oljeselskap ASA.

  Changes in the Board composition, with the 
election of Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani as new 
Chairman of the Board and Karen Sund as a 
new Board member. 

  Supervision of risk management processes 
and internal control reporting.

The Board has in 2011 had two subcommittees. 
The audit committee consists of two mem-
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bers and held four meetings in 2011. The audit 
committee reviewed the annual and quarterly 
reports, risk management and reporting, and 
internal and external audit work. In addition, 
the audit committee evaluated the internal 
control related to the financial reporting. dno’s 
compensation committee is nominated by 
the Board and consists of two members. The 
committee considers questions related to 
compensation to the Managing director and 
senior management and prepares and presents 
recommendations to the Board. The remunera-
tion committee held one meeting in 2011.

Risk management
dno has established an integrated system for 
risk management, which is described in a risk 
management policy approved by the Board 
of directors. The principles for risk manage-
ment are based on the framework in CoSo 
(Committee of Sponsoring organizations of 
the Treadway Commission) and recognized 
international industry standards within the 
area of internal control and risk management. 
due to the nature of dno’s business, some 
of the identified risks, such as political and 
security issues, are outside of the company’s 
direct control. 

financial risk. Risks related to the oil price, 
interest rates and currency exchange rates con-
stitute financial risks for the Group. Financial 
risk management is carried out by a central 
treasury function and seeks to minimize the 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s finan-
cial performance. derivative financial instru-
ments are sometimes used to hedge certain 
risk exposures.

Entitlement risk. dno has interests in three 
licenses in Kurdistan through Production 
Sharing Contracts (PSC) with the KRG and 
has based its entitlement calculations on the 
terms in these PSCs. Although dno’s manage-
ment believe that dno has good title to its oil 
and gas assets and the rights to explore for 
and produce oil and gas from these assets in 

Kurdistan, the Iraq oil Ministry has historically 
challenged the validity of the PSCs entered into 
by the KRG, and thereby also the right and title 
of dno to its oil and gas assets.

In January 2011, the KRG and the Federal Gov-
ernment of Iraq agreed to resume oil exports 
from Kurdistan. oil export started in February 
and payments have been made from the Iraqi 
government to the KRG, although not in full. Un-
certainty still remains with respect to payments 
for oil that is exported from the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq, and payments made to dno to date 
have not corresponded to the revenues to which 
dno is entitled under its PSCs.

To the extent that dno is limited in its abil-
ity to export oil from Kurdistan as a result of  
continuing disagreements between the Federal 
Government of Iraq and the KRG, there can 
be no guarantee that oil can be delivered to 
the local market in sufficient quantities or at 
reasonable prices to sustain operations and 
growth plans. There is a risk that the Federal 
Government of Iraq will continue to challenge 
the validity of the contracts entered into by KRG, 
and the establishment of a new federal oil and 
gas law may be delayed. Any change to existing 
contract terms could have an adverse effect on 
the value of dno’s assets and revenue stream. 

Political risk. The stability in parts of the 
Middle East deteriorated in 2011 due to  
political protests that started in the latter  
part of 2010 and came to be known as the 

“Arab Spring.” In Kurdistan, the political 
situation remained stable and security was 
maintained at a satisfactory level. In Yemen, 
there was severe unrest, mainly in the capital 
Sana’a, but also in other cities. The unrest 
culminated in the replacement of President Ali 
Abdullah Saleh by Abed Rabbo Mansour Hadi 
in February 2012. 

dno has taken several measures to improve 
security for its employees in Yemen and has 
managed to maintain operations according 
to plans, although progress in some projects 
has been delayed as a result of the unrest. The 
development is closely monitored, both at busi-

ness unit level and at corporate level. At present, 
the situation in Yemen is manageable for dno.

In January 2012, dno merged with RAK 
Petroleum’s MEnA operating subsidiaries. 
operations and licenses acquired through the 
merger are located in the United Arab Emirates, 
oman and Tunisia. The operating environment 
in these countries is currently considered to be 
stable and secure and hence the merger has 
contributed to reducing political risk through 
diversification of the group’s operations.

For further information about the financial 
risk management objectives and policies and 
other risks, see note 9 in the consolidated ac-
counts and the section on risk on page 42.

Corporate Responsibility (CR)
dno recognizes that CR is about continuous 
improvement, the ability to be vigilant and 
the maintenance of an open dialogue with our 
stakeholders. our operations embody both 
short and long-term objectives, guiding our 
strategic direction. We believe that success in 
the end depends on our ability to understand 
and respond to the needs and interests of 
stakeholders.

our CR approach is based on our CR vision. 
Everywhere we operate, we seek to minimize 
negative effects caused by our activities. It 
is an integral part of our business to ensure 
respect for human rights, take responsibility 
as an employer, minimize our effect on the 
environment, not engage in corruption, and 
maintain a transparent corporate culture to-
wards all our stakeholders. We consider this to 
be a necessary and natural part of the way we 
carry out our operations.

Aligned with our vision dno has developed 
systems that enable us to maintain and imple-
ment governing documents, policies, manuals, 
guidelines and procedures throughout the 
company. This constitutes our CR platform. It 
is an essential part of dno’s business strategy, 
mapping our approach to critical stakeholder 
issues. All CR initiatives seek to support our 
objectives, and we have identified seven key 
areas of particular concern:
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 Improve and develop QHSE issues
  Support and respect the protection of hu-
man rights and values

  Comply with ILo Standards as far as practi-
cable and within local legislations

  Have a zero-tolerance against both the giv-
ing and receiving of bribes or other ways of 
corruption, including extortion

  Ensure all employees and sub-contractors 
comply with our Code of Conduct

  As far as practicable, purchase goods and 
services locally

  Identify social projects that are relevant and 
yield high returns for both the local com-
munity and the company

during 2011 dno continued the implementa-
tion of its CR policies across the company.

Our people. our people are the backbone of 
our business. We seek to attract and retain 
talented people by providing dynamic career 
opportunities in an international and fast 
moving work environment. dno operates in 
various cultures, and diversity in the work-
force is a consideration in the development of 
dno’s business. We prefer to hire locally when 
possible, to gain local insights and knowledge. 
In all our operations, we respect employees’ 
right to freedom of association and collective 
bargaining in compliance with local laws.

Organisation and Personnel
At the end of 2011, dno had a total workforce 
of 580 people: 43 are based in norway and 537 
in our international operations. This compares 
with a total workforce of 565 at the end of 
2010. Following the RAK Petroleum merger 
the total staff at the end of March 2012 was 
649. dno has a strong cultural and national 
diversity amongst the workforce in the head 
office in oslo, where a total of nine nationalities 
are represented.

our equal opportunity statistics show that 
women accounted for 31 percent of the overall 
workforce in norway. Three of dno’s five board 
members at the end of 2011 were women. 

Quality, health, safety and  
Environment (QhsE)
It is the company’s policy to establish and maintain 
annual QHSE plans to ensure and document con-
tinuous improvement in this field. These plans are 
coordinated between corporate and business units 
on a regular basis and in order to secure completion 
by year-end and progress is reported quarterly.

dno considers that excelling in QHSE is an 
integral part of risk management. Therefore, we 
focus on identifying QHSE risks that may prevent 
us from achieving our goals. Throughout the past 
years we have made significant investments in 
developing systems, competence and routines. 
our Business Management System (BMS) 
provides the company with a standard platform 
aimed at maintaining prudent operations. We 
have an iterative risk process and methodology 
that starts at the corporate level and is imple-
mented throughout the various business units 
and their projects. The outcome of all evalua-
tions is documented and communicated to the 
respective units and the Board of directors.

Health and safety. For dno, our people are 
in all aspects our most important resource 
for success. We continually strive to create a 
healthy, safe environment for employees, con-
tractors and for the communities in which we 
operate. The application of acknowledged risk 
reduction principles is intended to eliminate or 
minimize any exposure to people’s safety.

At year-end 2011, the status within the HSE 
performance was as follows (incident fre-
quency per one million man-hours):
Lost time incident frequency  
(LTIF goal 1.0): 0.63
Total recordable incident frequency  
(TRIF goal 3.0): 3.17
Vehicle incident frequency   
(VIF goal 3.0): 1.75

Sickness absence in dno was 1.9 percent in 
2011, compared with 3 percent in 2010.

Environment. dno’s approach to environmen-
tal and climate issues is based on the belief 

that a clear environmental profile and good en-
vironmental performance are required for sus-
tainable operations. We endorse international 
and country specific environmental obligations 
relevant to the activities we perform. 

dno sets short- and long-term business 
targets for reducing both Co

2 emissions and 
energy consumption. In addition, the company 
has a zero tolerance towards unplanned dis-
charges into the environment. If any unplanned 
discharges occur, the management is immedi-
ately notified and measures are taken to pre-
vent future incidents. We also invest consider-
able resources into minimizing and eliminating 
our environmental footprint through specific 
restoration projects. 

dno registered 14 environmental incidents 
during 2011, none of which were of a seri-
ous character by volume or toxicity. dno has 
continuously developed Environmental Impact 
Assessments (EIA) for all licenses. The EIAs 
produced comply with the standard developed 
by the World Bank, and identify sensitivities 
and risks relevant to the licenses. The risks 
identified are mitigated through specially 
designed environmental programmes. dno 
reports environmental performance in accor-
dance with local regulations, Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) and rating agencies like Carbon 
disclosure Project (CdP).

Main events since year-end
The main event affecting the company since 
year-end 2011 has been the completion of the 
merger of RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating 
subsidiaries into dno on 10 January 2012. The 
integration of the operations and staff has 
proceeded quickly thereafter. Assets acquired 
through the merger include seven operated 
blocks in the Sultanate of oman and the United 
Arab Emirates, of which one is in the produc-
tion phase, three are in the exploration phase 
and three are undergoing appraisal for possible 
development/redevelopment. A non-operated 
30 percent interest in the Hammamet offshore 
license in Tunisia was also acquired.

As part of the merger agreement, dno in-

Report 2011
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creased its share capital by noK 18,355,585.75 
by issuing 73,422,343 new shares. These new 
shares have been transferred to RAK Petroleum 
PCL as partial consideration for the merger. An 
additional 80,000,000 treasury shares were 
transferred from dno to RAK Petroleum as 
further consideration. Following the capital 
increase, the share capital in dno Interna-
tional ASA is noK 255,819,813.75 comprised of 
1,023,279,255 shares of noK 0.25 each.

In January 2012, dno paid USd 31.2 million 
to RAK Petroleum as a working capital adjust-
ment pursuant to the integration agreement. 
The financial results for the operations acquired 
through the merger with RAK Petroleum’s 
MEnA assets will be consolidated into dno 
accounts from 1 January 2012. 

Outlook
dno expects production to continue to in-
crease into 2012, as the company plans to build 
additional capacity during the year through 
facility upgrades and drilling of development 
wells. dno will commence work to upgrade 
the production capacity of the Tawke facilities 
to 100,000 bopd from the present capacity 
of 70,000 bopd. As part of this upgrade, dno 
plans to drill four development wells at the 
Tawke field.

dno has an extensive drilling plan for 2012, 
with a total of 18 wells expected to be drilled 
during the year. In Kurdistan, the completion 
and testing of the Tawke-16 well was reported 
in March 2012. The well flowed at a cumula-
tive rate in excess of 25,000 bopd of 26-27º 
API gravity oil from multiple, independently 
tested zones. In oman, the first of a three well 
development drilling programme in Block 
8 is currently ongoing. The first well (West 
Bukha-5) is scheduled for completion in the 
second quarter of 2012. In Yemen, the company 
expects to recommence drilling during the first 
half of 2012.

In the Erbil license in Kurdistan, the Benenan 
and Bastora development plan was submitted 
in december 2011. The first stage of the devel-
opment plan is scheduled to start in the second 

quarter of 2012, including drilling of two hori-
zontal development wells back-to-back.

our investment programme for 2012 includes 
noK 1 billion in development capital expen-
diture and noK 250 million in exploration 
expenditure.

Work has also started in preparation for 
the planned London listing of the company’s 
shares, and subject to market conditions a 
dual listing in oslo/London could occur around 
mid-2012.

dno is now entering a new era with exciting 
opportunities ahead. The company seeks to 
continue to expand and grow into a significant-
ly larger player in the Middle East and north 
Africa region.

Parent company 
The parent company reported a net loss in 2011 
of noK 215 million compared to a net loss for 
2010 of noK 60 million. The net loss for 2011 is 
highly influenced by the write down of shares 
and receivables in subsidiaries of noK 236 
million. Total assets as of 31 december 2011 
were noK 4,743 million. The long-term inter-
company receivables were noK 1,381 million at 
year-end 2011. The company’s cash balance at 
year-end 2011 was noK 1,528 million compared 
to noK 1,328 million for 2010, mainly increased 
by proceeds from the sale of shares in det nor-
ske oljeselskap ASA. Total shareholders’ equity 
at 31 december 2011 was noK 1,446 million 
compared to noK 2,219 million at the end of 
2010. The equity ratio decreased to 30 percent 
from 45 percent in 2010. no ordinary dividend 
is proposed for 2011 as the Board believes that 
investment in the company’s exploration and 
development programme will deliver increased 
shareholder returns in the future.

The company’s unrestricted equity as of 31 
december 2011 totaled noK 957 million. The 
Board proposes that the annual loss of noK 
215 million is transferred from other equity.

Oslo, 30 April 2012

Bijan MossavarRahmani
Chairman of the Board

gunnar Hirsti
Deputy Chairman

shelley Watson
Board Member

Marit Instanes
Board Member

Karen sund
Board Member

Helge Eide
Managing Director
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Responsibility statement 
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consoli-
dated financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 
december 2011 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
and give a fair view of dno’s and the Group’s assets, li-
abilities, financial position and results for the period viewed 
in their entirety, and that the Board of directors report 
includes a fair review of any significant events that arose 
during the period and their effect on the financial report, 
any significant related parties’ transactions and a descrip-
tion of the significant risks and uncertainties for the Group.

Bijan MossavarRahmani
Chairman of the Board

gunnar Hirsti
Deputy Chairman

shelley Watson
Board Member

Responsibility statement
Board of Directors

Marit Instanes
Board Member

Karen sund
Board Member

Helge Eide
Managing Director

Oslo, 30 April 2012
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income 

NOK mill Note 2011 2010

Sales 2, 3  2 070,2   1 251,8 
Cost of goods sold 4  -1 039,5   -618,7 
Expensing of capitalized 2009 production costs 4  -126,2   -   
Gross profit   904,5   633,1 
   
other operating income   7,2   8,9 
Tariffs and transportation   -8,8   -22,8 
Administrative expense / other operating expenses 5  -132,1   -406,3 
Impairment / Reversal impairment oil and gas assets 10  -10,1   -   
Exploration cost expensed 6  -103,1   -56,2 
net gain / -loss from sale of PP&E 10  -     0,1 
Profit from operating activities   657,7   156,8 
   
Financial income 7  361,0   44,7 
Financial expenses 7  -290,6   -407,7 
Profit / -loss before income tax   728,2   -206,2 
   
Income tax expense 8  -74,9   -76,6 
Net profit / -loss   653,2   -282,9 
   
OThEr COmPrEhENSivE iNCOmE   
Currency translation differences 15  39,7   0,8 
Fair value changes available-for-sale financial assets 12  -86,4   96,8 
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 8  -46,7   97,6 
Total comprehensive income, net of tax   606,5   -185,2 
   
net profit / -loss attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent   653,2   -282,9 
   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent   606,5   -185,2 
   
Earnings per share, basic 20  0,70   -0,31 
Earnings per share, diluted 20  0,70   -0,31

1 January - 31 december
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Consolidated statements of financial position

ASSETS (NOK mill) Note 2011 2010
   
NON-CurrENT ASSETS   
deferred income tax assets 8  50,1   -   
other intangible assets 10  691,5   930,7 
Property, plant and equipment 10  2 259,2   2 212,8 
Available for sale investments 12  -     360,0 
Total non-current assets   3 000,7   3 503,5 
   
CurrENT ASSETS   
Inventories 4  93,5   211,6 
Trade and other receivables 13  297,6   290,3 
other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14  -     2,6 
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 14  7,7   7,2 
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted 14  1 637,1   1 377,5 
Total current assets   2 035,8   1 889,2 
   
TOTAL ASSETS   5 036,5   5 392,7 
   
EQuiTY AND LiABiLiTiES
   
EQuiTY   
Share capital 15  217,5   237,5 
other reserves 15  275,1   870,1 
Retained earnings 15  1 665,2   1 001,6 
Total equity   2 157,7   2 109,1 
   
NON-CurrENT LiABiLiTiES   
Interest-bearing liabilities 16  1 377,4   1 555,5 
deferred income tax liabilities 8  84,0   65,5 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 17  173,6   403,2 
Total non-current liabilities   1 634,9   2 024,2 
   
CurrENT LiABiLiTiES   
Trade and other payables 19  85,8   552,2 
Income taxes payable 8  23,6   13,9 
Current interest-bearing liabilities 16  265,0   257,5 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 17  869,5   435,8 
Total current liabilities   1 243,9   1 259,4 
   
TOTAL EQuiTY AND LiABiLiTiES   5 036,5   5 392,7 

As at 31 december

oslo, 30 April 2012

 Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani  Gunnar Hirsti  Shelley Watson
 Chairman of the Board  Deputy Chairman  Board Member

 Marit Instanes  Karen Sund  Helge Eide
  Board Member  Board Member  Managing Director



64 // Accounts dno 2011

with note disclosures
Consolidated accounts

Consolidated cash flow statements 

NOK mill Note 2011 2010
 
OPErATiNG ACTiviTiES  
Profit / -loss from operating activities before income tax   728,2   -206,2  
Adjustments to add (deduct) non-cash items:
+/- net interest expense (-income)   99,1   95,2  
Previously capitalised exploration and evaluation expenses 6  49,0   17,2  
depreciation of PPE 4  760,9   317,0  
Impairment loss on PPE/Reversal of impairment loss on PPE 10  10,1  -
Loss/-gain on PPE   -     -0,1  
Loss/-gain on shares 7  -259,5   -8,3  
Impairment/Reversal impairment of financial assets 12  0,3   204,6  
other *   66,1   90,6  
Changes in working capital:    
- Inventories 4  -8,0   -54,2  
- Trade and other receivables 13  -7,3   -93,2  
- other financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 7, 12  2,6   -0,8  
- Trade and other payables 19  -466,5   361,3  
- Provisions for other liabilities and charges   120,3   4,2 
Cash generated from operations   1 095,3   727,2 
Income taxes paid   -97,0   -94,0 
Interest paid 7  -119,1   -108,3  
Net cash from / -used in operating activities   879,2   524,9 
   
iNvESTiNG ACTiviTiES   
Purchases of intangible assets 10  -191,8   -95,1 
Purchases of tangible assets 10  -229,5   -115,0  
Proceeds from sale of tangible assets   -     0,1  
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets 12  -13,8   -7,3  
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 12  549,6   25,9  
Interest received   19,8   13,1  
Net cash from / -used in investing activities   134,2   -178,3 
   
fiNANCiNG ACTiviTiES   
Proceeds from borrowings 16  1 309,1   -   
Repayment of borrowings 16  -1 527,4   -1,4  
Purchase of treasury shares, including options 16  -558,0   -   
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 16  -     367,1  
Proceeds from issuance of shares, net 16  -     348,6  
Net cash from / -used in financing activities   -776,3   714,3 
   
Net increase / -decrease in cash and cash equivalents   237,1   1 061,1 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period   1 384,7   303,4  
Exchange gain / -losses on cash and cash equivalents   23,0   20,2  
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 14  1 644,8   1 384,7 
    
Hereof restricted cash  7,7 7,2 
   
 
* Included in the line other under operating activities are foreign currency related to interest-bearing loans and equity, acquisition/disposals of PP&E  
with non-cash effect, change in accruals of long-term liabilities with non-cash effect and other non-cash items from investing and financing activities.    
 

Years ended 31 december
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity 

NOK mill Note Share Capital Other reserves retained Earnings Total Equity
 
Balance at 1 January 2011  237,5 870,1 1 001,6 2 109,1
 
Reclassification within equity   -     -10,4   10,4   -   
Fair value gains, net of tax:     
 - available-for-sale financial assets   -     -86,4   -     -86,4 
Currency translation differences   -     39,7   -     39,7 
other comprehensive income / -loss   -     -46,7   -     -46,7 
Profit for the period   -     -     653,2   653,2 
Total comprehensive income   -     -46,7   653,2   606,5 
 
Issue of share capital   -     -   -     - 
Purchase of treasury shares   -20,0   -537,9   -     -557,9 
Sale of treasury shares   -     -     -     -   
derivative contracts treasury shares   -     -     -     -   
   -20,0   -537,9   -     -557,9 
 
Balance at 31 December 2011 15  217,5   275,1   1 665,2   2 157,7 
     
     
NOK mill Note Share Capital Other reserves retained Earnings Total Equity
     
     
Balance at 1 January 2010   213,7   80,6   1 284,4   1 578,7 
     
Fair value gains, net of tax:     
 - available-for-sale financial assets   -     96,8   -     96,8 
Currency translation differences   -     0,8   -     0,8 
other comprehensive income / -loss   -     97,6   -     97,6 
Loss for the period   -     -     -282,9   -282,9 
Total comprehensive income   -     97,6   -282,9   -185,2 
 
Issue of share capital   11,3   337,3   -     348,6 
Purchase of treasury shares   -     -     -     -   
Sale of treasury shares   12,5   354,6   -     367,1 
derivative contracts treasury shares sold   -     -     -     -   
   23,8   691,9   -     715,7 
     
Balance at 31 December 2010 15  237,5   870,1   1 001,6   2 109,1 
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Principal activities and corporate information
dno International ASA (dno) is an international exploration and pro-
duction company engaged in the acquisition, development and opera-
tion of oil and gas properties. 

dno is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in nor-
way at Stranden 1, Aker Brygge, n-0113 oslo. dno International ASA is 
the ultimate parent of the Group and the Company’s shares are listed on 
the oslo Stock Exchange. dno International ASA has its registered office 
in oslo. The Group’s operating activities are mainly undertaken in the 
Middle East and Africa.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of dno have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU. The financial statements of the parent company and 
all subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with the norwegian 
Accounting Act. The consolidated financial statements were approved by 
the Board of directors on 30 April 2012. 

Basis for preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis, with the following exemption: 
•  All derivatives, financial assets and liabilities held for trading, 
•  Liabilities related to share-based payments, financial assets that are 

classified as available-for-sale and inventories as a result of the net 
entitlement method, are recognised at fair value.

As permitted by IAS 1, the statement of comprehensive income is pre-
sented on a mixed basis as a blend of expenses by nature and function, 
as this gives the most relevant and reliable presentation for the Group. 

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previ-
ous financial year, except for the following new and amended standards 
and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2011:

•  IAS 24 Related Party disclosures (amendment) effective 1 January 2011
•   Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010):
•  IFRS 3 Business Combinations – measurement options available for 

non-controlling interest (nCI) effective 1 July 2010
•  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures – collateral and qualitative 

disclosures
•   IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – analysis of other compre-

hensive income
The impact of adoption of these standards or interpretations is de-
scribed below.

IAS 24 Related party disclosures (amendment)
The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the identifi-
cation of related party relationships, particularly in relation to significant 
influence or joint control. The new definitions emphasise a symmetrical 
view on related party relationships as well as clarify in which circum-
stances persons and key management personnel affect related party 
relationships of an entity. While the adoption of the amendment did not 
have any current impact on the financial position or performance, or 

disclosures of the Group, as all required information is currently being 
appropriately captured and disclosed, it is relevant to the application 
of the Group’s accounting policy in identifying future potential related 
party relationships.

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment)
The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an entity 

is subject to minimum funding requirements (MFR) and makes an early 
payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The amendment 
permits a prepayment of future service cost by the entity to be recog-
nised as a pension asset.

The Group is not subject to minimum funding requirements and there-
fore the amendment had no effect on the financial position, financial 
performance, stated accounting policy or other disclosures of the Group.

improvements to ifrSs (issued in may 2010)
In May 2010, the IASB issued its third omnibus of amendments to its 
standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying 
wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each amendment. 
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to the 
stated accounting policies of the Group, but did not have any impact on 
the financial position or performance of the Group on initial application.
•  IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Measurement of non-controlling 

interests (nCI): The measurement options available for nCI have been 
amended. only components of nCI that constitute a present ownership 
interest that entitle the holder to a proportionate share of the entity’s 
net assets in the event of liquidation shall be measured either at:

•   Fair value or,
•  The present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the ac-

quiree’s identifiable net assets

All other components of nCI are to be measured at their acquisition 
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another 
IFRS, e.g. IFRS 2.

•  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures: The amendment was intended 
to simplify the disclosures required, by reducing the volume of disclo-
sures around collateral held and improving disclosures by requiring 
qualitative information to put the quantitative information in context.

•  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies 
that an entity has an option to present an analysis of other comprehen-
sive income by item, for each component of equity, either in the state-
ment of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting periods. 

Accounting estimates are employed in the financial statements to 
determine reported amounts, including the possibility for realisation of 

Note disclosures
Summary of IFRS accounting 
principles applicable for 2011

Note 1
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certain assets, the useful lives of tangible and intangible assets, and in-
come taxes. Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of historical experience, current events and actions, actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the underly-
ing assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in estimates 
will be recognised when new estimates are available at least at every 
balance sheet date.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty for dno relate to the following:
• revenue recognition
•  estimates of proven and probable reserves
•  timing of export payment for production from Tawke field and pay-

ment related to the Water Purification Project liability 
•  operating costs, including asset retirement costs, and other expenses
•  deferred tax assets and liability
•  impairment assumptions such as WACC, timing of cash flows and 

future investments

In addition to the above, there is general uncertainty related to seismic and 
geological models. Risk related to political issues in the countries dno oper-
ates, may also influence management judgements and estimates. 

See below for further details on important areas affected by estima-
tion uncertainty;

revenue recognition – The payment mechanism for oil export sales 
in Kurdistan is under development, and currently does not follow the 
PSC terms. The central Iraqi government is responsible for the sale and 
marketing of all oil export from Iraq, and currently determines the basis 
for allocation of revenues to the regional government in Kurdistan. As a 
result of this, it is uncertainty related to both timing of export revenue 
and receipt of payments. The recognition of export revenues are there-
fore made upon receipt of payment until a payment mechanism is well 
established.

reserves and resources estimates – oil and gas production properties 
are depreciated on a unit of production basis at a rate calculated by ref-
erence to total proved developed and undeveloped reserves determined 
in accordance with Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE) rules and 
incorporating the estimated future cost of developing those reserves. 
All estimates of oil and gas reserves and resources involve uncertainty. 
In its estimation, dno has applied deterministic or scenario based meth-
ods. The figures represent a most likely quantity of oil and gas that will 
be recovered from a field or reservoir given the information available at 
the end of the year (refer to note 24), calculated as dno’s entitlement 
to reserves under the PSCs.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from the 
estimates include among others: technical, geological and geotechni-
cal conditions, economic and market conditions, oil prices and changes 
in governmental regulations, interest rates and fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. Specific parameters of uncertainty related to the field/
reservoir include, but are not limited to; reservoir pressure and porosity, 
recovery factors, water cut development and production decline rates, 
gas/oil ratios and oil properties. 

Analogy to similar fields and reservoirs has been applied when produc-
tion history and information is limited and/or the field/reservoir has a 

complex structure. It is important to underline that the uncertainty span 
is larger for fields/reservoirs with limited field information and production 
history, compared to fields/reservoirs with longer production history. The 
contractors’ entitlement to annual production is determined based on the 
PSCs and subject to audit and confirmation by the KRG.

The estimates for reserves and resources are made in accordance with 
the guidelines advised by the SPE and are in conformity with require-
ments from the oslo Stock Exchange for reporting of reserves.

Future development costs (both committed and uncommitted) are es-
timated using assumptions as to the number of wells required to produce 
the commercial reserves, the cost of such wells and associated production 
facilities, and other capital costs.

Contingencies, provisions and litigations – By their nature, contingen-
cies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future events 
occur or fail to occur. The assessment of the existence, and potential 
quantum, of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant 
judgement and the use of estimates regarding the outcome of future 
events. Management must also use judgement to evaluate certain provi-
sions and litigations in order to ensure the correct accounting treatment. 
This includes the evaluation of future asset retirement obligations, pay-
ments under the Water Purification Project (WPP) (see note 17) and the 
timing of the export payments in Kurdistan.

impairment of oil and gas assets – Management must determine 
whether there are circumstances indicating a possible impairment of the 
Company’s oil and gas assets. The estimation of the recoverable amount 
for the oil and gas assets includes evaluation related to expected future 
cash flows and future market conditions, including entitlement produc-
tion and oil price and risk factors (discount rate).

Deferred tax assets and liability – deferred tax assets are recognised 
for the carry-forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax asset to be recognised. 
Specifically, the uncertainty is related to the timing and value of tax plan-
ning activities, as well as the general uncertainty related to the budget-
ing process. Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits 
depend on management’s estimates of future cash flows. These estimates 
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations 
(which are impacted by production and sales volumes, oil prices, reserves, 
operating costs, decommissioning costs, capital expenditure, dividends 
and other capital management transactions) and judgement about the 
application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that 
future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, 
the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at 
the reporting date could be impacted. In addition, future changes in tax 
laws in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could limit the ability 
of the Group to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 

deferred tax is also calculated for the activities in Yemen. To the 
extent that the government take includes a portion assigned to cover 
dno’s corporate tax eligible for classification as tax according to the 
IAS 12 definition, dno presents this element as an income tax expense 
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with a corresponding increase in revenue. A deferred tax liability is also 
recorded. Currently, deferred tax is not calculated for the activities in 
Kurdistan, as there is uncertainty related to the tax laws of Kurdistan 
and yet no well established tax regime for this region. As such, it has not 
been possible to measure the corporate tax paid on behalf of dno, and 
it is the judgment of the management that until a well established tax 
regime is in place, dno will not record a deferred tax liability. For further 
details on the potential liability, see note 8. 

 
risks associated with operating in the Kurdistan region of iraq – As a 
result of the historical and legal position of the Kurdistan region of Iraq, 
and the relationships of the Kurdistan Regional Government with the 
Federal Government of Iraq and with neighbouring countries such as 
Turkey, the dno Group and other international E&P companies operat-
ing in the Kurdistan region of Iraq face a number of risks specific to the 
Kurdistan Region as set forth below. The FGI has historically disputed the 
validity of the PSCs entered into by E&P companies with the KRG and 
there can be no assurance that the dno Group can protect its interests 
in assets in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. 

The dno Group holds interests in three licence areas in the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq, pursuant to PSCs with the KRG. The FGI has historically 
disputed the validity of PSCs entered into with the KRG and this dispute 
has not been resolved. Article 112 of the Iraqi Constitution of 15 october 
2005 (the “Iraqi Constitution”) provides for joint management of oil and 
gas extracted from present fields by the FGI and regional governments. 
Article 141 of the Iraqi Constitution provides that contracts entered into 
by the KRG prior to the adoption of the Iraqi Constitution in 2005 shall 
be considered valid unless they are amended or annulled pursuant to 
the laws of and by the competent entity in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, 
provided that they do not contradict with the Iraqi Constitution. What 
is required under Article 112, particularly in respect of PSCs entered 
into prior to the adoption of the Iraqi Constitution, is unclear. All of the 
dno Group’s PSCs were entered into by the KRG prior to the adoption 
of the Iraqi Constitution, but the fields were not producing at the time 
of adoption, however there can be no assurance that the dno Group’s 
PSCs are protected by the express grandfathering provisions of Article 
141 read in light of Article 112. Further development of its assets in the 
Kurdistan region of Iraq is a long-term key strategic priority for the dno 
Group. Should the FGI attempt to revoke or materially alter the PSCs 
held by the dno Group in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, it could disrupt or 
halt the dno Group’s operations in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, lead to 
administrative fines or penalties, subject the dno Group to contractual 
damages or delay or prevent the dno Group’s execution of its strategy, 
any of which could have a material adverse effect on the dno Group’s 
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. There 
can be no assurance that the dno Group will receive payments for its 
hydrocarbon exports.

All export sales from the Kurdistan region of Iraq are conducted by 
the State oil Marketing organisation of Iraq (SoMo), and the proceeds 
of hydrocarbon exports are collected, held and administered by the 
FGI Ministry of Finance. Payments held by the FGI are supposed to be 
remitted to regional authorities for onward remittance to international 
contractors. To date, the FGI has not passed on oil contractors’ full en-
titlements to the proceeds of export sales in the Kurdistan region of Iraq 
to the KRG, including proceeds to which the Company believes the dno 
Group is entitled under its PSCs, and has at times withheld payments to 
the KRG in respect of hydrocarbon exports entirely. 

In 2009, the dno Group and other international E&P companies halted 

exports from the Kurdistan region of Iraq after not receiving payment 
for any of the oil they exported in 2009. In total, 3.74 mmbbl of oil was 
exported from the Tawke field between June and September 2009 and 
no payment has been made to the dno Group in respect of its share in 
these volumes. The dno Group and other international E&P companies 
recommenced exports from the Kurdistan region of Iraq in February 2011 
after the FGI and the KRG agreed a protocol regarding payment to oil 
contractors under PSCs, and the dno Group has received partial pay-
ment for the oil it exported beginning in February 2011. It received a pay-
ment of USd 103.7 million from the KRG in June 2011 and a further USd 
60 million in September 2011. The dno Group does not believe that the 
two payments received to date provide a basis for assessing or estimat-
ing future trends in relation to whether future payments will be reconcil-
able to what the dno Group believes should be paid for oil exports. 

There remains substantial uncertainty relating to the receipt of proceeds 
from oil that is exported from the Kurdistan region of Iraq, and there can 
be no assurance that the FGI will not withhold further payments from the 
KRG in the future, that payments made to the dno Group will correspond 
with the revenue to which the dno Group is entitled under its PSCs, that 
the dno Group will be able to export and/or that it will be paid its entire 
entitlement for exports from the Tawke field or any future producing 
fields. Any of these risks could result in a loss of production revenue to 
the dno Group and materially adversely affect the dno Group’s business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Group accounting and consolidation principles
Basis for consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial state-
ment of dno and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). 
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year are 
included in the consolidated financial statement from the effective date 
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies. Where necessary, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been adjusted to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by dno. 

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated 
upon consolidation.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consider-
ation transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount 
of any non-controlling interest (nCI) in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the nCI in the acquiree either at 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer obtains 
control of the acquiree. This is generally the date that the consideration 
legally is transferred and the assets and liabilities are assumed (the clos-
ing date). However, actual control might be obtained at an earlier or later 
stage than the closing date, e.g. written agreement that provides control 
at an earlier date. dno considers all facts and circumstances when 
determining the acquisition date.

The purchase consideration is allocated to the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities (identifiable net assets) on the basis 
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of fair value at the date of acquisition. These provisional estimates are 
finalized within 12 months of the acquisition date with adjustments being 
recorded against goodwill. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred and the amount recognized for nCI over the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

If the fair value attributable to the Company’s share of the identifiable 
net assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration, dno reassesses 
whether it has correctly identified and measured the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. Any additional assets or liabilities that are identified 
in that review are recognized. If excess over fair value of the consider-
ation remains after reassessment, the Company recognizes the resulting 
gain in the profit or loss on the acquisition date. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any  
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisi-
tion date, allocated to each of dno’s cash generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 
those units. 

Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed and 
included in administrative expenses. Transaction costs include costs re-
lated to the transaction such as corporate advisors’ fees, legal fees, due 
diligence fees, stamp duties, and accounting services. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s previ-
ously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at 
the acquisition date (being the date the acquirer gains control) through 
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an 
asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in 
profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the con-
tingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured. 
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where 
the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it 
is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.

Acquisitions made by the Company which do not qualify as a business 
combination under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are accounted for as 
asset acquisitions.

Interest in jointly controlled operations
IFRS defines joint control as the contractually agreed sharing of control 
over an economic activity, and this only exists when the strategic finan-
cial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unani-
mous consent of the parties sharing control (the “venturers”).

The Group’s activities in the exploration and production segment are 
conducted through joint ventures, where the ventures have direct own-
ership in, and jointly control the assets of the venturer.

The Group accounts for jointly controlled operations (oil and gas li-
censes), by recording its share of the arrangement’s assets, liabilities and 
cash flows. The Group combines its share of the joint ventures’ individual 
income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-
line basis with similar items in the Group’s financial statements. 

The Group does not recognise its share of profits or losses from the 
joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the 
joint venture until it divests the assets to an independent party. However, 
if a loss on the transaction provides evidence of a reduction in the net 

realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss, the loss is recog-
nised immediately.

Foreign currency translation and transactions 
functional currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in norwegian  
Kroner (noK), which is the Parent Company’s functional currency and 
the presentation currency of the Group.

Items included in the financial statements of each subsidiary in the 
Group are initially recorded in the functional currency, i.e. the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to that subsidiary. 

transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional cur-
rency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transac-
tions. Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated 
into functional currency at the balance sheet date exchange rates. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Those 
arising in respect of financial assets and liabilities are recorded net as a 
financial item.

Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair 
value of financial investments classified as available-for-sale, are recog-
nised directly in other comprehensive income until the investment has 
been disposed of. 

on consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other 
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are 
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, 
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
 
Group companies
Income statements and cash flows of subsidiaries, associated companies 
and joint ventures, whose functional currency is not noK, are translated 
to noK at average exchange rates each month. Balance sheets are 
translated at the balance sheet date exchange rate, and the translation 
differences are taken directly to other comprehensive income. When a 
foreign entity is sold, such translation differences are recognised in profit 
or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Balance sheet classification
Current assets and short-term liabilities include items due less than a 
year from the balance sheet date, and items related to the operating 
cycle, if longer. The current portion of long-term debt is included under 
current liabilities. Investments in shares held for trading are classified as 
current assets, while strategic investments are classified as non-current 
assets. other assets are classified as non-current assets.

Property, plant and equipment 
General
Property, plant and equipment acquired by Group companies are stated 
at historical cost and adjusted for dd&A and impairment charges, if any. 
The carrying value of the property, plant and equipment in the state-
ment of financial position represents the cost less accumulated deprecia-
tion and any impairment charges. other fixed assets in use (excluding oil 
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and gas properties) are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis, at 
rates varying from three to five years. Expected useful lives are reviewed 
at each balance sheet date and, where there are changes in estimates, 
depreciation periods are changed accordingly. Any change is accounted 
for prospectively. For oil and gas properties, expected useful life is the 
period of estimated production.

ordinary repairs and maintenance costs, defined as day-to-day servicing 
costs, are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred. The cost of major work overs is included in the asset’s 
carrying amount when it is probable that the Group will derive future 
economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of perfor-
mance of the existing asset. Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
included in operating profit. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the 
lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less selling costs. 

Borrowing costs
Interest costs directly attributable to financing construction of property, 
plant and equipment are capitalised during the period of time that is 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use, which 
is defined as the development phase. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that the Group incurs in the connection with the borrow-
ing of funds. other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. The 
capitalisation of borrowing costs is made monthly based on the average 
interest rate for the Group in the period. 

The basis for the monthly capitalisation is accumulated average capi-
talised assets for each project. The capitalised borrowing costs can not 
exceed the actual borrowing costs in each period.

Exploration and development costs for oil and gas properties 
dno uses the ‘successful efforts’ method to account for exploration, 
appraisal and development costs, where exploration costs are charged to 
expense as incurred. 

However, drilling costs of exploration wells are temporarily capitalised 
pending the determination of oil and gas reserves. These costs include 
directly attributable employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig 
costs and payments made to contractors. If reserves are not found, or if 
discoveries are assessed not to be technically and commercially recover-
able, the drilling costs of exploration wells are expensed. Geological and 
geophysical costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Costs of acquiring licenses are capitalised within intangible assets and 
amortised over the period of the license using the unit of production 
method. An assessment for impairment is made at each reporting date. 
This assessment includes confirming that exploration drilling is still under 
way or firmly planned, or that it has been determined , or work is under 
way to determine, that the discovery is economically viable. If no future 
activity is planned, the carrying value of the license acquisition costs is 
written off through profit or loss. Upon recognition of proved reserves 
and internal approval for development, the relevant expenditure is trans-
ferred to oil and gas properties. 

3d seismic acquisition over a discovery area is capitalised if it relates to 
drilling a well, and the objective is to learn more about the reservoir and to 
support the determination of new well locations within the discovery area. 

For accounting purposes, the field enters into the development phase 
when the partners in the license declare the field commercial. All costs 
of developing commercial oil and/or gas fields are capitalised, including 
direct costs Pre-operating costs are expensed in the period which they are 
incurred. Capitalised development costs are classified as tangible assets.

Oil and gas properties
Capitalised costs for oil and gas properties are depreciated using the 
unit-of-production method. The rate of depreciation is equal to the ratio 
of oil and gas production for the period over the estimated remaining 
proved and probable reserves (expected to be recovered during the con-
cession or contract period) at the beginning of the period. The reserves 
are calculated as dno’s entitlement to reserves under the PSAs/PSCs. 

The future development expenditures necessary to bring those re-
serves into production are included in the basis for depreciation, and are 
estimated by the management based on current period end unescalated 
price levels. Any changes in the reserves and cost estimates that affect 
unit-of-production rates are dealt with prospectively.

Component cost accounting / decomposition
The Company allocates the amount initially recognised in respect of 
an item of property, plant and equipment to its significant parts and 
depreciates separately each such part over its useful life. For oil and 
gas assets, the Company uses field as the level of aggregation as this 
represents the lowest level where separate cash flows can be identified. 
This means that there is no decomposition beyond field level. A plan 
for development is usually defined for each field, taking into consider-
ation both exploration wells, production wells and infill wells. The field 
reserves are evaluated according to the chosen production plan.

Intangible assets 
The useful lives of intangibles assets are assessed as either finite or 
infinite. Amortisation of intangible assets is based on the expected 
useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset might be impaired.. 

Exploration and evaluation assets
IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources requires ex-
ploration and evaluation assets to be classified as tangible or intangible 
according to the nature of the assets. 

Some exploration and evaluation assets should be classified as intan-
gible, for example license acquisition costs and capitalised exploration 
assets. When technical feasibility and commercial viability of the assets 
are decided upon, the assets are reclassified to tangible assets and 
depreciated. The exploration and evaluation assets which are classified 
as intangible are assessed for impairment before reclassification. no 
amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

drilling costs of exploration wells are temporarily capitalised pending 
the determination of oil and gas reserves. If reserves are not found, or if 
discoveries are assessed not to be technically or commercially recover-
able, the drilling costs of exploration wells are expensed as dry wells. 
Costs of acquiring licenses are capitalised and assessed for impairment 
at each reporting date.
 
Other intangible assets
Payments related to acquisition of licenses and subsequent payments 
are capitalized as license acquisition cost and depreciated using the unit 
of production method.

Impairment of long-lived assets 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are 
reviewed for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable. Indications of impairment may be decline in oil price, 
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changes in future investments or changes in reserve estimates. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 

lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows. An oil 
and gas field is considered one cash generating unit; all other assets are 
assessed separately. An impairment loss is the amount by which the carry-
ing amount of the assets exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling price and its value in use. 
The value in use is determined by reference to discounted future net cash 
flows expected to be generated by the asset. Cash flows are discounted 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time-value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or 
loss only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. It is not reversed to a higher amount than if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. After such a reversal, the depre-
ciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life.

Farm in and farm out
A farm in / farm out is when the owner of a working interest (the 
farmor) transfers all or a portion of its working interest to another party 
(the farmee) in return for the farmee’s performance of some agreed 
upon action. If the farmee agrees to undertake exploration, drill well(s), 
or develop the property, the farmor transfers all or a portion of the work-
ing interest in the property to the farmee.

The farmee capitalises or expenses the exploration, drilling and develop-
ment costs as incurred according to the accounting method it is using. The 
farmee does not record any receivable nor any of its costs assigned to the 
acquisition of the license interest. The farmee will thereby have capital-
ised wells and equipment costs but no capitalised property acquisition 
costs. The farmor does not record any well and equipment costs. There 
are no accruals for future commitments in farm in / out agreements in the 
exploration and evaluation phase, and no profit or loss is recognised by 
the farmor. In the development or production phase, a farm in / farm out 
agreement will be treated as a transaction recorded at fair value as rep-
resented by the costs born by the farmee. Any gain or loss arising on the 
farm in/farm out is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

License swaps / asset swaps
A situation where one or more items of property, plant and equipment is 
exchanged for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of mon-
etary and non-monetary assets, should be measured at fair value unless 
the transaction lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither 
the asset received nor the asset given up is reliably measurable. The cost 
of the acquired asset is measured at the fair value of the asset given up, 
unless the fair value of the asset received is more clearly evident. 

oil companies may exchange license interests as part of a portfolio 
structuring. License swaps are measured at fair value at the time of the 
transaction, with recognition of gain or loss.

Financial instruments 
Financial instruments, that are not derivatives, consist of investments in 
debt and equity instruments, trade receivables and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, loans, trade payables and other payables. 
These are initially recognised at fair value, which in most cases will be 
identical to cost. After initial recognition, the measurement and account-
ing treatment depend on the type of instrument and classification. 

Cash and bank deposits, including deposits on special terms, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, and bank overdrafts, form cash and cash equivalents. Bank overdrafts 
are included within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

investments and other financial assets 
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at the transac-
tion date. 
•   Investments classified as available for sale are measured at fair value. 

Adjustments to fair value are recognised as other comprehensive 
income until the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, 
at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other 
comprehensive income is included as part of net result in the state-
ment of comprehensive income. Impairment of available for sale invest-
ments is recognised in profit or loss immediately, but any subsequent 
reversal of the impairment is not recognised in profit or loss, but as a 
fair value adjustment to other comprehensive income. 

•  Investments classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured 
at fair value, with adjustments to fair value recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 

•   Investments classified as loans and receivables are measured at amor-
tized cost using the effective interest rate method. This classification 
is used for non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. Gains and losses are recog-
nized when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as 
well as through the amortization process.

•  Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the Group has 
the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are subse-
quently measured at amortized cost. 
For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, 

fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted market 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For invest-
ments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined 
by using generally accepted valuation techniques. The valuations are 
primarily collected from external parties (banks, other financial institu-
tions), or, if not available, performed by the Group. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition over the years to maturity. For investments car-
ried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income when the investments are derecognised or 
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

impairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a re-
sult of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset and that this event has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated.

If there is objective evidence of impairment for financial assets carried 
at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying value and the present value of future cash 
flows. The present value of the future cash flows are discounted using 
the asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest 
rate (floating interest rate), the discount rate for measuring any impair-
ment loss is the current effective interest rate. 
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised where: 
•   the Group no longer has the right to receive cash flows from it 
•   the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but 

has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to 
a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement, or

•  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred the control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the li-
ability is discharged or cancelled or expires. A bond loan is derecognised 
when it is repurchased.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently recognised 
in the statement of financial position at fair value. Certain derivative 
instruments, while providing effective economic hedges under the Group 
Financial Policy, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific 
rules in IAS 39. These are accounted for as financial assets or liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value are classified as 
financial income or expense.

To the extent that derivative contracts on own shares contain an ob-
ligation to settle in cash or another financial asset, the financial liability 
for the redemption amount is recognised as a liability with a correspond-
ing entry against equity.

As of 31 december 2011, the Group has no hedging instruments for 
accounting purposes.

Other long-term receivables
other long-term receivables are measured at net present value when the 
payments are expected later than 12 months from the transaction date 
and these are not interest bearing.

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at their anticipated realisable 
value, which is the original invoice amount less an estimated valuation allow-
ance for any uncollectible amounts or for extended payment terms. A provi-
sion is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect the recoverable amount. Bad debts are written off when identified.

The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding construction 
work in progress, is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short term deposits in the statement of financial position com-
prise cash at banks and at hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less.

Share capital
oRdInARY SHARES
ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attrib-
utable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options, are recognised 
as a reduction of equity, net of any tax effects.

REPURCHASE oF SHARE CAPITAL (TREASURY SHARES)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of 
the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, is net 

of any tax effects and is recognised as a deduction in equity. Repur-
chased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a 
deduction from total equity. When treasury shares subsequently are sold 
or reissued, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity 
and the resulting surplus or deficit of the transaction is transferred to/
from retained earnings.

financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested (including 
available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the dis-
posal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in the fair value 
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest 
method. dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of 
quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwind-
ing of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses 
recognised on financial assets and losses on financial assets that are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are reported as financial income or 
financial expenses.

Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at 
the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, 
net of finance charges, are included in other long-term interest-bearing 
liabilities. Each lease payment is allocated between liability and finance, 
where the interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of inter-
est on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Property, 
plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over 
the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term. 

Leases where a significant portion of the risk and reward of ownership 
is retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the 
lessor, are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.

Inventories 
Inventories, other than inventories of oil, are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out 
(FIFo) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress com-
prises of raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related pro-
duction overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes 
borrowing costs. net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
estimated selling expenses.

Petroleum products and over- and underlift of crude oil are recorded 
at net realisable values. 

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is deter-
mined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course of busi-
ness, less the estimated costs of completion and sale and a reasonable profit 
margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories.

Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2011 continuedNote 1
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Interest-bearing liabilities 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair 
value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the 
borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the interest-bearing liabilities. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Revenue recognition 
Revenues from the production of oil and gas properties are recognised on 
the basis of the Group’s net working interest in those properties, regardless 
of whether the production is sold (the entitlement method). The revenue 
recognition according to the net entitlement method is based on actual 
production in the period. The entitlement method assumes observable 
market prices and the risk for the seller to be minimal related to sale and 
distribution. To the extent that the entitlement method cannot be applied, 
the sales criteria from IAS 18 must be fulfilled in order to recognise revenues. 
Using the sales method, a liability (overlift) arises when the Group sells more 
than the Group’s share of the production, and an asset (underlift) when the 
sale is less than the Group’s share of the production.

Local sales – the Kurdistan region of iraq
The significant risks and rewards of ownership (title) are deemed to have 
passed on delivery of the crude oil to the customer at loading point. Revenue 
is recognised at this point. Customers for local sales are paying in advance. 

Export sales – the Kurdistan region of iraq
For the export sales, the significant risks and rewards of ownership (title) 
are considered to have passed on delivery of crude oil to the export 
pipeline. However, since no payment mechanism is yet in place for the 
export sale, dno does not consider it possible to measure the revenue 
reliably at the delivery point. dno therefore recognise the revenue at the 
point of cash receipt.

overlift and underlift of oil and gas using the entitlement method is 
valued at its net realisable value on the balance sheet date. overlift and 
underlift are calculated as the difference between the Group’s share of 
production and its actual sales and are classified as other current liabilities/
assets. Under the sales method, overlift and underlift are recorded to cost. 

Revenues from services are recorded when the service has been performed. 
Revenues from lease arrangements are recognised over the life of the 

agreement. Revenues from other activities are recognised when the title 
passes to the customer.

Production sharing agreements / production sharing contracts  
(PSAs/PSCs)
In many countries ownership of unexploited petroleum resources remains 
with the state, whereas exploration, development and production is car-
ried out by private contractors under a specific production sharing agree-
ment, or PSA/PSC. The PSA/PSC typically is a contract between an oil-
producing company and the host government that governs the rights and 
duties of both parties in respect of the operations of a block. In particular 
it governs how the revenues from oil produced are to be shared between 

the government and the contracting oil producers. dno operates currently 
under PSAs/PSCs in Yemen and in the Kurdistan region of northern Iraq.

Under the PSAs/PSCs, dno, along with other working interest holders, 
typically bears all risk and costs for exploration, development and produc-
tion. In return, if exploration is successful, dno recovers the sum of its 
investment and operating costs (‘cost oil’) from a percentage of the pro-
duction and sale of the associated hydrocarbons. dno is also entitled to 
receive a share of production in excess of cost oil (‘profit oil’). The sharing 
of cost oil and profit oil varies between the working interest holders and 
the government from PSA/PSC contract to PSA/PSC contract. 

The sum of cost oil attributable to dno’s share of costs and dno’s share 
of profit oil represents dno’s entitlement to oil produced under a PSA/PSC.

Under a PSA/PSC the government typically receives portions of 
oil produced in several steps. normally, there is a fraction of gross oil 
production (a royalty), before any attribution to cost oil and profit oil, 
payable to a governmental body. As described above, the government 
will also have a specified share of profit oil and in some instances a 
governmentally controlled enterprise will have its share as well. The 
sum of royalties and governmental share of profit oil, including that of a 
governmentally controlled enterprise, represents the ‘government take’ 
of oil produced under a PSA/PSC.
dno presents its operations governed by PSAs/PSCs according to the 
net entitlement method. The net entitlement method means that dno 
recognises as revenue only its working interest of oil produced, after 
deduction of the government take.
According to the Company’s PSAs/PSCs, the ownership of the prop-
erty, plant and equipment is transferred back to the government when 
production ceases.

Income taxes
The tax expense consists of taxes payable and changes in deferred tax. 

Taxes payable are provided based on taxable profits at the current tax rate.
 deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on all taxable temporary differences, 
except to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied:
 
•  the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences; and
•  it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

deferred tax assets related to tax losses carried forward are recognised 
when it is probable that the Group will have a sufficient profit for tax pur-
poses to utilise the tax asset. At each balance sheet date, the Group car-
ries out a review of its unrecognised deferred tax assets and the value it 
has recognised. The Group recognises formerly unrecognised deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it has become probable that the Company can 
utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the Group will reduce its deferred 
tax assets to the extent that it can no longer utilise these. 

deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis of the 
tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date applicable to the companies 
in the Group. deferred tax and deferred tax assets are set off within the 
same tax regime only if the use of group contribution is available.

deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognised irrespective of 
when the differences will be reversed. They are recognised at their nomi-
nal value and classified as non-current assets (long-term liabilities) in the 
statement of financial position. 

Taxes payable and deferred tax are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that they relate to items that are charged directly to equity. 
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Production sharing agreements/contracts (PSAs/PSCs)
dno presents its operations governed by PSAs/PSCs according to the 
net entitlement method. For more information see the description under 
section “revenue recognition”.

A PSA/PSC may also affect payment of corporate taxes. normally, the 
contractor is liable for national corporate tax on taxable profits, which 
will be a function of its share of profit oil (taking into account that costs 
over time will be recovered through cost oil). However, some PSAs/PSCs 
include clauses for corporate taxes to be paid out of the government 
take. To the extent that the government take includes a portion assigned 
to cover dno’s corporate tax eligible for classification as tax according 
to the IAS 12 definition, dno presents this element as an income tax 
expense with a corresponding increase in revenue. Currently, this only 
applies to the activities in Yemen, as there is no well established tax 
regime in place yet in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. See also section on 
Significant accounting estimates and assumptions and note 8.

employee benefits
Pension obligations 
The Group currently has contribution plans only. For defined contribu-
tion plans, contributions are paid to pension insurance plans and charged 
to profit or loss in the period to which the contributions relate. once the 
contributions have been paid, there are no further payment obligations.

Share option program
The Group has a synthetic share option programme for employees the 
parent company. The share options are settled in cash and are recorded 
at fair value by use of the Black & Scholes method. The share options are 
expensed over the vesting period.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognised when: the Group has a present obligation (le-
gal or constructive) as a result of a past event; it is probable that an out-
flow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain. The expense related to any provision is presented in 
profit or loss net of any reimbursement. Provisions are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

The amount of the provision is the present value of the risk-adjusted 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, de-
termined using the estimated risk-free interest rate as the discount 
rate. Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of the provision 
increases in each period to reflect the unwinding of the discount by the 
passage of time. This increase is recognised as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed unless the pos-
sibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 

Asset retirement obligations
Provisions for decommissioning liabilities for oil and natural gas produc-
tion facilities are recognised in full. The amount recognised is the present 
value of the estimated future expenditure determined in accordance 
with local conditions and requirements. A corresponding tangible fixed 
asset of an amount equivalent to the provision is also created. This is 
subsequently depreciated as part of the capital costs of the production 
and transportation facilities. The decommissioning provision is accreted 

to the discounted liability, with the accretion of the discount being 
classified as interest expense. The discount rate used equals the Group’s 
average interests on its debt.

The provision and the discount rate are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date. According to IFRIC 1.5, changes in the measurement of the decom-
missioning liability that result from a change in the timing or amount of 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required to settle 
the obligation, or a change in the discount rate, are added to or de-
ducted from the cost of the related asset in the current period. Changes 
in estimated asset retirement obligations will impact both the cost of the 
asset and profit or loss in the period in which the estimate is revised.

Segment reporting 
The Group identifies and reports its segments based on the reporting 
to the corporate management and the board, which are defined as the 
chief decision makers. Management monitors the operating results of 
its operating segments separately for the purpose of making deci-
sions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment 
performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and other key 
performance indicators. For dno, the operating segments equals the 
reportable segments.

The reportable segments provide products or services within a par-
ticular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of components operating in other economic 
environments. The Company has identified its reportable segments 
based on the nature of the risk and return within its business and by the 
geographical location of the Group’s assets and operations. 
Transfer prices between the segments and Companies are set on an 
arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attrib-
utable to ordinary shareholders using the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year after deduction of the average num-
ber of treasury shares held over the period. The calculation of diluted 
earnings per share is consistent with the calculation of basic earnings 
per share while giving effect to all dilutive potential ordinary shares that 
were outstanding during the period. That is:
•  The net profit for the period attributable to ordinary shares is increased by 

interest recognised in the period in respect of the dilutive potential ordi-
nary shares. It is adjusted for any other changes in income or expense that 
would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares.

•  The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would 
have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares increases the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding. 

The amount of the dilution is the average market price of ordinary shares 
during the period minus the issue price of the options.

Related parties
Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly, jointly or indi-
rectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
party in making financial and operating decisions. Key management is 
also considered to be a related party.

Transactions between related parties are transfers of resources, 
services or obligations, regardless of whether a price is charged. All 
transactions between the related parties are recorded at market value.

For more information about related parties, see note 22.

Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2011 continuedNote 1
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IFRS and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective 
Standards issued but yet not effective up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements are listed below. The listing of standards 
and interpretations issued are those that the Group reasonably expects 
will have an impact on disclosures, financial position and/or financial 
performance, when applied at a future date. The Group intends to adopt 
those standards (where applicable) when they become effective. 

•  IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of 
other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in 
oCI. Items that could be reclassified (or “recycled”) to profit or loss at 
a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settlement) 
would be presented separately from items which will never be reclassi-
fied. The amendment affects presentation only and therefore will have 
no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2012.

•  IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 (refer below), what 
remains in IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly ar-
rangements and associates in separate financial statements. The Group 
does not present separate financial statements. The amendment be-
comes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

•  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 (refer below), IAS 28 
has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, 
and describes the application of the equity method to investments in 
joint ventures in addition to associates. The amendment becomes effec-
tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the 

replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement 
of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The 
standard is currently effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2015.

In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impair-
ment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have 
an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial as-
sets, but will potentially have no impact on classification and measurement 
of financial liabilities. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with 
the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture.

•  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrange-
ments, and IFRS 12 disclosure of Interests in other Entities

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 disclosures of Interests in other 
Entities. 

IFRS 10 provides a single consolidation model that identifies control as 
the basis for consolidation for all types of entities. IFRS 10 replaces IAS 
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consoli-
dation – Special Purpose Entities.

IFRS 11 establishes principles for the financial reporting by parties to a 
joint arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures 
and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – non-monetary Contributions by 
Venturers.

IFRS 12 combines, enhances and replaces the disclosure requirements 
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated 
structured entities. As a consequence of these new IFRSs, the IASB also 
issued amended and retitled IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements and 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The new require-
ments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Group is considering what impact the adoption of these new 
standards will have on its financial position and/or performance, disclo-
sures and stated accounting policies. 

•  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. IFRS 13 
defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring 
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 
13 applies when other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements. 
It does not introduce any new requirements to measure an asset or a 
liability at fair value, change what it measured at fair value in IFRS or 
address how to present changes in fair value. The new requirements are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with 
earlier application permitted.

The Group is considering what impact the adoption of this new Stan-
dard will have on its financial position and/or performance, disclosures 
and stated accounting policies.
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DNO identifies and reports its segments based on the information given to the chief decision makers, defined as the management and Board of directors. Resources are 
 allocated and decisions  are made based on this information. The reportable segments provide products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to 
risks and returns that are different from  those of components operating in other economic environments. dno has identified its reportable segments based on the nature of 
the risks and returns within its business and by the location of  the Group’s assets and operations. dno primarily produces and sells crude oil.    
Inter-segment sales are based on the principle of “arm’s length” and are eliminated on consolidation. Segment profit does include profit from inter-segment sales.  
dno’s reporting segments consist of northern Europe (nE), Yemen (YEM), the Kurdistan region of Iraq (KUR) and Africa (AFR), which equals the operating segments. 
The segment Northern Europe (nE) includes operations in the UK. The segment Africa (AFR) includes both Equatorial Guinea and Tunisia where dno participates in one block  
 in each country. dno’s license in Mozambique expired during 2011. Yemen (YEM) consists of Yemen (5 blocks). All oil in Yemen is sold to one customer, which is responsible for 
the further distribution. during 2011, the oil from Kurdistan has been sold locally to several customers. The exported crude oil from the Tawke field has been sold by the State 
oil Marketing organisation of Iraq (SoMo) to the international markets.
Following the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MEnA subsidiaries, dno will have three new reportable segments from 2012; oman, UAE and Tunisia. Included in the UAE 
segment will be the licenses in Ras Al Khaimah. The segment Tunisia (TUn) will include two licenses in Tunisia and will replace the current segment Africa (AFR). As the license 
in the UK was relinquished during 2011, the segment nE will not be a reportable segment from 2012.     

NOK mill   
      Total report.     
Twelve months ended 31 December 2011 Note NE YEm Kur Afr segm. unalloc. Elimin. GrOuP

iNCOmE STATEmENT iNfOrmATiON 
External sales 3   -     637,7   1 432,5   -     2 070,2  -  -     2 070,2 
Inter-segment sales   -     9,7   17,6   1,8   29,0  -  -29,0   -   
Cost of goods sold 4   -0,5   -345,4   -692,3   -0,3   -1 038,5  -  -1,0   -1 039,5 
Expensing of 2009 capitalized production costs 4   -     -     -126,2   -     -126,2  -  -     -126,2 
Gross profit   -0,5   301,9   631,6   1,5   934,5  -  -30,1   904,5 
   
other operating income   -     -     7,2   -     7,2  -  -   7,2 
Tariffs and transportation   -     -8,7   -0,1   -     -8,8  -  -     -8,8 
Administrative expenses 5  -7,9   -     -19,7   -10,4   -37,9   -74,4  -  -112,4 
other operating expenses 5  -   18,6   -19,7   -28,7   -29,7  -  -     -29,7 
Exploration cost expensed 6  -6,8   -31,9   -27,2   -37,2   -103,1  -  -     -103,1 
net gain / (loss) from sale of PP&E   -     -     -     -     -    -  -     -   
Finance costs - net (excl. interest, gain /                     
(loss) on sale of shares)  -2,8 -1,8 -2,1  -2,8  -9,5 24,2 - 14,8
Segment result    -17,9   278,2   570,1   -77,7   752,7  -50,2  -30,0   672,5 
        
Interest - net   -     -     -     -     -    -  -     -203,7 
Gain / (loss) on sale of shares   -     -     -     -     -    -  -     259,4 
Income tax expense   -     -74,9   -     -     -74,9  -  -     -74,9 
Net profit / -loss          653,2 
   
BALANCE ShEET iNfOrmATiON
Capital expenditures this period   2,3   78,0   337,9   2,8   421,0   0,6  -  421,6 
 
Property, plant and equipment   1,9   444,0   1 781,0   30,1   2 257,0   2,2  -  2 259,2 
Inventories   -     15,5   78,0   -     93,5  -  -     93,5 
other assets   18,0   173,7   856,1   4,4   1 052,2   1 581,6  -  2 633,8 
Total segment assets                     
(excl. tax assets, interest-bearing receivables)    19,9  633,2   2 715,1  34,5  3 402,7  1 583,7   - 4 986,4  
Unallocated corporate assets          50,1 
        
Consolidated total assets          5 036,5 
 
Total segment liabilities                  
(excl. tax liabilities, interest-bearing liabilities)  1,3 36,0 1 004,8 2,6 1 044,7 84,1 - 1 128,8
Unallocated corporate liabilities          1 750,0 
        
Consolidated total liabilities          2 878,8 
        
OThEr SEGmENT iNfOrmATiON   
Sale of oil   -     637,7   1 432,5   -     2 070,2  -  -     2 070,2 
Lifting cost   -     -241,5   -163,4   -     -404,9  -  -     -404,9 
Lifting cost (USd/bbl)   -     -24,9   -11,6   -     -36,6  -  -     -17,1 
Amortisation and depreciation   -0,5   -104,0   -655,1   -0,3   -759,8   -1,0  -  -760,9 
netback, including asset sale proceeds *   -14,7   286,9   1 227,3   -74,6   1 425,0   -103,4  -  1 321,6 

Segment  
information

Note 2Note 2
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NOK mill   
      Total report.    
Twelve months ended 31 December 2010 Note NE YEm Kur Afr segm. unalloc. Elimin. GrOuP
        
iNCOmE STATEmENT iNfOrmATiON   

External sales 3   -     706,3   545,5   -     1 251,8  -  -     1 251,8 
Inter-segment sales   -     11,0   5,6   1,1   17,8  -  -17,8   -   
Cost of goods sold 4   -0,6   -353,9   -263,4   -0,1   -618,0  -  -0,7   -618,7 
Gross profit   -0,6   363,4   287,7   1,0   651,6  -  -18,5   633,1 
        
other operating income   -     5,7   3,0   -     8,7   0,2  -  8,9 
Tariffs and transportation   -     -22,8   -     -     -22,8  -  -     -22,8 
Administrative expenses 5  -0,2   -0,7   -333,4   -6,8   -341,1   -65,2  -  -406,3 
other operating expenses 5  -     -     -   -     -0,0   0,1  -  0,0 
Exploration cost expensed 6  -4,8   2,4   -23,2   -30,6   -56,2  -  -     -56,2 
net gain / (loss) from sale of PP&E   -     0,1   -     -     0,1  -  -     0,1 
finance costs - net                     
(excl. interest, gain / (loss) on sale of shares)  -1,3  -1,6 - -0,4 -3,2 -197,6 - -200,8
Segment result    -6,8   346,6   -65,9   -36,7   237,1  -262,6  -18,5   -44,0 
        
Interest - net   -     -     -     -     -     -170,6  -  -170,6 
Gain / (loss) on sale of shares   -     -     -     -     -     8,3  -  8,3 
Income tax expense   -     -76,6   -     -     -76,6  -  -     -76,6 
Net loss          -282,9 
    
BALANCE ShEET iNfOrmATiON  
        
Capital expenditures this period   -     130,6   17,8   128,1   276,5   -124,9  -  151,6 

Property, plant and equipment   -     353,2   1 801,2   55,8   2 210,2   2,6  -  2 212,8 
Inventories   -     4,8   206,8   -     211,6  -  -     211,6 
other assets   365,8   316,8   896,2   125,9   1 704,7   1 263,7 -   2 968,3 
Total segment assets                       
(excl. tax assets, interest-bearing receivables)   365,8 674,8 2 904,2 181,8 4 126,5 1 266,2 - 5 392,7
Unallocated corporate assets          -   

Consolidated total assets          5 392,7 
     
Total segment liabilities                   
(excl. tax liabilities, interest-bearing liabilities)   1,0 67,3 1 263,3 - 1 331,6 59,6 - 1 391,2 
Unallocated corporate liabilities          1 892,4 
        
Consolidated total liabilities          3 283,6 
 
OThEr SEGmENT iNfOrmATiON   

Sale of oil   -     706,3   545,5   -     1 251,8  -  -     1 251,8 
Lifting cost   -     -217,0   -84,7   -     -301,7  -  -     -301,7 
Lifting cost (USd/bbl)   -     -15,3   -3,6   -     -18,9  -  -     -8,1 
Amortisation and depreciation   -0,6   -136,9   -178,7   -0,1   -316,2  -0,7  -  -317,0 
netback, including asset sale proceeds *   -5,0   390,9   112,8   -36,2   462,5   -82,9 -   379,6 
   
* netback is defined as EBITdA adjusted for taxes paid



78 // Accounts dno 2011

with note disclosures
Consolidated accounts

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

dno presents its operations governed by PSAs according to the net entitlement method.  
For more information see accounting principles on revenue recognition.    
 
NOK mill 2011  2010 
    
Sale of petroleum products  2 070,2   1 251,8  
other income  -    - 
 
Total sales  2 070,2   1 251,8  
    
during 2011 there have been both local sales and export sales from the Tawke field in Kurdistan. The local sales have been based on short-term
contracts with advance payment. The payment mechanism for the export sales is not in place yet, and revenues have only been recognised based
on the two part payments received from the KRG in June and September. The first payment of USd 103.7 million (noK 564.4 million) was for export 
in the period 2 January to 27 March 2011. The second payment of USd 60 million (noK 352 million) was not specified related to period or volume. 
However, dno recognized this as revenue based on the cash received, as the payments received are considered ad-hoc payments for historical costs.
Going forward, revenues from export sales will only be recognized based on cash received.

There are exported volumes that dno has not received payment for, both relating to the exported volumes from 2009 and for 2011.
For 2009, the gross exported volumes were 3.742 million barrels. For 2011, the total gross exported volumes were 15.2 million barrels. The first payment
of USd 103.7 million was related to the export volumes for February and March, a total of 2.1 million barrels. There has been no confirmation of price or
volumes for the second payment of USd 60 million.

    
    
  
NOK mill 2011 2010 
    
Lifting costs*  -404,9   -301,7  
depreciation, depletion and amortisation  -760,9   -317,0  
Total cost of goods sold  -1 165,7   -618,7  
    
* Lifting costs consist of expenses relating to the production of oil and gas, including operation and maintenance of installations,  well intervention and workover activities, insur-
ances, Co2 taxes, royalties to the state and internal costs.    
The capitalized production costs from 2009 related to the export production from Tawke were expensed in 2011 with noK 126.2 million   
(dd&A of noK 112.7 million and lifting cost of noK 13.5 million). The expense was due to the fact that dno had not received any    
payment for the 2009 export sale, while a partial payment for the Q1 2011 export sale had been received. due to the uncertainty related to   
export payment, dno expensed the 2009 capitalized production costs in 2011.    
   
Based on an assessment of facts and circumstances, it has been concluded that capitalization of production costs related to unpaid export was not supported for    
the 2011 production costs. All production costs including depreciation for the Tawke field have therefore been expensed in 2011.
    
 
NOK mill 2011 2010 
    
Spare parts  93,5   75,8  
other inventory  -     135,8  
Total inventory  93,5   211,6  
    
Spare parts at the Tawke field in Kurdistan are classified as inventory. The inventory is not pledged.    
     
 

Sales

Cost of goods  
sold / inventory

Note 4

Note 3
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Administrative /  
other expenses   

This note should be read in conjunction with note 22 on related parties.   
   
NOK mill  2011 2010
Salaries and social expenses *   -2,7   -29,6 
General and administration expenses **   -109,6   -376,7 
other operating expenses ***   -19,7   0,0 
Total administrative / other expenses   -132,1   -406,3 
   
* Salaries and social expenses directly attributable to operations are reclassified to lifting cost and exploration cost in profit or loss.   
** Included in General and administration expenses for 2010 were provisions for the liability and legal costs related to the arbitration proceedings of  noK 330 million.   
*** other operating expenses of noK 19.7 million are mainly related to accrual for license acreage fees for license areas in Kurdistan.  
 
   
SPECifiCATiON Of SALAriES AND SOCiAL ExPENSES   
   
NOK mill  2011 2010
Salaries, bonuses, etc.   -65,2   -59,2 
Employer’s payroll tax expenses   -13,2   -7,9 
Pensions   -3,1   -3,0 
other personnel costs   -4,6   -5,3 
Reclassification of salaries and social expenses to lifting costs and exploration costs   83,3   45,7 
Salaries and social expenses   -2,7   -29,6 
Average man-year labour  38  34 
   
Salaries and social expenses in 2011 include an ordinary bonus and a share-based bonus scheme. Payment under the scheme is calculated based on share price development   
in the bonus period, within specified share price intervals. no shares or ordinary options are granted under this bonus scheme and all employees in the parent company are  
included. The threshold for the payments under this scheme will be set equal to the average daily closing price for dno International ASA in the second quarter of 2011. Share   
price increase up to 30% over the threshold level will be reflected in the value of the bonus scheme as of 30 June 2012. The share price increase will be determined based on   
average daily closing prices in the second quarter of 2012. The total limit for the share based bonus scheme is noK 19 million (2010: 17 million). Estimated value recognized at   
31 december 2011 is noK 3 million (2010: 4.3 million). All other ordinary bonus payments will be deducted in a possible share-based bonus payment. Black & Scholes valuation   
model is used to determine the value of the option. The share options are settled in cash and are expensed over the vesting period.   
   
PENSiONS   
dno has a defined contribution scheme for employees in dno International ASA (parent company). In 2011, a total of noK 3.1 million was expensed under the scheme.    
The corresponding figure for 2010 was noK 3 million. The Group’s obligations are limited to the annual contributions. dno meets the norwegian requirements for mandatory 
occupational pension (‘obligatorisk tjenestepensjon’).   
   

Years ended 31 december

Note 5
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DirECTOr AND ExECuTivE rEmuNErATiON   
Expensed remuneration to Managing director, key management and Board of directors:   
   
NOK mill  2011 2010
   
mANAGiNG DirECTOr:   
Remuneration      3,61   3,37 
Pension   0,06   0,06 
Bonus   0,99     -   
other remuneration    0,36   0,22 
Total compensation paid to managing Director   5,02   3,65 
   
OThEr KEY mANAGEmENT:   
Remuneration   12,84   10,37 
Pension   0,40   0,25 
Bonus   4,20     -   
other remuneration    5,49   4,02 
Total compensation paid to other key management   22,94   14,65 
number of managers included   8   6 
   
Board of Directors   1,37   1,55 
Total director and executive remuneration   29,33   19,85 
   
For further specifications of remuneration to key management, reference is made to note 3 in the parent company accounts.   
 
The Managing director is, depending on the circumstances, entitled to severance payment equivalent to three times annual salary.  
Severance payment agreements (equal to one or two times annual salary depending on the circumstance) have also been entered into with the following executives in dno 
International ASA: Magne normann, Chief operating officer, Tore Lilloe-olsen, Group Exploration director, Tom Bratlie, director Corporate Communications, Haakon Sandborg, 
Chief Financial officer, Trond Myrseth, Group operations director and Bjørn dale, General Counsel.   

no loans have been granted and no guarantees have been issued for executives, shareholders or directors of the board.   
   
   
ShArES AND OPTiONS hELD BY DirECTOrS, ExECuTivES AND KEY mANAGEmENT PErSONNEL AS AT 31 DECEmBEr 2011   
   
Directors, executives and key management personnel  Shares Options
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman *   -     -   
Gunnar Hirsti, deputy Chairman incl. companies controlled by him   120 000   -   
Karen Sund, Board Member    -     -   
Marit Instanes, Board member   18 288   -   
Shelley Watson, Board member *   -     -   
Helge Eide, Managing director    1 515 000   -   
Trond Myrseth, Group operations director   -     -   
Tom Bratlie, Communication director   10 000   -   
Bjørn dale, General Counsel   -     -   
Tore Lilloe-olsen,Group Exploration director   100 000   -   
Haakon Sandborg, Chief Financial officer   -     -   
Magne normann, Managing director dno Iraq AS **   1 771 996   -   
Sven Erik Lie, Managing director dno Yemen AS **   -     -   
Erik Syrdalen, Managing director dno Tunisia AS **   15 000   -   
Total   3 550 284  -   
   
* Shelley Watson and Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani were nominated by RAK Petroleum, the largest shareholder which as of 31 december 2011 holds 32.76% of the shares in dno  
(adjusted for treasury shares, see note 15).
** Magne normann has changed his position and is now Coo. Sven Erik Lie has changed his position and is now working on business development. Erik Syrdalen left dno in 
March 2012.    
 
AuDiTOrS’ fEES   
   
NOK mill (excluding vAT)  2011 2010
Auditors’ fee   2,68   2,40 
other financial auditing   1,71   0,14 
Tax advisory services   1,68   0,78 
other advisory services   0,14   0,07 
Total fees   6,21   3,39 

Years ended 31 december

Administrative / other expenses continued   Note 5
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Note 6 exploration  
expenses

Financial income  
and financial expenses

NOK mill  2011 2010
Exploration expenses (G&G and field surveys)   -46,9   -37,7 
Seismic costs   0,3   -9,4 
Exploration costs capitalised in previous years carried to cost   -2,0   -   
Exploration costs capitalised this year carried to cost   -47,1   -17,2 
other exploration cost expensed   -7,4   8,1 
Total exploration cost expensed    -103,1   -56,2 
   
Exploration costs capitalised this year carried to cost, relate mainly to Alsaiq-1 in Block 47 in Yemen and Inhaminga High-1 in Mozambique.  
   
In addition, there has been field studies and geology work in all business segments.   
   
other exploration cost expensed was positive in 2010 due to reversal and repayment of previous cost estimates in Syria and reversal  of capitalized signature bonus on Block 84 
(relinquished) in Yemen.   
   

NOK mill  2011 2010
   
Interest received   19,8   13,1 
other financial income *   263,1   9,0 
Exchange rate gain, unrealised items   72,0   22,6 
Exchange rate loss realised items   4,2   -   
Reversal impairment of financial assets   1,9   - 
Financial income   361,0   44,7 
   
Interest expense   -141,4   -108,3 
Capitalised interest   19,2   -   
Exchange rate gain, realised items   -   3,6 
Exchange rate loss realised items   -39,2   -13,4 
Fair value gain / (loss) on financial instruments - net1)   0,6   - 
Impairment of financial assets   -0,3   -204,6 
other financial expenses **   -129,4   -84,9 
Financial expenses   -290,6   -407,7 
   
Net finance   70,4   -363,0 
   
* Included in other financial income is gain on sale of shares in det norske oljeselskap ASA of noK 255 million in 2011.   

The increase in interest expense from 2010 is mainly due to the refinancing of bond loans in April 2011.   

** Included in other financial expenses is interest on the liability related to the Water Purification Project (WPP) in Kurdistan  of noK 101 million in 2011 (2010: noK 75 million). 
See also note 17 for further details.   
   
   
1) fAir vALuE GAiN / -LOSS ON fiNANCiAL iNSTrumENTS - NET   
   
NOK mill  2011 2010
   
oil price derivatives   -     -0,8 
other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   0,6   0,8 
fair value gain / -loss on financial instruments, net   0,6   - 
   
As of 31 december 2011, dno has no interest rate or oil price derivatives.   
other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relates to the shares in nordic Mining ASA which have been sold in 2011.

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Note 7
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Note 8 taxes

iNCOmE TAx ExPENSE   
NOK mill  2011 2010
Changes in deferred taxes   31,8   31,3
Income taxes payable related to production sharing agreements (PSAs) in Yemen   -106,7   -108,0
Total income tax expense   -74,9   -76,6 
    
rECONCiLiATiON Of ThE YEAr’S iNCOmE TAx   
NOK mill  2011 2010
Profit / -loss before income tax   728,2   -206,2
Expected income tax according to nominal tax rate (28%)  -203,9  57,7
Taxes paid in kind under PSAs exceeding 28%  -30,7  -13,8 
Adjustment of previous years  -  5,5
 Adjustment of deferred tax assets not recorded  -33,2  1,9
Impairment financial assets (reversal of impairment), non deductible for tax purpose  -  -26,5 
non-deductible expenses / non-taxable income  -  -1,8
other items  192,9  -99,6
Total income taxes   -74,9     -76,6
Effective income tax rate  10,3 % -37,2 %
Taxes charged to equity   -     -   
    
   
TEmPOrArY DiffErENCES rELATE TO ThE fOLLOWiNG iTEmS:   

Tax effect of temporary differences, NOK mill  2011 2010
Tangible assets  -24,3  -65,3
other fixed items (receivables, abandonment, etc.)  117,1  60,7 
Losses carried forward  301,9  334,4 
Total   394,7     329,8 
deferred tax asset allowance  -428,5  -395,3 
Total deferred taxes   -33,9     -65,5 
Capitalised deferred tax assets  50,1     -   
Capitalised deferred tax liabilities  -84,0  -65,5 

Income taxes payable amounting to noK 23.6 million (2010: noK 13.9 million) relates entirely to the company tax element in our production sharing agreement in Yemen. The 
taxes payable will be settled in kind. Reference is made to note 1 Accounting principles.
    
The tax losses carry forward of noK 302 million as of year end is significantly influenced by historical hedging losses related to oil price contracts in the parent company.  
The unused tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely after norwegian tax rules. The subsidiary dno UK Ltd has a tax loss carry forward of approximately £ 21 million where 
the main part of this can be carried forward indefinitely.

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. 

There are no tax consequences attached to items recorded in other comprehensive income.

The deferred tax asset of noK 50.1 million at year-end 2011 relates to unused cost oil position in Block 47 in Yemen.
    
DNO has applied for credit method for deduction in norwegian taxes (kreditfradrag) for the result of operations in the Kurdistan region of Iraq similar to the operations in Yemen. 
    
To date, DNO has not received the final confirmation from the authorities on this matter. When the application for credit deduction is finally approved, the recorded revenues 
will be grossed up with a corresponding income tax expense (corporate tax) and a deferred tax liability of approximately noK 527 million (USd 88 million). due to the delay in 
the final approval for the credit method in Kurdistan, dno is currently exposed to a double tax position being taxable both in Kurdistan and in norway. Group contribution is 
considered to be the most appropriate method to avoid such double taxation, and is therefore being applied for 2011.   
 
dno is subject to several tax audits, see note 18.     
   

Years ended 31 december
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taxes

OvErviEW   

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks from its use of financial instruments, including oil price risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.    
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.   
 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risks,  and the 
Group’s management of capital.   
 Risk management is carried out by a central treasury function (Group Treasury) under policies approved by the Board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and 
hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies cover-
ing specific areas.    
The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk man-
agement framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.
    
OiL PriCE riSK    

Oil price fluctuations may have considerable impact on the Group’s earnings. dno may from time to time enter into crude oil derivative contracts to reduce the volatility of the 
Group’s cash flows associated with anticipated sales of oil. dno’s main oil price hedging policy is to use hedging instruments (preferrably put options) to meet strategic goals 
and to support execution of annual business plans, by focusing on securing defined cash flow levels through use of such instruments.   
DNO had a put option for 2010 with a strike price of USd 40. The put option matured at 31 december 2010 and had no value at maturity.   

LiQuiDiTY riSK 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances, marketable securities, credit facilities and other financial resources to maintain financial 
 flexibility under dynamic market conditions.
 The free cash position in dno increased during 2011 to noK 1.6 billion at year-end, mainly due to positive cash flow from operations of noK 879 million and proceeds from 
divestment of shares of noK 550 million. The Group has sufficient financing and free cash to fund planned future investments.
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows. See note 16 for details on current interest terms.

NOK mill   
At 31 December 2011 Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months  1 to 5 years   Over 5 years  Total 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  265,0 1 377,4  1 642,4 
other liabilities   1 597,6  1 597,6 
Taxes payable 23,6    23,6 
Trade and other payables 85,8    85,8 
     3 351,2 
      
NOK mill      
At 31 December 2010 Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months  1 to 5 years   Over 5 years  Total 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  257,5 1 555,5  1 813,0 
other liabilities   777,5  777,5
Taxes payable 13,9    13,9 
Trade and other payables 552,2    552,2 
     3 156,6 
  
      
CurrENCY riSK 

 DNO’s corporate commercial revenues are received in USd. The corporate operational costs are in USd, noK and EUR. The currency risk of the USd costs is neutralised by the USd income.  
 Corporate currency risk is related to the share of non-USd cash flow. The Group’s financing costs are both in noK and USd, as external loans are partly in noK and partly in USd.  
The Group has USd-denominated bond loans in order to match the USd exposure. Trading in currency instruments is for hedging purposes only, to hedge underlying risk 
exposure linked to the Group’s commercial activities.    
 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the USd exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before 
tax and equity.
   
    Effect on profit  
   Decrease/increase before tax Effect on equity
   in uSD rate   (NOK mill)  (NOK mill)  
31 december 2011   -/+ 10%  -/+ 14.3   +/- 0.0  
31 december 2010   -/+ 10%  -/+ 34.6   +/- 0.0  
    
That is; a reduction in USd rate (weakening vs noK) gives a negative effect on the profit.

Financial risk management 
objectives and policies

Note 9
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Financial risk management objectives and policies continuedNote 9

iNTErEST rATE riSK    

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term debt. debt issued at variable rates exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
 Interest rate fixing is considered for large investments that have significant impact on the size of net liabilities. Factors such as the expected duration of the investment, its pro-
jected cash flow and dno’s ability to withstand interest rate fluctuations following the new investment will determine whether the interest rate should be fixed in such cases. 
Lenders may also require interest rate hedging. At 31 december 2011, dno has no interest rate hedging instruments.
At 31 December 2011, dno has two bond loans that mature in 2012, with fixed interest rates of 7.215% and 6.445%. All other bond loans are on floating interest terms. The bond 
loans have been reclassified as short-term at 31 december 2011.  
  
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

  
 increase/decrease in basis points Effect on profit before tax (NOK mill) Effect on equity (NOK mill)  
2011 +/- 100  +/- 16.1   +/- 0.0
2010 +/- 100  +/- 18.8   +/- 0.0  

CrEDiT riSK    

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are only made to customers with an appropriate credit strength. The Group 
has one customer in Yemen (same customer since inception of production) and several customers in Kurdistan. In 2011 customers of local crude in Kurdistan prepaid the agreed 
crude oil volumes on a monthly basis. derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions. 
The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution. The Group has no historical losses on customers. Based on past history of export 
sale in Kurdistan, dno only recognize revenue when payment is received. See note 13 for details on trade receivables.      
Maximal credit risk per 31 december 2011 is noK 297.6 million.     
    
mArKET riSK iNvESTmENTS  

DNO is exposed to market risk on investments which are primarily classified as available-for-sale. Adjustments to fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income until 
the investment is sold.  In case of impairment of available-for-sale investments, previously fair value changes recorded in other comprehensive income are reversed and taken 
through profit or loss. The Group has no financial investments at year-end 2011. The Group’s financial investments have all been within the oil and gas sector.  
 
ENTiTLEmENT riSK

Under the PSCs granted by the KRG, oil contractors such as the dno Group are entitled to a share of the proceeds from oil production in the Kurdistan Region. The KRG’s Min-
istry of natural Resources advises dno and other international oil companies on export volumes. All sales to local Kurdistan markets are also undertaken in consultation with 
the KRG’s Ministry of natural Resources and are subject to overall guidance on volumes and prices. 
As there are unresolved issues between the KRG and the Federal Government of Iraq regarding the Company’s PSC’s, there are uncertainties whether dno will receive full pay-
ment for its entitlement in accordance with the PSCs for the hydrocarbons produced from the Kurdistan Region.    
 
CAPiTAL mANAGEmENT  

The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.   
 
DNO monitors capital on the basis of its book equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as book equity divided by total assets. It is the Group’s policy that this ratio should be 30% or 
higher. As of 31 december 2011, the book equity ratio was 42.8% (2010: 39.1%). 
     
 

NOK mill  2011 2010
Total equity  2 157,7 2 109,1
Total assets  5 036,5 5 392,7
Book equity ratio  42,8 % 39,1 %

Years ended 31 december
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fiNANCiAL iNSTrumENTS BY CATEGOrY

Set out below is a comparison by category for carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements. The 
following estimated fair values have been determined by the Group, using appropriate market information or accepted valuation methodologies. The carrying amount of bank 
deposits and current interest-bearing liabilities is a reasonable estimate for their fair values. dno’s bond loans are listed on the oslo Stock Exchange. The fair values of the bond 
loans are based on market quotations for these loans.    

  31 december 2011   31 december 2010 
NOK mill Notes  Carrying amount   fair value    Carrying amount   fair value 
      
financial assets
Bank deposits 14 1 644,8 1 644,8  1 384,7 1 384,7
derivative financial instruments (current)   -     -      -     -   
derivative financial instruments (non-current)   -     -      -     -   
other financial assets at fair value through P&L 14  -     -     2,6 2,6
Available-for-sale investments 12  -     -     360,0 360,0
other financial assets (current) 13 297,6 297,6  290,3 290,3
  1 942,3 1 942,3  2 037,6 2 037,6
 
financial liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 16  265,0   263,7    257,5   158,8 
derivative financial instruments   -     -      -     -   
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current) 16  1 377,4   1 298,6   1 555,5 1 153,7
  1 642,4  1 562,3   1 813,0 1 312,5
      

Set out below are carrying values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities sorted by category according to IAS 39.
 
  Assets at fair held to Loans Available
  value through maturity and for sale
2011 - NOK mill Notes profit or loss investments receivables investments Total
      
financial assets
Bank deposits 14  -     -    1 644,8  -    1 644,8
derivative financial instruments (current)   -     -     -     -     -   
derivative financial instruments (non-current)   -     -       -   
other financial assets at fair value through P&L 14  -     -     -     -     -   
Available-for-sale investments 12  -     -     -     -     -   
Trade and other receivables 13  -     -    297,6  -    297,6
   -     -    1 942,3  -    1 942,3

   Liabilities at fair  Liabilities Non-
   value through measured at financial
2011 - NOK mill Notes  profit or loss amortised cost liabilities Total
      
financial liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 16   -     265,0   -     265,0 
derivative financial instruments    -      -     -   
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current) 16   -    1 377,4  -     1 377,4 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (current) 17   -     -    869,5  869,5 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (non-current) 17   -     -    173,6  173,6 
Trade and other payables 19   -     -    85,8  85,8 
    -    1 642,4 1 128,9 2 771,3
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  Assets at fair held to Loans Available
  value through maturity and for sale
2010 - NOK mill Notes profit or loss investments receivables investments Total

financial assets
Bank deposits 14  -     -    1 384,7  -    1 384,7
derivative financial instruments (current)   -     -     -     -     -   
derivative financial instruments (non-current)   -     -     -     -     -   
other financial assets at fair value through P&L 14 2,6  -     -     -    2,6
Available-for-sale investments 12  -     -     -    360,0 360
Trade and other receivables 13  -     -    290,3  -    290,3
  2,6  -    1 675,0 360,0 2 037,6

   Liabilities at fair  Liabilities Non-
   value through measured at financial
2010 - NOK mill Notes  profit or loss amortised cost liabilities Total
      
financial liabilities 
Current interest-bearing liabilities 16   -     257,5   -     257,5
derivative financial instruments    -     -     -     -
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current) 16   -    1 555,5  -    1 555,5
Provision for other liabilities and charges (current) 17   -     -    435,8 435,8
Provision for other liabilities and charges (non-current) 17   -     -    403,2 403,2
Trade and other payables 19   -     -    552,2 552,2
    -    1 813,0 1 391,2 3 204,2

fAir vALuE hiErArChY   

As at 31 december 2011, the Group held no financial instruments measured at fair value:
    
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities    
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly   
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data  
 

   31 December 2011 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3  
Assets measured at fair value   NOK million NOK million NOK million NOK million
    
Available for sale investments    -     -     -     -   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    -     -     -     -   
  

   31 December 2010 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3  
Assets measured at fair value   NOK million NOK million NOK million NOK million
    
Available for sale investments    360,0   360,0   -     -   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    2,6   2,6   -     -   

Financial risk management objectives and policies continuedNote 9
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depreciation is charged to cost of goods sold in the statement of comprehensive income.     
     
PrOPErTY, PLANT AND EQuiPmENT     
    
2011 - NOK mill Development assets Asset in operation Total oil & gas properties Other PP&E  Total 
At 1 January 2011   
Cost  55,5   4 296,4   4 351,9   20,1   4 372,0 
Accumulated impairment  -   -193,7   -193,7   -   -193,7 
Accumulated depreciation  -   -1 949,5   -1 949,5   -16,0   -1 965,5 
Net book amount  55,5   2 153,2   2 208,7   4,1   2 212,8 

Period ended 31 December 2011  
opening net book amount  55,5   2 153,2   2 208,7   4,1   2 212,8 
Exchange differences  4,4   -8,6   -4,2   0,1   -4,1 
Additions  72,4   153,1   225,5   4,3   229,8 
Transfers  416,0   -18,0   398,0   -   398,0 
disposals  -   -   -   -   - 
Impairment  -28,7   -   -28,7   -   -28,7 
Reversal of impairment  -   18,6   18,6   -   18,6 
depreciation charge  -   -564,3   -564,3   -2,9   -567,3 
Closing net book amount  519,5   1 734,1   2 253,6   5,5   2 259,2 

At 31 December 2011
Cost  548,2   4 423,0   4 971,2   24,5   4 995,7 
Accumulated impairment  -28,7   -175,1   -203,8   -   -203,8 
Accumulated depreciation  -   -2 513,8   -2 513,8   -18,9   -2 532,7 
Net book amount  519,5   1 734,1   2 253,6   5,5   2 259,2 

depreciation method  UoP   UoP   3-5 years linear

iNTANGiBLE ASSET

2011 - NOK mill   License interest Exploration assets  Total 
    
At 1 January 2011
Cost    543,3   440,0   983,3 
Accumulated impairment    -4,2   -   -4,2 
Accumulated depreciation    -48,4   -   -48,4 
Net book amount    490,7   440,0   930,7 
    
Period ended 31 December 2011    
opening net book amount    490,7   440,0   930,7 
Exchange differences    11,7   23,7   35,4 
Additions    -   191,9   191,9 
Transfers    -34,5   -364,6   -399,1 
disposals    -   -   - 
Impairment    -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment   - - -
depreciation charge    -67,4   -   -67,4 
Closing net book amount    400,5   291,0   691,5 
    
At 31 December 2011    
Cost    520,5   291,0   811,5 
Accumulated impairment    -4,2   -   -4,2 
Accumulated depreciation    -115,9   -   -115,9 
Net book amount    400,5   291,0   691,5

depreciation method    UoP   UoP 

There is no pledge over the oil and gas assets.      
   

Property, plant and  
equipment / intangible assets

Note 10
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Property, plant and equipment / intangible assets continuedNote 10

PrOPErTY, PLANT AND EQuiPmENT 

2010 - NOK mill Development assets Asset in operation Total oil & gas properties Other PP&E  Total 
     
At 1 January 2010
Cost 54,6   4 197,3   4 251,9   18,7   4 270,6 
Accumulated impairment  -   -193,7   -193,7   -   -193,7 
Accumulated depreciation  -   -1 661,3   -1 661,3   -13,2   -1 674,5 
Net book amount  54,6   2 342,4   2 397,0   5,4   2 402,4 

Period ended 31 December 2010
opening net book amount  54,6   2 342,4   2 397,0   5,4   2 402,4 
Exchange differences  0,8   44,1   44,8   0,1   44,9 
Additions  0,2   55,0   55,2   1,4   56,6 
disposals  -   -   -   -0,0   -0,0 
Impairment  -   -   -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment  -   -   -   -   - 
depreciation charge  -   -288,2   -288,2   -2,8   -291,0 
Closing net book amount  55,5   2 153,2   2 208,7   4,1   2 212,8 
 
At 31 December 2010  
Cost  55,5   4 296,4   4 351,9   20,1   4 372,0 
Accumulated impairment  -   -193,7   -193,7   -   -193,7 
Accumulated depreciation  -   -1 949,5   -1 949,5   -16,0   -1 965,5 
Net book amount  55,5   2 153,2   2 208,7   4,1   2 212,8 

depreciation method  UoP   UoP   3-5 years linear

intangible assets
2010 - NOK mill   License interest Exploration assets  Total 

At 1 January 2010
Cost    535,6   342,0   877,6 
Accumulated impairment    -4,2   -   -4,2 
Accumulated depreciation    -22,4   -   -22,4 
Net book amount  509,0   342,0   851,0 

Period ended 31 December 2010
opening net book amount    509,0   342,0   851,0 
Exchange differences    7,7   3,0   10,7 
Additions    -   95,0   95,0 
disposals    -   -   - 
Impairment    -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment      -   -   - 
depreciation charge    -26,0   -   -26,0 
Closing net book amount  490,7   440,0   930,7 
 
At 31 December 2010
Cost    543,3   440,0   983,3 
Accumulated impairment    -4,2   -   -4,2 
Accumulated depreciation    -48,4   -   -48,4 
Net book amount  490,7   440,0   930,7

depreciation method   UoP   UoP

UoP = Unit of Production
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imPAirmENT TESTiNG 

DNO has performed impairment tests for its oil and gas assets at year-end 2011, according to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. IAS 36.9 requires that an entity shall assess at 
each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If such indications exist, the recoverable amount of the asset shall be estimated. Booked 
values of the oil and gas assets have been compared to expected cash flows from the assets (values in use) calculated as the net present value (before tax) of the assets. dno 
has  defined field level as the lowest level where separate cash flows can be identified. Field level is thereby the aggregation level for depreciation purposes, and also when 
assessing  impairment. net present value per field is calculated by discounting the future cash flows and comparing them to the booked value. The following assumptions have 
been used in calculating net present value; cash flow based on best estimate production profiles (P50 estimates), the oil price is based on the forward curve for BREnT as of 31 
december 2011, as published by the Intercontinental Exchange (ICE ), adjusted for any discounts in oil quality applicable to each field. As the monthly price goes forward only 
to december 2016, a method of linear prediction (extrapolation) beyond this date has been used. The pre-tax discount rate used is based on dno’s WACC (Weighted Average 
Cost of Capital) where 15.7% (2010: 19%) has been used for the assets in Yemen and 20.9% (2010: 26,7%) has been used for the Kurdistan assets. When calculating the WACC, 
a country specific risk premium has been added for Yemen and Iraq, based on the report “International Cost of Capital” from Morningstar. The estimated P50 reserves is calcu-
lated using management’s best estimate of production entitlement according to the PSCs.

Based on the above assumptions, no impairment is necessary for the producing blocks in Yemen or Kurdistan, or any of the other blocks. A sensitivity analysis shows that a 
decrease in oil price of 10% would result in an impairment charge of noK 22 million for the producing assets. If expectations with regard to timing of cash flows are not met, 
this could also result in an impairment charge.

 An assessment of the value of dno’s license interest in Equatorial Guinea (segment AFR) has resulted in an impairment charge of noK 28.7 million for 2011. The impairment 
was recorded based on the agreed sales value according to the agreement with Crown Energy. dno has in 2011 reversed noK 18.6 million of the previous impairment charge 
on Block 43 in Yemen. The reversal resulted from a positive change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the impairment loss was initially 
recognised.

CAPiTALiSED iNTErEST

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment in the development phase are capitalised. In 2011, noK 19.2 million has been 
 capitalized related to the development projects in Erbil PSC in Kurdistan and Block 47 in Yemen. The capitalization rate for 2011 was an average of 8.34%. In 2010 no borrowing 
costs were eligible for capitalization. 

LiCENSE ExPirY  

In accordance with the production sharing agreements, the production facilities and the operating equipment will be transferred to the authorities when the fields are no 
longer commercial. The producing licenses in Yemen expire in the period 2015 to 2025 . Block 53 expires in 2015, Block 32 expires in 2020 and Block 43 expires in 2025, all with 
the option to apply for 5 years extension. The Tawke license in Kurdistan expires in 2031 (included 5 years extension). 
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Business  
combinations

Note 11

In July 2011, DNO International ASA signed an agreement with RAK Petroleum PCL, dno’s largest shareholder, to merge RAK Petroleum’s operating subsidiaries in the Middle 
East and north Africa (MEnA) region, into a subsidiary of dno. As consideration for the merger, RAK Petroleum would receive shares in dno International ASA. The transaction 
value was based on a net asset value of both companies undertaken by an independent third party. A range for value in assets and the dno share was agreed, where the value 
of the RAK Petroleum assets would be between USd 250 and 300 million and the share price of dno would be between noK 8.25 and noK 10.  
The merger between dno and RAK Petroleum MEnA operating subsidiaries was approved by dno’s shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting on 1 november. The 
transaction was completed and registered at the norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret, Brønnøysund) on 10 January 2012. The accounting completion 
date was also set to 10 January 2012.    
RAK Petroleum’s MEnA subsidiaries consisted of six companies; Rak Petroleum oman Ltd (with the subsidiaries Rak Petroleum oman Block 8 and Rak Petroleum oman Block 
30), Rak Petroleum Tunisia Ltd, Rak Petroleum Al Khaleej Ltd and Rak Petroleum Technical Services Ltd. All the companies have been renamed after the merger, using dno 
instead of Rak Petroleum in the company names. The companies hold licenses in oman, UAE and Tunisia. 100% of the shares in the different companies has been acquired by a 
newly established subsidiary of dno, dno MEnA AS. 
In accordance with the resolution approved by the EGM,  the share capital in dno International ASA was increased by noK 18,355,585.75 by issuing 73,422,343 new shares as 
a partial consideration for the merger. An additional 80,000,000 treasury shares were transferred from dno to RAK Petroleum as further consideration. The total consideration 
shares were 153 422 343. In January 2012, dno also paid USd 31.9 million to RAK Petroleum PCL as a working capital adjustment according to the merger agreement.
A preliminary purchase price allocation (PPA) was presented in the prospectus equivalent document that was issued after the merger was announced. dno has updated 
this preliminary PPA based on the actual dno share price on the acquisition date. This resulted in a fair value purchase consideration of noK 1,202 million (USd 199 million). 
However, for accounting purposes, the PPA presented below is still  not completed. The preliminary identified excess value in the transaction is mainly related to the producing 
assets in oman. no goodwill has at this point been identified in the transaction other than technical goodwill as a result of a deferred tax liability on excess values. The transac-
tion contributed with a total of noK 72 million (USd 12 million) in cash from the acquired companies.    
   
Fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired (Preliminary purchase price allocation):

 Total rAK mENA fair value fair value of 
NOK mill operating subsidiaries adjustments assets and liabilities

ASSETS   
Goodwill - 244,0 244,0
other intangibles assets 477,8 8,3 486,1
Property, plant & equipment 542,9 443,7 986,6
Total non-current assets 1 020,7 696,0 1 716,7
   
Inventories 188,9 - 188,9
other current assets 88,1 - 88,1
Total current assets 277,0 - 277,0
   
LiABiLiTiES   
deferred tax -298,6 -244,0 -542,6
other non-current liabilities -8,8 - -8,8
Total non-current liabilities -307,4 -244,0 -551,4
   
Total current liabilities -239,5 - -239,5

If the acquisition had occured on 1 January 2011, the combined entity would have had the following revenues and profit:  
   
NOK mill  revenues  Net Profit 

dno International ASA  2 070,2 653,2
RAK Petroleum PCL MEnA subsidiaries  546,7 442,7

Combined entity  2 616,9 1 095,9
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Available-for-sale  
financial assets

trade and  
other receivables

Note 13

Available-for-sale financial assets are revalued at fair value (market price, where available) at the end of each period. Changes in fair value are included in other comprehensive income 
and is presented as valuation reserve under equity. Impairment will be charged to profit or loss, while reversal of impairment will be taken through other comprehensive income. All 
shares have been sold during 2011. 
  
NOK mill  2011 2010
   
Beginning of the period   360,0   478,4 
Additions *   13,8   7,3 
Sales / Reclassifications **   -287,1   -17,9 
Revaluation surplus/deficit transfer to other comprehensive income   -86,4   96,8 
Reclassification of fair value changes from other comprehensive income (impairment)   -0,3   -204,6 
End of the period1)   -     360,0 
non-current portion   -     360,0 
Current portion   -     -   
   
* Additions in 2011 and 2010 related to purchase of shares in Rocksource ASA.   
** Sales in 2011 relate to sale of remaining shares in Rocksource ASA, Petrolia ASA and det norske oljeselskap ASA. Sales in 2010 relate to sale of shares in Rocksource ASA. 

The previous fair value changes included in other comprehensive income have been reversed through profit or loss as impairment charges. Impairment charge of noK 0.3 
million in 2011 was related to the shares in Petrolia ASA. Impairment charges of noK 204.6 million for 2010 were related to the shares in Petrolia ASA, Rocksource ASA and det 
norske oljeselskap ASA. The previous fair value changes included in other comprehensive income have been reversed through profit or loss as impairment charges. All shares 
have been sold during 2011.

1) Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:   
 
NOK mill  2011 2010
    
Listed securities:
 - Petrolia ASA   -   2,4 
 - Rocksource ASA   -   7,8 
 - Det norske oljeselskap ASA   -   349,8 

Total available-for-sale financial assets   -   360,0 

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december 
NOK mill  2011 2010
    
Trade receivables   154,5   84,3 
Less: provisions for impairment of receivables   -     -   
Trade receivables - net   154,5   84,3 
Prepayments   10,3   7,4 
Underlift, entitlement method   40,4   83,0 
VAT receivable    7,8   3,6 
other short-term receivables *   84,6   112,1 
Total trade and other receivables   297,6   290,3 

* Included in other short-term receivables is working capital related to the participation in oil and gas licenses. 

  Neither past   Past due but not impaired 
NOK mill TOTAL  due nor impaired 
   <30 days 30-60 days  60-90 days   >120 days 
2011 154,5 - 154,5 - - -
2010 84,3 - 84,3 - - -

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 0-30 days terms.

Note 12
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NOK mill   2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted    7,7   7,2 
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted    1 637,1   1 377,5
   
Total cash and cash equivalents    1 644,8   1 384,7 
   
Restricted cash relates to employees’ tax deduction.    
 
CASh hELD iN CurrENCY

   
NOK mill Amount in Currency Amount in NOK Amount in Currency Amount in NOK
    
noK  471,6   471,6   988,6   988,6 
EUR  0,1   0,7   0,2   1,4 
USd  193,5   1 159,7   70,1   410,9 
GBP  1,4   12,8   -1,8   -16,2 
    
Total cash and cash equivalents   1 644,8    1 384,7 

ShArES hELD-fOr-TrADiNG 

Through a demerger from Rocksource ASA in May 2006, dno acquired shares in nordic Mining ASA. The value of the shares at the time of the demerger was noK 7.3 million.
The shares were sold in 2011 with a total loss of noK 2.8 million, whereof noK 2.5 million has previously been recognized through profit or loss.   
   
 
NOK mill   2011 2010
    
nordic Mining ASA    -     2,6 
    
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    -     2,6

Cash, cash equivalents and other 
short-term financial assets

equityNote 15

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

31 december 201031 december 2011

ShArE CAPiTAL
   
   Number of  Ordinary Treasury 
2010 - NOK mill   shares (1000) shares shares Total
   
At 1 January 2010    904 856   226,2   -12,5   213,7 
Treasury shares purchased / sold    -   -   12,5   12,5 
Share issues    45 000   11,3   -   11,3 
     
At 31 December 2010    949 856   237,5   -   237,5 
   
   Number of  Ordinary Treasury 
2011 - NOK mill   shares (1000) shares shares Total

At 1 January 2011    949 856   237,5   -   237,5 
Treasury shares purchased / sold    -   -   -20,0   -20,0 
Share issues    -   -   -   - 
     
At 31 December 2011    949 856   237,5   -   217,5 

Note 14
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The total number of ordinary Shares at 31 december 2011 is 949,856,912 with a par value of noK 0.25 per share. All issued shares are fully paid. 
All shares have equal voting and dividend rights. 

The authorisation to the board to increase the company’s share capital was not renewed at the annual general meeting in June 2011.

 45,000,000 new shares were issued in a private placement in november 2010, covered by the above mentioned authorization. The subscription price was noK 8 per share.   
The transaction costs related to the equity offering amount to noK 11.4 million.

 The company’s board of directors has been authorised by the annual general meeting to acquire treasury shares within the framework of the Public Limited Companies act.  

 The authorisation may be used to acquire up to 80,000,000 treasury shares within a price range of noK 1 to noK 200 per share. The authorisation is valid for a period of 
18 months from the date of the general meeting (9 June 2011). At 31 december 2011, the company held 80,000,000 treasury shares, acquired for the purpose of using as 
 consideration shares in the merger with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating subsidiaries. See note 11 for further information about the merger.  
 
Purchases and sales of treasury shares are made when the board of directors regard the transaction to be favourable for the shareholders.

In January 2012, dno completed a share issue in accordance with the resolution approved by the EGM. The share capital was increased by noK 18,355,585.75 by issuing  
73,422,343 new shares as a partial consideration for the merger. Following the capital increase, the share capital in dno International ASA is noK 255,819,813.75 comprised of  
1,023,279,255 shares of noK 0.25 each. See note 23 for further information about the capital increase.    

OThEr rESErvES  
      
 Share Other  Available-for- Other  
NOK million premium paid-in capital sale investm. reserves Translation Total
Balance at 1 January 2010  32,5   339,2   -   -133,2   -157,8   80,6 
Available-For-Sale fair value, net of tax  -   -   96,8   -   -   96,8
Treasury shares:      
 - Sale of treasury shares  -   8,2   -   346,4   -   354,6 
 - Purchase of treasury shares  -   -   -   -   -   - 
other paid in capital  337,3   -   -   -   -   337,3 
derivative contracts treasury shares  -   -   -   -   -   - 
Share premium fund transfer  -   -   -   -   -   - 
Currency translation differences:
 - Group  -   -   -   -   0,8   0,8 

Balance at 31 December 2010  369,8   347,4   96,8   213,2   -157,0   870,1 
      
Balance at 1 January 2011  369,8   347,4   96,8   213,2   -157,0   870,1 

Available-For-Sale fair value, net of tax  -   -   -86,4   -   -   -86,4 
Reclassification within equity  -   -   -10,4   -   -   -10,4 
Treasury shares:      
 - Sale of treasury shares  -   -   -   -   -   - 
 - Purchase of treasury shares  -   -   -   -537,9   -   -537,9
Issue of share capital  -   -   -   -   -  - 
Currency translation differences: 
 - Group  -   -   -   -   39,7   39,7 
      
Balance at 31 December 2011  369,8   347,4   -0,0   -324,7   -117,3   275,1
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equity continuedNote 15

rETAiNED EArNiNGS   
  
NOK million  
  
Balance at 1 January 2010    1 284,4 
  
Loss for the period    -282,9 
dividend    - 
Reclassified from other reserves    - 
  
Balance at 31 December 2010    1 001,6 
  
Balance at 1 January 2011    1 001,6 
  
Profit for the period    653,2 
dividend    - 
Reclassified from other reserves    10,4 
  
Balance at 31 December 2011    1 665,2

The Company’s shareholders at 31 December 2011  Shares  % interest
RAK Petroleum Public Company Limited   284 957 075 32,76 %
Increased oil Recovery AS   25 500 001 2,93 %
JPMorgan Chase Bank   24 266 009 2,79 %
Clearstream Banking S.A.   20 784 615 2,39 %
J.P. Morgan Bank LUXEMBoURG S.A   17 005 700 1,95 %
nordnet Bank AB   13 736 211 1,58 %
PSL Client Safe Custody Asset   11 956 827 1,37 %
Monks Investment Trust PLC   11 162 000 1,28 %
Petrolia Invest AS   11 102 890 1,28 %
Avanza Bank AB   10 296 054 1,18 %
State Street Bank and Trust Co.   8 081 660 0,93 %
danske Bank A/S   6 782 054 0,78 %
nordea Bank denmark AS   6 624 725 0,76 %
Verdipapirfondet dnB norge   4 761 499 0,55 %
Bank of new York Mellon   4 422 643 0,51 %
SHB Stockholm Clients Account   4 213 660 0,48 %
KLP Aksje norge Indeks VPF   4 150 673 0,48 %
Citibank nA London Branch   4 000 020 0,46 %
VPF nordea Kapital   3 231 822 0,37 %
other shareholders   392 820 774  45,16 %
Total number of shares excluding treasury shares   869 856 912  100,0 %
Treasury shares at 31 december 2011   80 000 000  
Total number of shares including treasury shares   949 856 912  

no ordinary or extraordinary dividend has been distributed in 2011. no dividend has been proposed for 2011. 
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NOK mill  2011 2010
   
Non-current
Bonds   1 377,4   1 555,5 
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities   1 377,4   1 555,5 
   
Current
Current portion of bonds   265,0   257,5 
   
Total current interest-bearing liabilities   265,0   257,5 
   
Total interest-bearing liabilities   1 642,4   1 813,0 

dno completed a new bond issue of approximately USd 240 million in April 2011 split between an USd tranche of USd 140 million and a noK tranche of noK 560 million. The 
new bond issue has a five year tenor and carries a floating interest rate of LIBoR/nIBoR + 7.50%. The purpose of the loan was refinancing and general corporate purposes. 
dno agreed in connection with the bond issue to purchase the aggregate of USd 170.3 million and noK 307.5 million of its various outstanding bond issues. The new bond 
issue has been listed on the oslo Stock Exchange.
In August 2011, dno bought back the outstanding bonds ISIn no0010478027 (dno12) of USd 0.3 million.
The bond loans with maturity in 2012 have been classified as current liabilities at 31 december 2011.
There are two covenants related to the two new bond loans (dno14 and dno13) which require that dno should have a minimum equity ratio of 25% up to the fourth quarter 
of 2012, and a minimum equity ratio of 30% onwards and to maturity date. There is one covenant related to the other bond loans (dno05, dno06, dno07 and dno11), which 
requires that net interest-bearing debt should not exceed three times the booked equity. At 31 december 2011, dno satisfies all loan agreement requirements.
There are no commitments related to further drawdown on the bond loans.   
 
The maturity of interest-bearing liabilities is as follows: 

NOK mill  2011 2010
0 - 12 months   265,0   257,5 
Between 1 and 2 years   -     1 555,5 
Between 2 and 5 years   1 377,4   -   
over 5 years   -     -   

Total interest-bearing liabilities   1 642,4   1 813,0 
    
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:   
 
NOK mill  2011 2010
noK   704,4   506,6 
USd   937,9   1 306,3 

Total interest-bearing liabilities   1 642,4   1 813,0 

 
 Ticker     Effective 2011    
NOK mill OSE Currency Amount interest maturity interest rate 2011 2010 2011 2010

Bond loan (ISIn no0010606197) dno14 noK  560,0  nIBoR + 7.5% 11.04.16 10,40 %  534,1   -     560,0   -   
Bond loan (ISIn no0010606189) dno13 USd  140,0  LIBoR + 7.5% 11.04.16 7,95 %  764,5   -     839,0   -   
Bond loan (ISIn no0010270523) dno05 USd  17,3  LIBoR + 3.5% 06.06.12 4,10 %  103,7     418,2   103,7     497,8 
Bond loan (ISIn no0010283732) dno07 noK  48,0  Fixed 7.215% 12.10.12 7,09 % 47,8     156,2   47,8     177,0 
Bond loan (ISIn no0010283724) dno06 noK  105,5  nIBoR + 3.5% 12.10.12 6,23 %  104,2     248,5   105,5     284,0 
Bond loan (ISIn no0010478027) dno12 USd  0,3  LIBoR + 4.0% 12.10.12 4,80 %  -     244,8   -     244,8 
Bond loan (ISIn no0010478019) dno11 USd  1,3  Fixed 6.445% 12.10.12 7,04 %  8,0     322,0   7,8     365,4 

Borrowing issue costs          -21,6   -13,5 
Total interest-bearing bonds        1 562,3   1 389,6   1 642,4   1 555,5

Interest-bearing  
liabilities

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Fair value Carrying amount

Note 16
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NOK mill  2011 2010
   
Non-current   
Asset retirement obligations *   17,1   14,9 
other long-term obligations **   156,5   388,3 
   
Total non-current provisions for other liabilities and charges   173,6   403,2 
   
Current   
other provisions and charges **   869,5   435,8 
   
Total current provisions for other liabilities and charges   869,5   435,8 
   
Total provisions for other liabilities and charges   1 043,1   839,0 

* Asset retirement obligations (ARos) are related to future well closure, decommissioning and removal expenditures for oil installations in Kurdistan. The obligations are imposed 
and defined by national and international legal requirements. no significant removal costs are expected in connection with the on shore activity in Yemen. In accordance with 
the production sharing agreements, the production facilities and the operating equipment will be transferred to the authorities when the fields are no longer commercial. 
 
** Included in other long-term obligations is provision for Water Purification Project (WPP) in Kurdistan. The WPP is capitalized and depreciated over field life. The WPP liability 
will not be payable until export revenues have been received by dno. The monthly installments are contingent on defined gross revenue levels and will be fully recovered 
through cost oil. The WPP liability is recorded at net present value, where the unwinding of interest is charged to profit or loss. Most of the WPP liability of noK 789 million is 
classified as  short-term and included in other provisions and charges at year-end 2011.  There is uncertainty related to when the monthly installments will be payable, and first 
payment is in dno’s calculations estimated to be paid during 2012. Changes in the timing of the payments may change the net present value of the liability and the calculated 
interest. Instead of the WPP, dno may on similar terms alternatively support a different capacity building project, as determined by the KRG.

  Asset Other Other   
NOK mill  retirem. oblig.  non-current current Total
     
Balance at 1 January 2010   14,9   670,9    57,3   743,2 
     
Charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive income:     
 - Additional provisions   3,1   92,0   8,6   103,7 
 - Unused amounts reversed or reclassified   -3,1   -374,6    369,8   -7,9 
   
Balance at 31 December 2010   14,9   388,3   435,8   839,0 
     
Charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive income:     
 - Additional provisions   2,7   77,9   73,9   154,4 
 - Unused amounts reversed or reclassified   -0,5   -309,7   359,8   49,7 

Balance at 31 December 2011   17,1   156,5     869,5   1 043,1

Provisions for other 
liabilities and charges

Years ended 31 december

Note 17
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a) Lease obligations
 dno rents the premises at Stranden 1, Aker Brygge. The annual rent is noK 5.2 million and the agreement expires 30 June 2014.   
dno has also rented office premises in Bergen. Annual rent was noK 2.4 million. The rent agreement was terminated in 2011.  
A new rental agreement was signed in January 2012 for the refurbished premises at Stranden 1. The annual rent is noK 10.2 million for an expanded office space.  
The agreement is for 10 years, starting in 2014 when the new premises are available for dno.   
 
b) Legal disputes
As of 31 december 2011, dno is involved in the following legal cases and disputes. 
   
In December 2011, Petrolia Invest AS and Erik J. Frydenbø filed a request for an injunction with oslo byfogdembete (oslo Enforcement, bankruptcy and probate court) seeking 
to prohibit the completion of the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MEnA operating subsidiaries. on 6 January 2012, the court dismissed the request for injunction and in addi-
tion awarded dno noK 1 million in compensation to cover its legal costs. on 27 January 2012, Petrolia Invest AS and Erik J. Frydenbø filed a writ of summons with oslo tingrett 
(oslo district Court) in which they asked that the resolution by the extraordinary general meeting on 1 november 2011 to approve the merger with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA 
operating subsidiaries and increase of share capital in dno be declared invalid and alternatively that dno pay damages of maximum USd 1 million to Petrolia Invest and USd 
40,000 to Erik J. Frydenbø. dno considers the claims as groundless. The company has been subject to three investigation claims. The court has already dismissed two of the 
claims. The company also consideres the last claim to be unfounded.

In December, dno received a claim from IoR Ltd for a success fee related to the completed merger with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating subsidiaries. IoR claims it is entitled 
to a fee of 2% of the agreed value of the RAK Petroleum’s assets merged into dno, which equals a claim of USd 5 million. The former chairman in dno, Berge G. Larsen, is an 
indirect shareholder in IoR dno disputes the validity of IoR’s claim due to the lack of a valid agreement with IoR, and due to Berge G. Larsen being in a conflict of interest.

On 9 March 2011, Økokrim charged dno, Helge Eide and Berge Gerdt Larsen for violation of the prohibition of market manipulation under the Securities Trading Act asserting 
that dno withheld information and omitted to appropriately inform the market and the oslo Stock Exchange in connection with dno’s sale of treasury shares in october 2008, 
and that dno, including Helge Eide, knew the identity of the buyer of the treasury shares at the time the transaction took place. In addition, Helge Eide has been charged for 
breach of disclosure obligations towards oslo Stock Exchange under the Stock Exchange Act.  dno’s position is that no laws or regulations has been violated in connection 
with the sale of the treasury shares, and further that the current charges by Økokrim are based on the same factual circumstances relating to the october 2008 sale of treasury 
shares that have already been considered by the oslo Stock Exchange’s Appeals Committee, and which dno partially has been acquitted of and partially has agreed to pay a 
fine for. As at the date of this report, Økokrim has not decided whether it will indict any of the Company, Helge Eide or Berge Gerdt Larsen with these charges.   
 
dno does not consider these legal actions as representing any economical risk to the Company and therefore no provisions have been recorded in the financial statements for 2011.

c) Contractual obligations / license commitments (NOK million)   2012
drilling and exploration    250,0
Field development   1 000,0
Total contractual obligations/license commitments related to future investments   1 250,0

d) Guarantees at 31 December 2011
Parent company guarantees have been issued to the Kurdistan Regional Government and the Ministry of oil and Minerals Yemen for PSA/PSC obligations.   
The parent company guarantees that it shall make available to the subsidiaries dno Iraq AS and dno Yemen AS, the financial and technical resources necessary for them to 
fulfill their obligations according to the PSAs/PSCs.    

e) Liability for damages/insurance
The Group’s operations involve risk for damages, including pollution. Installations and operations are covered by an operations insurance policy.   
 
f) Other
Tax audits   
The parent company is subject to certain tax audits by the norwegian IRS.  The company expects no material effects from the audits.

Commitments and 
contingencies

Note 18
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NOK mill  2011 2010
   
Trade creditors   10,5   6,6 
Public duties payable   8,8   6,9 
Prepayment from customers   0,4   42,7 
other accrued expenses   66,1   496,0 
Total trade and other payables   85,8   552,2 
   
Prepayment from customers in 2010 was related to local sales contracts at the Tawke field in Kurdistan.   
   
other accrued expenses for 2010 included provision related to the arbitration proceedings of approximately noK 330 million.    
The arbitration was settled outside of the arbitration process in 2011.   
   
other accrued expenses also include working capital related to participation in oil and gas licenses.    
   
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:   
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms.   
other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of one to two months.   
   

NOK mill  2011 2010
   
net profit/ -loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent   653,2   -282,9 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares)    934,6   899,5 
   
Effect of dilution:   
options   -     -   
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) adjusted for the effect of dilution   934,6   899,5 
   
Earnings per share, basic   0,70  -0,31
Earnings per share, diluted   0,70  -0,31
   
   
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period, 
excluding ordinary shares purchased and held as treasury shares.
   
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

trade and  
other payables

earnings  
per share

Note 19

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december

Note 20



  dno 2011 Accounts // 99

 Business  Ownership and voting  Company’s  
 NOK mill address interest (in %) equity 
   
dno Yemen AS oslo  100,0   1 603,9 
dno UK Ltd London  100,0   -21,8 
dno Invest AS oslo  100,0   54,8 
dno Tunisia AS oslo  100,0   -179,4 
dno Iraq AS oslo  100,0   -944,2
dno Mena AS oslo  100,0  0,1 

The following table provides details of the Group’s related party transactions in 2011. See also note 5 on remuneration.   
   
related party (NOK mill) Transaction 2011 2010
   
Increased oil Recovery AS  Project consulting/business development agreement (Terminated in 2011)  1,8   4,2 
Kver AS Bergen representative office - rent/administration agreement (Terminated in 2011)  2,5   2,8 
Petrolia ASA drilling and well advisory services (Terminated in 2011)  3,0  0,6   
other Coverage of legal costs  3,3   1,3
   10,6   8,9 

Description of transactions with related parties:

increased Oil recovery AS (iOr AS) - former related party  
dno has had a project consulting/business development agreement with IoR AS, where the former chairman of the Board, Berge G. Larsen holds an ownership interest.  
The agreement was terminated after Berge G. Larsen left the dno board in June. The fees covering the period 2006-2011 have been paid to an escrow account until certain tax 
issues have been resolved. 
   
Kver AS - former closely related party  
dno has had an administrative agreement with Kver AS, a company controlled by Berge G. Larsen. The agreement was terminated after Berge G. Larsen left the dno board in June.
   
Petrolia ASA - former related party
dno had a consulting agreement with Petrolia ASA for drilling and well advisory services. Berge G. Larsen is the chairman of Petrolia ASA and holds an ownership interest in 
Petrolia ASA. The agreement was terminated after Berge G. Larsen left the dno board in June. 

Other 
dno has in connection with legal cases and court proceedings involving i.a. dno, companies associated with certain dno key employees, consultants and directors and their 
related parties covered third parties’ legal costs awaiting the final outcome of such cases and proceedings. All such cost coverage has been terminated by dno. dno has 
claimed reimbursement and will continue to seek reimbursement of all third party legal costs covered by dno.
   
In addition to the above mentioned transactions, there are also transactions between group companies.    
overhead expenses in the parent company dno International ASA, are allocated to the subsidiaries based on how much they have used the services provided by the parent company.

rAK Petroleum PCL    
The merger with the largest shareholder, RAK Petroleum PCL’s operating MEnA subsidiaries, was approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting in  november 2011.  
For further information related to the merger, see note 11 Business combinations.    

Group  
companies   

Related party  
disclosure

Note 21

 Years ended 31 december  

Note 22
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Significant transactions/events in 2011 
restart of export from the Tawke field in Kurdistan
The export of crude oil from the Tawke field restarted on 2 February, with deliveries both to the Tawke refinery and to the local market. The export initially started at a rate of 
10,000 bopd, and quickly reached 50,000 bopd. The Tawke facilities operated by dno have tested more than 70,000 bopd. The exported oil is being recorded and reported to 
the KRG in compliance with agreed procedures.

New composition of the Board of Directors
At the general annual meeting in June, a new board was elected. Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani was elected as the new Chairman of the Board, while the former chairman, Berge 
Gerdt Larsen, left the Board. Karen Sund was also elected as a new board member. Gunnar Hirsti was elected as deputy chairman.

Partial payments for export     
In June, dno received USd 103.7 million (noK 564.4 million) as partial payment for the oil export from the Tawke field in the period 2 February to 27 March 2011.    
The received amount was recognized as revenue in June as the criterias for revenue recognition were considered to be fulfilled in accordance with IAS 18 for that specific payment.
 dno received a second partial payment of USd 60 million (noK 352 million) in September related to the Tawke export production. As dno did not have sufficient information 
to conclude that the revenue recognition criterias were met for the second payment, this amount was initially recorded as a prepayment. Based on new information and an 
updated evaluation, the revenue recognition criteria were considered fulfilled and the USd 60 million (noK 352 million) was recorded as revenue in december. Going forward, 
the revenue recognition will be based on cash received.

New bond issue and buy-back of bonds
In April, dno completed a new unsecured bond issue. The bond issue was split between a USd tranche of USd 140 million and a noK tranche of noK 560 million, for a 
 combined amount equivalent to approximately USd 240 million. The new bond issue has a five year tenor and carries a floating interest rate of LIBoR/nIBoR + 7.50 percent.   
The purpose of the bond issue was to refinance the Company’s existing bond debt and for general corporate purposes. The new bonds have been listed on the oslo Stock 
Exchange. In connection with the bond issue, dno agreed to purchase the aggregate of USd 170.3 million and noK 307.5 million of its various outstanding bond issues. 
 
Bastora discovery    
Test production at Bastora-1A in the Erbil license in Kurdistan has continued with the produced oil delivered to the local market. A development plan for the Bastora and 
Benenan discoveries was submitted in december and was approved in the first quarter of 2012.

revised reserves and resources estimates at the Tawke field
In July, dno reported a more than doubling of reserves for the Tawke oil field in the Kurdistan region of Iraq following a review and assessment by a firm of independent 
reservoir engineers. The reserves assessment as at 31 december 2011 has been carried out by third party experts deGolyer and Macnaughton. The estimated ultimate gross 
recoverable reserves are now 615 million barrels (versus 306 million barrels last year).

merger with rAK Petroleum’s mENA operating subsidiaries
The merger with RAK Petroleum’s MEnA operating subsidiaries was approved by the EGM in november. The merger was completed in January 2012.   
See note 11 for further information on the merger.

New license in Tunisia
dno signed a two year prospecting permit in Tunisia in october, for the onshore Fkirine license. dno also opened a branch office in Tunis.

Events after the balance sheet date
halt in export production from the Tawke field   
on 1 April 2012, the Ministry of natural Resources of the Kurdistan Regional Government (KRG) instructed dno to halt delivery of that portion of crude oil produced from the 
Tawke oil field that was destined for the Iraqi national pipeline system for eventual export through Turkey. All other Tawke crude oil and refined product deliveries and field 
operations remains unaffected. 

Completion of the DNO-rAK mENA merger and Capital increase
The transaction was completed and  registered at the norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret, Brønnøysund) on 10 January 2012. In accordance with 
the resolution approved by the EGM, the board decided to increase the share capital by noK 18,355,585.75 by issuing 73,422,343 new shares as a partial consideration for the 
merger.  An additional 80,000,000 treasury shares were transferred from dno to RAK Petroleum as further consideration for the merger. Following the capital increase, the 
share  capital in dno International ASA is noK 255,819,813.75 comprised of 1,023,279,255 shares of noK 0.25 each.

Following the completion of the merger, RAK Petroleum PCL holds 438,379,418 ordinary shares in dno, representing 42.8 percent of the shares.

   
 

Significant transactions in 
2011 and events after the 
balance sheet date

Note 23
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million boe                                                             NOrThErN EurOPE                    YEmEN                             KurDiSTAN                           AfriCA                                         DNO GrOuP
 reserves resources reserves resources reserves resources reserves resources reserves resources Total
1 January 2010  -     10,0   9,9   6,1   139,5   5,8   -     1,5   149,4   23,3   172,8 
discoveries, additions and extensions  -     -     1,6   -1,6   -      -     -     1,6   -1,6   -   
Acquisition of reserves / resources  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
divestment of reserves/ resources  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Revision of previous estimates  -     -6,8   1,8   -2,4   47,8   4,3   -     -     49,7   -4,8   44,8 
other  -     -     -     -      -     -     -     -     -     -   
Year 2010 production  -     -     -2,5   -     -3,9   -     -     -     -6,3   -     -6,3 
31 December 2010  -     3,3   10,8   2,1   183,4   10,1   -     1,5   194,2   17,0   211,2 
discoveries, additions and extensions - - - 0,1 7,9 1,1 - -  7,9     1,2     9,1  
Acquisition of reserves / resources - - - - - - - -  -     -     -   
divestment of reserves/ resources - -3,3 - - - - - -  -     -3,3     -3,3   
Revision of previous estimates - - 0,5 -1,4 183,8 8,0 - -  184,4     6,6     191,0   
other - - - - - - - -  -     -     -   
Year 2011 production - - -1,8 - -12,8 - - -  -14,6     -     -14,6   
Total reserves and resources
31 December 2011  -    -   9,5   0,9   362,3   19,2   -     1,5  371,9   21,6   393,5 

1) Reserves according to Annual Statement of Reserves released 30 April 2012, classification as in norwegian Petroleum directorate (nPd) class 1-3. Resources corresponds to 
class 4, 5 and 7 in nPd definitions. The figures represent best estimate (P50 base case). The reserves assessment as at 31 december 2011 has been carried out by third party 
experts deGolyer and Macnaughton.

As discussed above in the accounting principles, estimation of oil and gas reserves and resources involves uncertainty. The figures above represent management’s opinion of the most 
likely quantity of economically recoverable oil and gas estimated at year end 2011, given the information at 31 december 2011. The estimates have a large spread especially in fields where 
we have limited data. The uncertainty will be reduced as more information becomes available through production history and reservoir information. In addition, for fields in the decline 
phase with limited remaining volumes, fluctuations in oil prices will have a significant impact on the profitability and hence the economic cut-off time for production from the fields.

In Yemen, the volumes in Bayoot have been somewhat reduced compared to last year, but the other fields have only minor changes. 

At the Tawke PSC in Kurdistan region of Iraq, the reserves have been significantly increased in 2011. The estimated ultimate gross recoverable reserves are now 615 million 
barrels (versus 306 million barrels last year). Included in the figures are 25 million barrels related to the period after the license expiry. These volumes have been classfied as 
contingent resources, however, necessary wells will be drilled to produce these volumes within the license period. dno’s working interest share has been calculated in accord-
ance with the PSC. The increase in reserves in the Tawke field from 2010 to 2011 is based on a new reservoir model incorporating updated geological- and reservoir technical 
information and evaluations as well as more recent production data. The combined effects of this new and extensive work have resulted in an increase in the estimated recovery 
factor for the Tawke field (ref. Annual Statement of Reserves). 

Bastora in the Erbil PSC in Kurdistan region of Iraq has been included as a discovery in 2011, and the volumes in this structure together with the Benenan structure have been 
included as reserves. A field development plan was submitted to the KRG in december 2011. 

The discoveries in Summail in the dohuk PSC in Kurdistan region of Iraq and Gabdain in Block 72 in Yemen have been reported as discoveries under resources. 
The Mulle field in the UK has been relinquished during 2011 and is reported as a divestment. 

The ICE forward curve for Brent Blend at 31 december 2011, adjusted for quality differences, has been used as basis for calculation of the economical remaining reserves.

Working interest share in Yemen and Kurdistan region of Iraq includes dno’s share of cost oil resulting from carried interests. 

The production figures includes diesel used as fuel.

The following table reflects DNO’s estimates of net entitlement (after royalty) proven and probable reserves.*

million boe                                                               NOrThErN EurOPE  YEmEN  KurDiSTAN AfriCA  DNO GrOuP
  reserves reserves reserves reserves reserves
31 december 2010      -     7,0   56,7     -   63,7  
31 December 2011    -     5,9  96,3   -   102,1 

Net entitlement reserves in Yemen and Kurdistan region of Iraq are based on economic evaluations of the Production Sharing Contracts and include a volume related to the notional tax 
paid on behalf of the contractors by the Government.

*Reserves according to nPd class 1-3 only. 

Working interest proven and 
probable reserves and resources* 
after royalty (unaudited)

Note 24
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Income statements

NOK mill Note 2011 2010
 
OPErATiNG rEvENuES   
other operating revenues 2  23 301   132 415 
Total operating revenues  23 301 132 415
   
OPErATiNG ExPENSES   
Exploration expenses 4 -218 -5 347
ordinary depreciation 7 1 033 795
Impairment 7 33 073  -   
Payroll and payroll-related expenses 3 77 833 67 903
other operating expenses 4 57 199 25 394
Total operating expenses  168 920 88 745
   
OPErATiNG PrOfiT /- LOSS  -145 619 43 670
   
net other financial items 5 -69 385 -103 448
   
PrOfiT /- LOSS BEfOrE TAxES  -215 004 -59 778
   
Income taxes 6  -     -   
ANNuAL PrOfiT /- LOSS  -215 004 -59 778
   
Transferred from/to other equity  - 215 004 -59 778
Total allocations  -215 004 -59 778
   
Earnings per share, basic 18 -0,23 -0,06
Earnings per share, diluted 18 -0,23 -0,06

Years ended 31 december
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Balance sheets 

ASSETS    
NOK 1000 Note 2011 2010
fixED ASSETS   
TANGiBLE ASSETS   
oil and gas properties   31 894   60 092 
other tangible assets   2 172   2 596 
Total tangible assets 7  34 066   62 688 
   
fiNANCiAL ASSETS   
Shares in subsidiaries 8  1 784 046   1 050 124 
Intercompany receivables 19  1 381 355   2 074 124 
other investments 8  -     349 782 
Total financial assets   3 165 401   3 474 029 
   
Total fixed assets   3 199 466   3 536 718 
   
CurrENT ASSETS   
Trade and other receivables 9  15 523   13 267 
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 10  7 656   7 204 
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted 10  1 520 687   1 321 170 
Total current assets   1 543 866   1 341 641 
   
TOTAL ASSETS   4 743 333   4 878 358 

Years ended 31 december
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oslo, 30 April 2012

 Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani  Gunnar Hirsti  Shelley Watson
 Chairman of the Board  Deputy Chairman  Board Member

 Marit Instanes  Karen Sund  Helge Eide
  Board Member  Board Member  Managing Director

ShArEhOLDErS’ EQuiTY AND LiABiLiTiES  
NOK 1000 Note 2011 2010

ShArEhOLDErS’ EQuiTY    
Paid-in capital   
Share capital   237 464   237 464 
Treasury shares  -20 000  -   
Share premium account   251 634   369 756 
other paid-in capital  -  419 802 
Total paid-in capital 11  469 098   1 027 022 
retained earnings   
Retained earnings   977 271   1 192 275 
Total retained earnings 11  977 271   1 192 275 
   
Total shareholders’ equity   1 446 370   2 219 297 
LiABiLiTiES   
Provisions for liabilities and charges   
other liabilities and charges   3 702   7 643 
Total provision for liabilities and charges   3 702   7 643 
   
OThEr LONG-TErm LiABiLiTiES   
Long-term interest bearing intercompany debt 19  1 553 423   771 344 
Bond loans 13  1 377 400   1 555 485 
Total other long-term liabilities   2 930 823   2 326 829 
   
CurrENT LiABiLiTiES   
Interest-bearing short-term debt 13  264 964   257 488 
non-interest bearing short-term debt 14  97 474   67 101 
Total current liabilities   362 438   324 589 
   
Total liabilities   3 296 963   2 659 061 
   
TOTAL ShArEhOLDErS’ EQuiTY AND LiABiLiTiES   4 743 333   4 878 358 
   
Collateral 13  
Guarantees 12  
Financial instruments 15  

Years ended 31 december
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Cash flow statements

NOK 1000 Note 2011 2010

OPErATiNG ACTiviTiES   
Profit/-loss before tax  -215 004 -59 778
Taxes paid 6  -     -   
depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 7 34 106 795
Impairment of financial assets 5  -    88 090
Gain-/loss on sale of operating assets and securities  8 -171 636 -45
Changes in net current assets and other accruals  285 348 -66 030
Net cash flow from operating activities  -67 186 -36 968
   
iNvESTiNG ACTiviTiES   
Payments made for investments in oil and gas properties 7 -5 483 -1 039
Payments received on disposal of shares 8 521 418  -   
net cash flow from other investments and sales  504 594 365 185
Net cash flow from investing activities  1 020 529 364 146
         
fiNANCiNG ACTiviTiES   
new interest-bearing debt 13 1 309 110  -   
Repayment of interest-bearing debt 13 -1 527 397 -1 361
Purchase of treasury shares and options 11 -557 924  -   
Sale of treasury shares and options 11  -    367 133
Proceeds from issuance of shares 11  -     348 551 
Net cash flow -used in/from financing activities  -776 210 714 322
   
Effects of change in currency (cash and cash equivalents)  22 837 20 238
   
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January  1 328 374 266 636
net change in cash and cash equivalents  199 969 1 061 738
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 10 1 528 343 1 328 374
   
Hereof restricted cash and cash equivalents  7 656 7 204

Years ended 31 december
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Note 1 Accounting  
principles

General
The financial statements of dno International ASA company accounts 
are presented in accordance with the norwegian Accounting Act and 
norwegian generally accepted accounting principles. The accompanying 
notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

use of estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance 
sheet dates and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the 
reported periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Currency
The financial statements are presented in norwegian Kroner (noK), 
which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. Cash 
items denominated in foreign currencies are converted using exchange 
rates on the balance sheet date. Realised and unrealised currency gains 
and losses are included in the annual profit (loss). Foreign currency trans-
actions are recorded using exchange rates on the date of transaction.

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the dno Group have been pre-
pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and have been presented separate from the parent company accounts.

investments in subsidiaries and associated companies
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are recorded at 
historical cost. 

If the market value of the investment is lower than the carrying value, 
an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis of the invest-
ment is established.

valuation and classification of balance sheet items
Current assets and short-term liabilities include items due less than one 
year from draw-down and items related to the operating cycle. other 
assets/liabilities are classified as fixed assets/long-term liabilities. Shares 
and investments not intended for permanent ownership are classified as 
current assets. 

Shares, bonds, certificates, etc.
Shares, bonds, certificates, etc. classified as current assets are valued at 
the lower of their historical cost and market value. other shares classified 
as fixed assets are valued at their cost price and impaired in the case 
of permanent and significant decline in value. Money market funds are 
valued at fair value.

Cash and cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments 
with insignificant interest rate risk and with original maturities of three 
months or less.

Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated  

 
depreciation and impairment charges. Capital lease assets are recorded 
at the present value of future lease obligations or fair value if lower. 

Capitalised costs for oil and gas properties are depreciated using the 
unit-of-production method. The rate of depreciation is equal to the ratio of 
oil and gas production for the period to proved and probable developed 
reserves. In addition to capitalised cost, estimated future investments 
that has been considered in the calculation of the company’s reserves are 
added to the basis for depreciation. For capitalized acquisition costs the 
rate is equal to the ratio of oil and gas production for the period to proved 
and probable reserves.

The Company records impairment provisions when the book value of 
oil and gas properties or other assets where separate cash flows can be 
identified, exceeds discounted future expected cash flows. The impair-
ment amount is the difference between the book value and the fair value 
of the asset. Capitalised costs relating to production are depreciated 
under the unit-of-production method. 

Liabilities relating to the acquisition of license interests for which the 
company has entered into long-term bank financing agreements, are 
classified as long-term liabilities.

Amortization of capital lease assets is included in “depreciation, 
depletion and amortization”.

Machinery and equipment is depreciated using straight-line method 
based on estimated useful life. Estimated useful life varies between 3-5 
years for these assets. 

Exploration and development costs for oil and gas properties 
The Company employs the “Successful Efforts” method to account for 
exploration and development costs. All exploration costs, with the excep-
tion of acquisition costs of licenses and drilling costs of exploration wells, 
are charged to expense as incurred. drilling costs of exploration wells 
are temporarily capitalized pending the evaluation of potential existence 
of oil and gas reserves. If reserves are not found, or if discoveries are 
assessed not to be technically and commercially recoverable, the drilling 
costs of exploration wells are expensed. Costs of acquiring licenses are 
capitalized and presented as tangible assets, and periodically assessed 
for impairment. All costs of developing commercial oil and/or gas fields 
are capitalized. Pre-production costs are expensed as incurred.

interest expenses and own expenses relating to development projects
Interest expenses and own expenses relating to development projects 
are capitalised and depreciated under the unit-of-production method. 
Expenses related to financing are capitalised and amortised over the 
loan period.

Leases
Leases that substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to dno (financial leasing) are recognised as assets in PP&E at the pres-
ent value of the minimum lease payments, or if lower, at fair value. The 
assets are amortised according to plan. The instalment part of the lease 
obligation is classified as interest-bearing debt in the balance sheet. The 
obligation is reduced by paid rent after deduction of estimated interest 
expense. The interest expense is recorded as a financial expense. opera-
tional leases are expensed as incurred.
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Deferred taxes
deferred taxes are computed according to the liability method. Based on 
the tax rates and tax provisions applicable on the balance sheet date, de-
ferred taxes are computed on temporary differences between the carrying 
amount of the company’s assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the carrying amount of the Company’s assets and liabilities for tax 
purposes. deferred tax benefits and deferred tax liabilities in the same 
tax regime are netted in the balance sheet. Capitalisation of deferred tax 
benefit presupposes that future application can be rendered probable.

Pension obligations
The Company records pension schemes according to the norwegian 
accounting standard for pension costs. The Company has contribution 
plans for its employees. For contribution plans, only the contributions 
paid  during the period are expensed. 

revenue recognition 
Revenues from services are recorded when the service has been performed.

maintenance and repairs 
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Significant costs 
considered to increase the production capacity or to extend the useful 
economic life of the facilities are capitalized.  

Options to the directors of the board and management
The Group has a synthetic share option programme for its employees. 
The share options are settled in cash and are recorded at fair value by 
use of the Black & Scholes method. The share options are expensed over 
the  vesting period.

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowances for doubtful accounts are made for foreseeable losses on 
trade receivables.

Contingent gains/losses
According to norwegian accounting standards relating to contingent 
items, provisions are made for contingent losses that are probable and 
quantifiable, while contingent gains are not taken to income.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is based on the indirect method. Cash equiva-
lents include bank deposits and liquid funds maturing in less than three 
months. 

Comparable figures
Comparable figures for previous years have been  prepared to reflect 
changes in accounting principles and presentation (classification).

NOK 1 000  2011 2010
other operating revenues    23 301   3 146 
Gain from sale of license interests    -     129 269 
Total other operating revenues  23 301 132 415

other operating revenues relates to sale of hours to subsidiaries.  
  
Gain in 2010 relates to intercompany sale of the Inhaminga Block in Mozambique  from dno International ASA to the subsidiary dno Mozambique AS (renamed to dno Tunisia AS). 
 

other operating  
revenues

Note 2

Years ended 31 december



110 // Accounts dno 2011

with note disclosures
Parent company accounts

(noK 1 000)   
Payroll expenses  2011 2010
Salaries, bonuses, options etc.   67 384   57 282 
Employer’s payroll tax expense incl. payroll tax on options    8 497   8 165 
Pensions   2 372   2 258 
other personnel costs   6 449   6 242 
Reclassification of payroll and payroll-related expenses to Exploration and Production     -6 869 -6 043
Payroll and payroll-related expenses   77 833   67 903 
Average number of man-labour years  38 34

Payroll expenses relating to participation in non-operated licenses are classified as exploration and production costs in the profit or loss statement.   
   
Pensions   
dno has a defined contribution scheme for employees in the company. The pension costs in the 2011 accounts are related only to premiums for the employees of the Company. 
dno meets the norwegian requirements for mandatory occupational pension (“obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”).

DirECTOr, ExECuTivE AND KEY mANAGEmENT rEmuNErATiON   
   
remuneration paid to the Directors of the Board  2011 2010
Berge G. Larsen, Former Executive Chairman1)   307 000   283 000 
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman   -     -   
Karen Sund, Board Member   -     -   
Shelley Watson, Board Member   152 750   -   
Trygve Bruvik, former Vice Chairman   129 250   288 000 
Marit Instanes, Board Member   306 000   318 000 
Gunnar Hirsti, deputy Chairman   289 500   288 000 
Elin Karfjell, former Board Member   140 250   318 000 
Total   1 324 750   1 495 000

 Included in the 2011 figures is noK 96,000 which has been paid as fees for work related to the audit committee and the remuneration committee to Gunnar Hirsti, Elin Karfjell, 
Marit Instanes and Shelley Watson.   

1) Consultant fees to Increased oil Recovery AS/Ltd for hire of the former Executive Chairman Berge G. Larsen’s management services were noK 1.75 million in 2011  
 (noK 4.2 million in 2010). no severance pay agreement has been entered into with the former Executive Chairman  Berge G. Larsen.  
 

remuneration to managing Director 
and key management in 2011 (NOK mill) Salary Bonus Pension Other Total

Helge Eide, Managing director   3,61   0,99   0,06   0,36   5,02 
Trond Myrseth, Group operations director *  1,49   -     0,02   0,11   1,61 
Tom Bratlie, director Corporate Communications  1,92   0,17   0,06   0,10   2,24 
Bjørn dale, General Counsel **  0,70   -     0,04   0,02   0,76 
Tore Lilloe-olsen, Corporate Head of Exploration  2,36   0,83   0,06   0,12   3,37 
Haakon Sandborg, Chief Financial officer   2,13   0,79   0,06   0,11   3,09 
Magne normann, Managing director dno Iraq AS  3,36   1,40   0,06   0,42   5,24 
Sven Erik Lie, Managing director dno Yemen AS   0,03   -     0,06   4,55   4,64 
Erik Syrdalen, Managing director dno Tunisia AS   1,65   0,22   0,06   0,05   1,98 

* From 1 May 2011  
** From 1 September 2011  
  
no loans have been granted and no guarantees have been issued for executives, shareholders or directors.

Remuneration, severance pay, 
salaries, options  
and pensions  

Note 3

Years ended 31 december
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ShArES AND OPTiONS hELD BY DirECTOrS, ExECuTivES AND KEY mANAGEmENT PErSONNEL AS AT 31 DECEmBEr 2011 
 
Directors of the Board and key management  Shares Options
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman *   -     -   
Gunnar Hirsti, deputy Chairman incl companies controlled by him   120 000   -   
Karen Sund, Board Member   -     -   
Marit Instanes, Board Member   18 288   -   
Shelley Watson, Board Member *   -     -   
Helge Eide, Managing director    1 515 000   -   
Trond Myrseth, Group operations director   -    
Tom Bratlie, director Corporate Communications   10 000  
Bjørn dale, General Counsel & Board Secretary   -    
Tore Lilloe-olsen, Group Exploration director   100 000   -   
Haakon Sandborg, Chief Financial officer   -     -   
Magne normann, Chief operating officer   1 771 996   -   
Sven Erik Lie, Managing director dno Yemen AS   -     -   
Erik Syrdalen, Managing director dno Tunisia AS   15 000   -   
Total   3 550 284   -  

* Shelley Watson and Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani were nominated by RAK Petroleum PCL, the largest shareholder which as of 31 december 2011  holds 32.76% of the shares in 
dno (adjusted for treasury shares, see note 15).
   
Except from synthetic options, no options were expensed in 2011.

AuDiTOrS’ fEES  
All figures are exclusive of vAT (NOK 1 000)  2011 2010
Auditors’ fee   1 400   1 350 
other financial auditing   1 712   138 
Total, auditing fees   3 112   1 488 
other assistance   8   38 
Tax assistance   1 678   776 
Total auditors’ fees   4 797   2 302

The management remuneration for 2011 was in accordance with the directions 
 approved by the General Meeting in June 2011. Annual bonus for 2011 varied between 
1 and 3 months salary. 
According to the article in the norwegian Act relating to public limited liability 
 companies § 6-16 a, cf § 5-6, third section, the general meeting shall consider the 
Board’s declaration regarding determination of salary and other remuneration to the 
general manager and senior employees for the coming financial year. The Board will 
propose the following declaration for the annual general meeting to consider: 
The Board of Directors of dno International ASA has since 2003 had a compensa-
tion comittee which consider questions related to the compensation to the managing 
director and key management. When determining the methods that shall be used 
for evaluating the remuneration and possible bonus, options- and other incentive 
arrangements, the committee shall ensure that the size of the remuneration reflects 
the duties and responsibilities of the employees, and that the arrangements also shall 
contribute to the long term value added for the companys’s shareholders. 

Fixed salary 
no upper or lower limit for the determination of fixed salary to key management has been 
set by the Board for the coming financial year, beyond the main principles set out above. 

Variable elements 
In addition to the fixed salary, the Company has the following arrangements in order to 
keep management priorities in accordance with goals and strategies, set by the Board;

Annual bonus 
Bonus arrangements have been in place for several years to ensure priority for im-
portant business objectives. The maximum annual bonus is set at to 3 months salary. 
Target figures are partly financial or operational, including HES. 

Share-based bonus scheme
The objective of the scheme is to ensure a continuous high focus on developing value 
for shareholders, in addition to strenghtening the incentive programme for manage-
ment and resource persons in the company. Payment under the scheme is calculated 
based on share price development in the bonus period, within specified share price 
intervals. no shares or ordinary options are granted under this bonus scheme. 

The threshold for the payments under this scheme will be set equal to the average 
daily closing price for dno International ASA in the second quarter of 2011.  
 
Share price increase up to 30% over the threshold level will be reflected in the value 
of the bonus scheme as of 30 June 2012. The share price increase will be determined 
based on average daily closing prices in the second quarter of 2012. The total limit for 
the share-based bonus scheme is noK 19 million.  
 
Estimated value recognized at 31 december 2011 is noK 3 million. All employees 
in the parent company are included in the scheme, including key management as 
described above. All other ordinary bonus payments will be deducted in a possible 
share based bonus payment.

Severance pay agreements 
The Managing director will be entitled to severance pay corresponding to 3 times his 
annual remuneration, depending on the circumstances.

Severance pay agreements (equal to one or two times annual salary) have also been 
entered into with the following key employees in dno International ASA: Magne nor-
mann, Tore Lilloe-olsen, Tom Bratlie, Haakon Sandborg, Trond Myrseth and Bjørn dale.

DECLArATiON rEGArDiNG DETErmiNATiON Of SALArY AND OThEr rEmuNErATiON TO ThE mANAGiNG DirECTOr AND OThEr SENiOr EmPLOYEES 

Years ended 31 december
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ExPLOrATiON ExPENSES  
NOK 1 000  2011 2010
Exploration expenses  -218 -5 347
  
Total exploration expenses  -218 -5 347
  
Exploration expenses were positive in 2011 and 2010 mainly due to reversal and repayment  of previous estimated costs for the block in Syria.  
  
  
OThEr OPErATiNG ExPENSES  
NOK 1 000  2011 2010
Lease expense - buildings and equipment   9 809   10 504 
other office costs   15 310   9 980 
Travel expenses   4 413   4 310 
Legal expenses   22 817   11 100 
Consultant fees    51 111   22 070 
other general and administrative costs   6 809   8 074 
Management fees to group companies  -53 070 -40 644
   
Total other operating expenses   57 199   25 394 
  
Legal fees and consultant fees are higher in 2011 mainly due to the merger process with RAK Petroleum PCL.  

NOK 1 000  2011 2010
Interest received   18 282   12 417 
Interest received from group companies   94 788   98 402 
Gain on foreign exchange   27 085   -   
other financial revenues   1 816   -   
net gain/-loss on sale of securities   171 636   45 
Total financial income   313 607   110 863 
  
Interest expense  -146 661 -108 290
Interest expense group companies   -     -   
Loss on foreign exchange   -    -17 408
Impairment/ Reversal of impairment financial assets  -236 331 -88 090
other financial expenses   -    -523
Total financial expenses  -382 992 -214 311
  
Net other financial items  -69 385 -103 448
  
net gain on sale of securities in 2011 relates to the sale of shares in det norske oljeselskap ASA.
  
In 2011, the receivable on dno Tunisia AS (former dno Mozambique AS) has been impaired by noK 177 million, the receivable on dno UK Ltd has been impaired by noK  
25 million and the shares by noK 16 million. The shares in dno Invest AS have been impaired by noK 18 million in 2011.  

exploration expenses/ 
other operating expenses 

Note 4

Net other  
financial items

Note 5

Years ended 31 december

Years ended 31 december
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NOK 1 000  2011 2010
  
Taxes payable   -     -   
Change in deferred taxes   -     -   
income taxes   -     -   
  
  
EffECTivE TAx rATES  
NOK 1 000  2011 2010
  
Profit/ -loss before taxes  -215 004 -59 778
  
Expected income tax according to nominal tax rate (28%)  -60 201 -16 738
Adjustment of deferred tax assets  17 385 -14 518
Impairment financial assets   -     24 665 
Tax-free gain/loss on sale of shares  -48 058 -13
Change in previous years  76 992 6 378
other items  13 881 225
  
Total income taxes   -  -   
Effective tax rate (including change in deferred taxes)  0 % 0 %
  
  
ThE TAx EffECT Of TEmPOrArY DiffErENCES AND LOSSES CArriED fOrWArD:  
NOK 1 000  2011 2010
other current items   -     -   
Property, plant & equipment  -9 550 -217
other fixed items (receivables, abandonment, etc.)  -117 058 -60 708
Losses carried forward  -273 422 -321 720
Total, basis for deferred taxes/(tax assets)  -400 030 -382 645
deferred tax asset allowance  400 030 382 645
Total deferred taxes/(tax assets)   -     -   
Capitalised deferred tax assets   -     -   
Capitalised deferred tax liabilities  - -
  
Tax rates effective at 31 december 2011 have been used to calculate deferred taxes. The tax rate is 28% for revenues in norway.   
  
The tax loss carry forward is noK 273 million (28% of noK 975 million) as of year end 2011. The carrying forward period for the unused losses in norway is indefinite. 
 
due to the delay in the final approval for the credit method in Kurdistan, dno is currently in a double tax position being taxable both in Kurdistan and in norway. Group contri-
bution is considered to be the most appropriate method to avoid such double taxation, and is therefore being applied for 2011.  

taxesNote 6

Years ended 31 december
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  License Exploration fields in  Other tangible Total
NOK 1 000  costs costs development assets PP&E
Cost 1 January 2011   17 139   47 716   -     7 965   72 821 
Additions 2011   -     -     4 875   608   5 483 
disposals 2011   -     -     -     -     -   
Transfers 2011  -17 139 -47 716  64 854   -     -   
Cost 31 December 2011   -     -     69 729   8 574   78 304 
Accum. depreciation 1 January 2011  -4 762  -     -    -5 369 -10 131
depreciation 2011   -     -     -    -1 033 -1 033
Impairments 2011   -     -    -33 073  -    -33 073
Accumulated depreciation disposals   -     -     -     -     -   
disposals and transfers 2011  4 762  -    -4 762  -     -   
Acc. depr. & impairments 31 December 2011   -     -    -37 835 -6 402 -44 237
Book value 31 December 2011   -     -     31 894   2 172   34 066 
Book value 31 December 2010   12 377   47 716   -     2 596   62 688 
   
 Exploration costs are capitalized pending the evaluation of potential existence of oil and gas reserves.    
The capitalized license interest and exploration costs related to Block P in Equatorial Guinea, where dno has a 5 percent license interest, were reclassified as development 
assets in 2011. An impairment of noK 33 million related to this asset has been recorded in 2011. An agreement with Crown Energy has been made for the sale of dno’s license 
interest.  other tangible assets are depreciated using a linear method based on estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Subsidiaries Company’s  Ownership and Company’s Company’s Company’s Book 
owned by business voting interest  share capital  equity in profit/-loss in value in 
DNO international ASA address  (in %) in  1 000 NOK 1 000 NOK 1 000 NOK 1 000
      
dno Yemen AS oslo 100 % noK 291 000   1 603 892  227 089  481 000
dno UK Ltd London 100 % GBP 0 -21 833 -19 310  - 
dno Iraq AS oslo 100 %  noK 600  944 180 331 324  1 252 416 
dno Tunisia AS (former dno Mozambique AS) oslo 100 %  noK 100  -179 356 -38 524  500 
dno Invest AS oslo 100 % noK 8 000  54 776  357  50 000 
dno Mena AS oslo 100 % noK 100 130 000  -  130
Total     2 401 789  500 936 1 784 046

Other investments      
dno’s investment in det norske oljeselskap ASA (dETnoR) was sold during 2011. Profit from the sale was noK 171.6 million.

In 2011, the shares in dno UK Ltd have been impaired by noK 16 million and the shares in dno Invest AS has been impaired by  noK 18 million.   
       
 

Note 8 Subsidiaries and  
other investments 

Property, plant  
and equipment

Note 7

trade and 
other receivables

Note 2Note 9

NOK 1 000  2011 2010
Trade receivables   439   563 
Prepayments and accrued income   7 031   7 818 
other current receivables   8 053   4 886 
Total other current receivables  15 523 13 267

Years ended 31 december
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  Treasury Treasury Share Other
 Share shares,  shares,  premium paid-in Other
NOK 1 000 capital number (1 000) amount account capital equity Total
       
Shareholders’ equity on 1 January 2011 237 464  -     -    369 756 419 802  1 192 275  2 219 297
Purchase of treasury shares including options  -     80 000  -20 000  -    -537 924  -    -557 924
Sale of treasury shares including options  -     -     -     -      -     -   
new equity  -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Transferred to share premium account  -     -     -     -118 122     118 122     -     -   
Profit/- loss for the year  -     -     -     -     -    -215 004 -215 004
Shareholders’ equity on 31 December 2011 237 464  80 000  -20 000 251 634 - 977 271 1 446 370
       
The total number of ordinary shares is 949,856,912 shares with a par value of noK 0.25 per share. All issued shares are fully paid.     
All shares have equal voting and dividend rights.       
       
For other information regarding the Company’s equity and shareholders, see note 15 in the consolidated accounts. 

NOK 1 000  2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted  1 520 687 1 321 170
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted  7 656 7 204
Total cash and cash equivalents  1 528 343 1 328 374
   
The cash is mainly in USd and noK.   
   
Restricted cash relates to employees’ tax deduction.

For information regarding guarantees and commitments, see note 18 in the consolidated accounts.  

See note 16 in the consolidated accounts for information on other interest-bearing liabilities as all are relevant to dno International ASA.   
 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Note 10

Shareholders 
equity

Guarantees 
and commitments

Interest-bearing 
liabilities 

Note 12

Note 11

Note 13

Years ended 31 december
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NOK 1 000  2011 2010
   
Accounts payable    10 413   6 619 
Public duties payable    3 843   2 971 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     83 217   57 511 
Total non-interest-bearing current liabilities   97 474   67 101 

 Included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities are general provisions for incurred costs.

In accordance with nGAAP, financial instruments meeting the hedging criteria are valued together with the hedged item (unrealised losses are not recognised). Instruments not 
meeting the hedging criteria, are valued in separate portfolios at the lower of their historical cost and market value (unrealised losses are recognised). Unrealised gains are not 
taken to income.  

See note 9 in the consolidated accounts for further information on financial instruments and risk management.  
  

overhead expenses in the parent company dno International ASA, are allocated to the subsidiaries based on how much they have used the services provided by the parent 
company.

The parent company has loan facilities with all subsidiaries. The loans are interest bearing at dno’s average interest rate on borrowings and a commission fee. 
 
See note 22 in the consolidated accounts for further description of transactions with related parties.

For information on contingencies and events after the balance sheet date, see note 18 and note 23 in the consolidated accounts.
 

Current  
liabilities

Note 14

Financial instruments  
and risk management 

Related parties 
disclosure 

Note 15

Note 16

Note 17 Contingencies and 
events after the balance sheet date

Years ended 31 december
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NOK 1 000  2011 2010
   
net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent   -215 004   -59 778 
 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares)    934,6   899,5 
 
Effect of dilution:
options   -     -   
 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares)    
adjusted for the effect of dilution   934,6   899,5 
   
Earnings per share, basic  -0,23 -0,06
Earnings per share, diluted  -0,23 -0,06

LONG-TErm iNTErCOmPANY rECEivABLES   
NOK 1 000 Currency 2011 2010
dno UK Ltd GBP  -   15 939 
dno Iraq AS USd  1 360 993   1 903 362 
dno Tunisia AS USd  5 000   143 456 
dno Invest AS noK  15 362   11 366 
Total long-term intercompany receivables   1 381 355   2 074 124 
   
LONG-TErm iNTErCOmPANY DEBT   
NOK 1 000 Currency 2011 2010
dno Yemen AS USd  1 553 423   1 150 839 
dno Yemen AS noK  -    -379 495
Total long-term intercompany debt   1 553 423   771 344 
   
Intercompany receivables and debt are interest bearing with an average interest rate of 5.47 percent charged for 2011 and 5.04 percent for 2010.
  
The long-term noK receivable on dno Yemen AS has been settled in 2011.   
   
The receivable on dno Tunisia AS (former dno Mozambique AS) was impaired by noK 177 million in 2011.   
The receivable on dno UK Ltd was impaired by noK 25 million in 2011.

earnings 
per share 

Note 18

Note 19 Intercompany 
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Glossary and definitions

2P/P50
Proven and probable reserves

Basement
The rock underlying the typical oil-bearing or 
oil-generating formations

Boe
Barrels of oil equivalents

Bopd
Barrels of oil per day

Cr
Corporate responsibility

DD&A
depletion, depreciation and amortisation

EBiTDA
operating profit/(loss) adjusted for depreciation 
and amortisation, impairments and abandon-
ment expenses

EBiTDAx
EBITdA minus exploration cost (including the cost 
of dry wells and impairment of oil and gas fields)

fDA cost
Finding, developing and acquisition cost

finding cost
The amount of money spent per unit (barrel of 
oil) to acquire reserves, Includes discoveries, 
acquisitions and revisions to previous reserve 
estimates.

KPi
Key performance indicator

mboe
Million barrels of oil equivalent

Netback
EBITdA adjusted for taxes paid

Possible
Reserves which at present cannot be regarded 
as probable, but which are estimated to have a 
significant but less than 50% chance of being 
technically and commercially producible

Probable
Reserves which are not yet proven, but which are 
estimated to have a better than 50% chance of 
being technically and commercially producible

Proved
Reserves which on the available evidence are vir-
tually certain to be tecnically and commercially 
producible, i.e. have a better than 90% chance of 
being produced.

result of operations (roO)
A measure of the efficiency of dno’s producing 
assets, Result of operations include revenues 
and expenses associated directly with dno’s 
crude oil and gas producing activities.

recycle ratio
netback from Roo per barrel divided by Finding, 
development and Acquisition Cost per barrel.

reserve replacement ratio (rrr)
Gross Reserve Growth divided by Production.

rOACE
Return on average capital employed, net profit/
(loss) adjusted for after tax interest expenses/
average capital employed.

Spudding
Initiation of drilling operations

TSr
Total shareholder return

unit-of-production depreciation (uoP)
Method of depreciation for capital costs, This 
method attempts to match the costs with the 
production those costs are associated with.

unrisked
Gross potential reserves (3P) before applying a 
risk factor

Production sharing agreement/ 
contract (PSA/PSC)
A contractual agreement between a contractor 
and a host government, whereby the contractor 
bears all exploration costs, risks, development 
and production costs in return for a stipulated 
share of the production resulting from this effort.
 

Contractor
An oil company operating in a country under a 
production sharing agreement on behalf of the 
host government for which it receives either a 
share of production or a fee.

Cost oil
The oil (or revenues) used to reimburse the 
contractor for exploration costs, development 
capital costs and operating costs.

Profit oil
Production remaining after royalty and cost 
oil, which is split by the government and the 
contractors according to the Production Sharing 
Agreement.

Government take
The sum of royalties and governmental share 
of profit oil, including that of a governmentally 
controlled enterprise.

royalty
A fraction of gross oil production, before any 
attribution to cost oil, payable to a governmental 
body.

income taxes payable under PSA
Income tax paid by the government on behalf 
of the oil company, The tax is paid out of the 
governments share of profit oil.

Working interest
The percentage interest ownership a company 
(or government) has in a joint venture, partner-
ship or consortium after deducting the royalty 
from gross revenues (production), This method 
has previously been referred to as the gross 
method.

Net entitlement
The percentage interest ownership after deduct-
ing royalty and the government share, Includes 
volumes related to the income tax paid by the 
government on behalf of the contractors.

Working interest reserves
Reserves based on working interest production.

Net entitlement reserves
Reserves based on net entitlement production.
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